World Journal of *Transplantation*

World J Transplant 2023 September 18; 13(5): 208-289





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJT

World Journal of Transplantation

Contents

Quarterly Volume 13 Number 5 September 18, 2023

EVIDENCE REVIEW

Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation for end-stage renal failure in type 1 diabetes mellitus: 208 Current perspectives

Nagendra L, Fernandez CJ, Pappachan JM

REVIEW

221 Evolution of human kidney allograft pathology diagnostics through 30 years of the Banff classification process

Mubarak M, Raza A, Rashid R, Shakeel S

MINIREVIEWS

- 239 Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor use in kidney transplant recipients Ramakrishnan P, Garg N, Pabich S, Mandelbrot DA, Swanson KJ
- 250 Renal allograft procurement from living unrelated donors in Iran: What falls under the eclipse Taheri S
- 254 Impact of tacrolimus intra-patient variability in adverse outcomes after organ transplantation Morais MC, Soares ME, Costa G, Guerra L, Vaz N, Codes L, Bittencourt PL

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Case Control Study

264 Invasive aspergillosis in liver transplant recipients, an infectious complication with low incidence but significant mortality

Farahani A, Ghiasvand F, Davoudi S, Ahmadinejad Z

Retrospective Cohort Study

276 Reasons and effects of the decline of willing related potential living kidney donors Gadelkareem RA, Abdelgawad AM, Mohammed N, Reda A, Azoz NM, Zarzour MA, Hammouda HM, Khalil M



Contents

Quarterly Volume 13 Number 5 September 18, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Peer Reviewer of World Journal of Transplantation, Abbas Ghazanfar, MBBS, MRCSEng, FCPS, FHEA, FEBS, FRCS, FACS, Consultant Transplant Surgeon, Clinical Lead, Department of Renal and Transplant Surgery, St Georges University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, London SW17 0QT, United Kingdom. a.ghazanfar@nhs.net

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Transplantation (WJT, World J Transplant) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of transplantation with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WIT mainly publishes articles reporting research results obtained in the field of transplantation and covering a wide range of topics including bone transplantation, brain tissue transplantation, corneal transplantation, descemet stripping endothelial keratoplasty, fetal tissue transplantation, heart transplantation, kidney transplantation, liver transplantation, lung transplantation, pancreas transplantation, skin transplantation, etc.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJT is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The WJT's CiteScore for 2022 is 2.8 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2022: Transplantation is 23/51.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Yan-Liang Zhang; Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ping Yan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Transplantation	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN 2220-3230 (online)	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
December 24, 2011	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Quarterly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Maurizio Salvadori, Sami Akbulut, Vassilios Papalois, Atul C Mehta	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wignet.com/2220-3230/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
September 18, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJT

World Journal of Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2023 September 18; 13(5): 208-220

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.208

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

EVIDENCE REVIEW

Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation for end-stage renal failure in type 1 diabetes mellitus: Current perspectives

Lakshmi Nagendra, Cornelius James Fernandez, Joseph M Pappachan

Specialty type: Endocrinology and metabolism

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Favi E, Italy; Gong N, China

Received: June 30, 2023 Peer-review started: June 30, 2023 First decision: July 28, 2023 Revised: August 1, 2023 Accepted: August 18, 2023 Article in press: August 18, 2023 Published online: September 18, 2023



Lakshmi Nagendra, Department of Endocrinology, JSS Medical College, JSS Academy of Higher Education and Research, Mysore 570015, India

Cornelius James Fernandez, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Pilgrim Hospital, United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust, Boston PE21 9QS, United Kingdom

Joseph M Pappachan, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Preston PR2 9HT, United Kingdom

Joseph M Pappachan, Faculty of Science, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester M15 6BH, United Kingdom

Joseph M Pappachan, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester M13 9PL, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: Joseph M Pappachan, MD, FRCP, Academic Editor, Professor, Senior Researcher, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Sharoe Green Lane, Preston PR2 9HT, United Kingdom. drpappachan@yahoo.co.in

Abstract

Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) is one of the important causes of chronic kidney disease (CKD) and end-stage renal failure (ESRF). Even with the best available treatment options, management of T1DM poses significant challenges for clinicians across the world, especially when associated with CKD and ESRF. Substantial increases in morbidity and mortality along with marked rise in treatment costs and marked reduction of quality of life are the usual consequences of onset of CKD and progression to ESRF in patients with T1DM. Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant (SPK) is an attractive and promising treatment option for patients with advanced CKD/ESRF and T1DM for potential cure of these diseases and possibly several complications. However, limited availability of the organs for transplantation, the need for long-term immunosuppression to prevent rejection, peri- and post-operative complications of SPK, lack of resources and the expertise for the procedure in many centers, and the cost implications related to the surgery and postoperative care of these patients are major issues faced by clinicians across the globe. This clinical update review compiles the latest evidence and current recommendations of SPK for patients with T1DM and advanced CKD/ESRF to enable clinicians to care for these diseases.



Key Words: Type 1 diabetes mellitus; Chronic kidney disease; End-stage renal failure; Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation; Perioperative complications; Immunosuppression

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant (SPKT) is a promising management option for patients with advanced chronic kidney disease or end-stage renal failure (CKD/ESRF) and type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) for probable cure of these diseases and possibly some of their complications. However, limited availability of these organs, need for long-term immunosuppression, the surgical complications, lack of availability of this procedure in most centers, and the cost implications related to SPKT are major challenges across the world. This clinical update review is to enable clinicians with the best evidence and current recommendations of SPKT for managing their patients with T1DM and advanced CKD/ESRF.

Citation: Nagendra L, Fernandez CJ, Pappachan JM. Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation for end-stage renal failure in type 1 diabetes mellitus: Current perspectives. World J Transplant 2023; 13(5): 208-220 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v13/i5/208.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.208

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus is one of the most common causes of chronic kidney disease (CKD) and end-stage renal failure (ESRF). Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), though less common when compared to type 2 diabetes, is associated with considerable morbidity and mortality secondary to microvascular and macrovascular complications including CKD. ESRF is a leading cause of death in patients with T1DM[1]. Although there has been considerable progress in the development of insulin delivery devices, newer insulin molecules, and glucose monitoring systems in recent years, there is still a significant negative impact on the quality of life in relation to disease management among T1DM patients[2]. Furthermore, these are not useful in reversing end-stage complications of diabetes such as ESRF. Despite extensive research, stem cell therapies in T1DM are still in the infantile stages[3]. Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant (SPK) is an attractive modality that fills this treatment gap in the management of T1DM and ESRF. Lack of wide availability, high cost, infections, and immunological problems following SPK have long been the challenges precluding the widespread use of SPK. However, advanced surgical techniques and newer immunosuppressive drug regimens in recent years have resulted in dramatic improvement in SPK outcomes. We describe the current perspectives on SPK for individuals with T1DM and ESRF, with the latest evidence on indications, perioperative care, immediate and long-term complications, and clinical outcomes through this comprehensive review.

HISTORY OF SIMULTANEOUS PANCREAS-KIDNEY TRANSPLANTATION

Kelly et al[4] from the University of Minnesota conducted the first pancreatic transplant in 1966 in combination with a kidney transplant to treat a 28-year-old uremic patient with T1DM. The patient was insulin-free for six days before needing exogenous insulin, which was brought on by the large dosages of steroids that were administered to avoid rejection. However, the patient developed graft pancreatitis, which was most likely caused by duct ligation and the transplantation procedure had to be reversed. Unfortunately, 13 days after the excision of the rejected pancreas and kidney transplant, the patient passed away from a pulmonary embolism[2]. Surgical difficulties, wound infections, and graft rejection were all prevalent issues with pancreatic transplantation in this initial example, which persisted for the next 20 years. Despite difficulties, the Minnesota team demonstrated the technical feasibility of SPK[4].

The first documented effective use of cyclosporine A in two pancreatic transplants was by Calne *et al*[5] in 1979. This heralded an exciting new era of effective immunosuppressive regimens which eventually led to the more widespread use of SPK. Triple immunosuppression (maintenance therapy with cyclosporine A, azathioprine, and steroids) soon gained popularity all over the world after the introduction of cyclosporine A[6]. In 1989 Starzl et al[7] used tacrolimus as an immunosuppressive agent. This was followed by the development of induction therapy initially using anti-thymocyte globulin such as thymoglobulin and later (1997) by a recombinant DNA-derived humanised anti-CD52 lymphocyte depleting monoclonal antibody known as Alemtuzumab. Certain centres explored steroid-free regimens in the late 1990s and early 2000s which showed improvement in metabolic outcomes[6].

The initial pancreas transplant was done with ligation of the pancreatic duct[7]. Montefiore used the pancreatic duct to ureter anastomosis as a method of exocrine secretion drainage; however, it was complicated with anastomosis leakage. Bewick developed the open pancreatic duct drainage of exocrine secretions; however, it was complicated by peritonitis and ascites. Sollinger et al[8] developed pancreas-to-bladder anastomosis for exocrine secretion drainage; however, it was complicated with urinary tract infections, chronic cystitis, reflux pancreatitis, metabolic acidosis, and haematuria. Currently, enteric drainage is widely used for exocrine drainage with anastomosis between transplanted duodenum and



recipient ileum, jejunum, and duodenum, with drainage into a jejunal loop being the most used technique using techniques including Roux-en-Y reconstruction[9].

There are many types of pancreas and islet transplantations as depicted in Figure 1. The number of pancreas transplants (especially SPK) increased steadily in the US and worldwide since 1984. However, the number of pancreas transplants has shown a 20% decline between 2005 and 2014, with a nadir reaching in 2015. This decline in pancreas transplants is due to various reasons including the availability of advanced alternative treatment options like sensors, pumps, and hybrid closed loops resulting in fewer referrals to the pancreas transplantation waiting list, diabetic complications like ESRF occurring at a later age group, worsening donor organ quality related to body mass index (BMI) among organ donors (BMI > 35 kg/m² associated with fatty infiltration of the pancreas), and high post-operative complication burden (> 50%) associated with the pancreas transplants[9].

Thereafter, though the pancreas transplant volume started to increase, there was a further decline to coincide with the beginning of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic where the number of SPKs in the US dropped from 872 in 2019 to 827 in 2020[10]. The number of pancreas transplants and the trends in pancreas transplants in the US between 1966 and 2021 are shown in Figures 2 and 3[11,12]. This decline likely reflects the unwillingness of many transplant programs to move forward with pancreatic transplants due to COVID-19 limiting the resources. The pancreas after kidney (PAK) and pancreas transplant alone (PTA) increased marginally to compensate for the drop in SPK, as shown in Figure 3[10].

INDICATIONS FOR SPK

Typically, patients with T1DM who have low or absent C-peptide levels are eligible for the SPK. Candidates could also have severe nephropathy or ESRF, as well as comorbidities such as hypoglycemia unawareness, recurrent hospitalisation for diabetic ketoacidosis, progressive retinopathy, enteropathy, and neuropathy. The current indications for SPK in T1DM are outlined in the Table 1[13,14].

In patients with stage 4/5 chronic kidney disease, preemptive SPK is described as the transplantation of both the pancreas and kidney before the patient is initiated on dialysis. Preemptive SPK has been shown to be related to better results when compared to SPK carried out in patients undergoing dialysis, according to several retrospective investigations, including registry analysis. In SPK patients, time spent on dialysis also has a poor prognostic significance[15,16].

CONTRAINDICATIONS

The absolute and relative contraindications for SPK in patients with T1DM are given in Table 1[17].

Obesity alone is not an absolute contraindication to SPK, given that positive outcomes have been documented[18]. However, obese patients may experience a greater risk of early complications when compared to non-obese recipients [19]. Additionally, the significance of BMI < 18.5 kg/m^2 as a risk factor for long-term mortality needs to be emphasized [18].

Previous history of limb amputation and presence of coronary heart disease are risk factors for worse outcomes, but neither is considered an absolute contraindication to SPK[20]. Pre-SPK limb amputation often indicates worse transplant results because it raises the risk of cardiovascular disease[21]. The risk of serious adverse cardiovascular events following transplantation is further increased by a history of coronary artery disease before transplantation[22]. If medically treated and revascularized by accepted standards, coronary artery disease, however, does not pose a significantly higher risk for death.

SURGICAL TECHNIQUES

Most of the pancreas grafts are retrieved from heart-beating brain-dead donors, with an increasing number from nonheart-beating donors after circulatory death[17]. The retrieval involves the removal of the pancreas en-bloc with the donor duodenum and spleen, with the spleen removed before implantation. In SPK, both kidney and pancreas grafts are taken from the same deceased donor. The donor pancreas has two arteries (superior mesenteric artery and splenic artery), and these are joined with a 'Y' graft utilizing the donor common iliac artery and its bifurcation to create a single arterial inflow which is anastomosed to the recipient's right common iliac artery. The donor portal vein is anastomosed to the recipient's right common iliac vein or inferior vena cava. Finally, the donor duodenal conduit is anastomosed to the recipient's small bowel or urinary bladder. A pancreas transplant alone takes approximately 3-4 h, whereas a simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplant takes approximately 4-6 h[17,23].

Diverse and institution-specific procedures are employed for SPK. The intra-peritoneal technique is used by most transplant facilities for graft insertion. The kidney is transplanted to the left iliac fossa, the pancreas is generally placed in the right iliac fossa. The native pancreas and kidney remain in place. The peripancreatic fluid accumulations and wound complications are reduced because of this strategy. Extraperitoneal and ipsilateral insertion of both grafts constitute an alternate strategy[17,24].

Most pancreatic transplants use either enteric or bladder drainage. Comparing bladder and intestinal drainage of exocrine secretions in pancreas transplantation has been extensively studied. Compared to enteric drainage, bladder

Saishideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Current indications and contraindications for simultaneous pancreas-kidney in type 1 diabetes mellitus[11,12,15]
Current indications for SPK in T1DM
Confirmed diabetic nephropathy with low or absent C-peptide, on insulin treatment
Creatinine clearance < 15 mL/min or on dialysis
Presence of other microvascular or macrovascular complications of T1DM
Ability to withstand immunosuppression and surgery
History of compliance with medical advice and treatment
Absolute contraindications for SPK in T1DM
Significant cardiovascular disease with severe or non-correctable coronary artery disease
Cardiac ejection fraction < 50%
Recent myocardial infarction
Non-curable malignancy except localized skin cancer
Active sepsis
Active peptic ulcer disease
Severe mental health conditions that can lead to non-compliance
Inability to survive surgery or immunosuppression due to significant comorbidity
Relative contraindications for SPK in T1DM
Cerebrovascular event with long-standing impairment
Human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B and C virus infections
$BMI > 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$
Age > 60 yrs
Extensive vascular, aortic, and renal artery disease (making surgery high-risk)
Excessive need for insulin > 1.5 U/kg/d
Continuous use of alcohol, smoking, and other drugs

T1DM: Type 1 diabetes mellitus; SPK: Simultaneous pancreas-kidney.

drainage increases late reintervention rates (primarily for enteric conversion), but it has no acute surgical risks[17]. In a recent study by Riad et al[25], at 10 years posttransplant, 44.3% of simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant recipients had undergone enteric conversion. The enteric conversion was associated with an 85% increased risk of acute rejection but was not associated with graft loss or mortality. Additionally, bladder drainage is linked to long-term urologic problems such as bladder calculi, haemorrhagic cystitis, and recurrent urinary tract infections, as well as metabolic disturbances like acidosis and dehydration[26]. These factors have contributed to a drop in the use of bladder drainage over time.

PERIOPERATIVE CARE

Insulin regimens

Perioperative plasma glucose monitoring is crucial. The metabolic reaction to stress and the impact of corticosteroids contribute to the frequent occurrence of intraoperative hyperglycemia. As uncontrolled glucose levels are linked to impaired immune function and an increased risk of infection, insulin infusion should be started before unclamping of the pancreas transplant. Plasma glucose must be closely monitored after unclamping since glucose levels might dangerously plummet[27].

Heparin thromboprophylaxis

Thrombosis, which has a reported prevalence of 4%-20%, is a common complication associated with pancreatic transplantation. One of the main factors contributing to pancreatic transplant failure and graft loss has been identified as thrombosis. Despite this, the effectiveness of preventive anticoagulation is still debatable, with some trials finding positive results from anticoagulation and other trials reporting no benefit^[28,29]. Pancreas transplant centers have various internal policies and practices, and there is still no standardised thromboprophylaxis approach for this procedure. According to a recent meta-analysis that included 11 studies and 1122 patients in the heparin group and 236 patients in





Figure 1 Various types of pancreas (red box) and islet (green box) transplantation[7]. SPKT: Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant.



Figure 2 Number of pancreas transplants in the United States between 1966 and 2021[9,10].

the no-heparin group, prophylactic heparinization significantly reduced the risk of early pancreas thrombosis and pancreas loss for SPK without increasing the incidence of bleeding or acute return to the operating room when compared to the no-heparin control[30]. In the included studies, intraoperative intravenous heparin 30-70 IU/kg was administered when heparin thromboprophylaxis was not contraindicated. Heparin was administered intravenously 200-1000 IU/h for 1-14 d or subcutaneously 3000-5000 IU 1-2 times daily during the postoperative period. Following this, aspirin 81-325 mg per day was used for maintenance[30].

IMMUNOSUPPRESSION

The accepted practice in modern immunosuppression is to combine numerous drugs with various mechanisms of action for maintenance therapy and to employ biologic medicines for induction. These regimens achieve the main objectives of

Baishidena® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Trends in pancreas transplants in the United States between 1966 and 2021[9,10]. SPK: Simultaneous pancreas-kidney; PAK: Pancreas after kidney; PTA: Pancreas transplant alone.

immunosuppression, which are to effectively manage acute rejection while reducing risks to the patient's safety and tolerability and damage to the allograft(s).

Induction immunosuppression

Early rejection and graft loss from combined pancreas-kidney transplants have been lower with the use of induction immunosuppression. Of the induction therapies, lymphocyte-depleting agents (alemtuzumab and anti-thymocyte globulin) and nondepleting agents [basiliximab and daclizumab (anti-interleukin 2 (anti-IL-2) receptor monoclonal antibody)] have been used in SPKs. Ninety percent of pancreatic transplant patients get a lympho-depleting drug during induction treatment, reflecting the widespread observation of greater rejection rates following pancreas transplant[10].

A recent meta-analysis studied 536 SPK participants in 7 randomised clinical trials that reported 5 induction methods. Antithymocyte globulin (97 patients), alemtuzumab (42 patients), 2 or 5 doses of daclizumab (113 patients), and no induction treatment (120 patients) were included in these regimens. A regimen containing 2 doses of daclizumab ranked highest for patient survival as well as kidney and pancreas transplant survival in the network meta-analysis. In contrast, alemtuzumab was ranked best for the prevention of acute renal and pancreatic rejection[31].

In patients at low immunologic risk, there isn't any conclusive proof that induction with depleting *vs* nondepleting antibodies leads to better immunologic outcomes. When compared with the use of nondepleting antibodies or no induction therapy, induction with depleting antibodies is associated with cytokine release syndrome requiring premedication and with an increased incidence of early posttransplant infections, especially cytomegalovirus (CMV) viremia (that do not result in inferior patient and graft survival). There is no conclusive evidence that induction treatment with depleting antibodies increases the risk of oncologic problems in pancreatic transplant patients, despite data on renal transplantation to the contrary[20].

Maintenance Immunosuppression

Modern immunosuppressive protocols for all types of pancreatic transplantation include tacrolimus, mycophenolate, and steroids for the purpose of maintenance of immunosuppression. Tacrolimus has been the preferred calcineurin inhibitor (CNI) for more than ten years, despite the risks of beta cell toxicity and renal damage linked to it. Results of a 3-year single-center, prospective, randomized comparison of the two calcineurin inhibitors in the setting of mycophenolate mofetil (MMF)-based immunosuppression in 47 SPK patients did not show superiority of tacrolimus over cyclosporin [32]. However, a larger study in 205 SPK recipients confirmed the superiority of tacrolimus over cyclosporine in preventing moderate or severe kidney or pancreas rejection and pancreatic thrombosis[33]. Tacrolimus is available as an immediate-release formulation (IR-Tac) which is traditionally given twice daily. Extended-release tacrolimus (ER-Tac) given once daily was later explored with the expectation of improved medication adherence. Falconer *et al*[34] reported that stable SPK recipients can safely be converted from IR-Tac to ER-Tac, with no clinical impact on the transplant function.

MMF continues to be the preferred antiproliferative drug for maintenance therapy. Following induction therapy, a review found that using mycophenolate mofetil in conjunction with CNI and steroids was linked to a 40% decrease in the risk of acute rejection one year following pancreatic transplantation[35]. When combined with tacrolimus or cyclosporine,



retrospective studies have shown that mycophenolate mofetil, as opposed to azathioprine, improves the immunologic outcome of pancreas transplantation, but at the cost of more gastrointestinal side effects that frequently necessitate dose reduction[36,37].

Total avoidance of steroid immunosuppression is referred to as "steroid avoidance." Early avoidance is defined as steroid therapy for fewer than 14 d following transplantation, while late avoidance is defined as steroid withdrawal after 14 d[38]. Though steroids form the cornerstone of immunosuppression therapy, steroid discontinuation is being explored and could lead to better metabolic outcomes over time. Although it fell from 27.2% in 2019 to 25.8% in 2020, the percentage of patients kept on a tacrolimus/MMF steroid-free therapy was mostly steady. Steroid withdrawal between 6-12 mo after transplantation was successful and safe in most patients without an increase in immune events. Additionally, the patients had a low prevalence of hypertension, dyslipidemia, and obesity[39].

Compared to the 12.4% reported in 2010, the percentage of pancreatic transplant patients in the "other" maintenance therapy regimens has reduced to 2.6%. This slow decline shows that co-stimulation blockade or mammalian target-ofrapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors have not been frequently used as alternate maintenance regimen components[9,20]. Though mTOR inhibitors show non-inferior immunological outcomes, the side effect profile of this group of drugs precludes its widespread use[40,41].

COMPLICATIONS

When compared to patients of kidney transplantation alone (KTA), those who received SPK typically have more severe and frequent complications in the first year after transplant. These complications are typically caused by either the more extensive surgical procedure or the necessary immunosuppression. Greater morbidity and early death are related to SPK than KTA because of perioperative problems. This difference is evidenced by longer initial hospital stays, higher rates of rehospitalization in the first 30 d, more serious infections necessitating rehospitalization, and higher perioperative mortality risk[42]. Khubutia et al[43] reported surgical complications in 37.5% of SPK patients. Asymptomatic parapancreatic fluid collection (52.5%) was the most common surgical complication followed by superior mesenteric artery thrombosis (12.5%). Surgical site infections after pancreas transplantation in the Swiss Transplant Cohort Study were seen in 14% of patients [44].

Following a pancreatic transplant, technical failure rates might reach 8%. Graft thrombosis, graft pancreatitis, anastomotic leak, and infection are some causes of failure[45,46]. In a recent retrospective, single-center analysis, 114 adult patients who received an SPK between 2005 and 2018 were included. There was an 85.1% pancreas transplant survival rate at 3 mo. Early pancreatic transplant loss was mostly due to pancreatitis (2.6%), necrosis (2.6%), and thrombosis (6.1%). In contrast to patients with a functional pancreas, early pancreatic transplant loss was not linked to a lower chance of survival (P = 0.168) or severe adverse cerebral or cardiovascular events during a 10-year period[47]. Most postoperative problems in the SPK population that necessitate surgical re-exploration are pancreas-related. In a recent study on SPK patients, while 28.2% of patients experienced a major kidney complication, the rate for major pancreasrelated complications was 43.6% [48].

Even though SPK outcomes have improved dramatically, infectious complications continue to be the leading cause of morbidity and death. Michalak et al[49] reported 102 infections among 51 SPK patients during the posttransplant period. A total of 73 bacterial infections (systemic 13, pulmonary 13, intestinal 8, wound 23), 21 episodes of CMV infection (systemic 20, duodenal site 1), 73 fungal infections (central nervous system 5, gastrointestinal tract 3), and 8 bacterial infections (systemic 13, pulmonary 13, intestinal 8, wound 23) were reported. Some individuals had multiple infections. The overall mortality rate in the study cohort was 24.5%. Most deaths (77%) were due to infectious complications, which included systemic infection (38.5%) and CNS infection (38.5%). The majority of systemic illnesses had a bacterial aetiology and CNS infections had a fungal aetiology.

Metabolic complications are also a frequent cause of morbidity post-SPK. Within the first six months, transient hyperglycemia may develop because of acute or chronic rejection, pancreatitis, or a significant rise in insulin resistance brought on by weight gain. Post-transplant hyperglycemia has also been associated with immunosuppressant drug side effects, including steroids, calcineurin inhibitors (particularly tacrolimus), sirolimus, and mycophenolate. About 60 to 80% of patients receiving immunosuppressive medication develop hyperlipidemia following solid organ transplantation. Two of the most significant lipid abnormalities seen are high triglyceride levels and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol concentrations. Combined hyperlipidemia is also typical. Many risk factors, including advanced age, obesity, posttransplant weight gain, pre-transplant dyslipidemia, male gender, graft malfunction, proteinuria, newly diagnosed diabetes mellitus, prednisone dose, and the kind of immunosuppressive regimen, might contribute to the development of dyslipidemia following pancreatic transplant. Although tacrolimus and cyclosporine similarly negatively impact lipid metabolism, sirolimus has been linked to larger elevations in triglycerides and cholesterol[50]. The common complications of SPK are displayed in Figure 4.

OUTCOMES

Survival benefit

For transplants performed in 2018-2019, one-year patient mortality remained low at 2.6%. Ten-year mortality rates among 2010-11 transplant recipients were 20.9% likely reflecting cardiovascular comorbidities in the population. Five-year





Figure 4 Common complications of simultaneous pancreas-kidney. CMV: Cytomegalovirus; HLA: Human leukocyte antigen.

survival rate was 92.7%[10].

Compared with living or deceased-donor kidney transplantation, SPK was associated with improved patient survival, especially in recipients with a long-term functioning pancreatic graft, and resulted in an almost 50% reduction 10-year mortality rate[51].

Glycemic control

Following a solid-organ pancreas transplant, the great majority of patients attain total insulin independence in both the short and long terms. Glycemic control outperforms that attained with insulin pumps or islet-cell transplants by a wide margin[52]. A recent study evaluated CGM-derived time in range and glucose variability in 43 patients with SPK. Time in range (TIR) at 5-12 years follow-up was 97.5%. Time above range (TAR) and time below range (TBR) were 2.5% and 3.5% respectively. Thus patients with functional pancreatic grafts exhibit very high TIR and low GV following SPK[53]. In the immediate post-transplant period at 6 wk, Dadlani *et al*[54] reported a TIR, TAR and TBR of 92%, 7.9% and 0.3% respectively in SPK patients.

Diabetes-related complications

Diabetic retinopathy: A feared side effect of pancreatic transplantation is the worsening of diabetic retinopathy brought on by abrupt glucose normalisation. There have been conflicting results on retinopathy outcomes after SPK. Chow *et al* [55] reported a high prevalence of severe proliferative diabetic retinopathy (DR) and blindness at the time of presentation for SPK. This was subsequently stabilised to inactive proliferative DR by appropriate laser therapy followed by metabolic control achieved by SPK. Voglová *et al* [56] studied 43 pancreatic and kidney recipients for a 12-mo composite endpoint that included the requirement for fresh laser therapy, newly discovered proliferation, macular edema, deteriorating vision, and blindness. This primary goal was attained by 37% of patients, however, the severity was only moderately high. Visual acuity remained constant. The absolute glycated haemoglobin, age, and duration of diabetes mellitus did not significantly differ between patients who met and did not achieve the primary goal, while a greater percentage of patients with deterioration had recently undergone laser therapy. 62.8% of individuals had stable retinal disease. In 26% of cases, visual acuity was noticeably improved. Even though retinal deterioration was observed in more than one-third of individuals, the progression of the condition was unrelated to the degree of metabolic alteration and instead followed the predicted normal course of retinopathy[56].

Diabetic neuropathy: Cardiac autonomic neuropathy is a dreaded complication of long-standing uncontrolled diabetes. Argente-Pla *et al*[57] reported improved cardiac autonomic neuropathy post SPK as evidenced by an improved Valsalva ratio. SPK is been shown to be beneficial for diabetic polyneuropathy in earlier studies. Kennedy *et al*[58] used muscle action potential and indices of nerve conduction velocity to examine how pancreatic transplantation affected peripheral motor, sensory, and autonomic nerve function. They discovered a notable improvement in motor and sensory indices during a 12-mo follow-up. Martinenghi *et al*[59] demonstrated that even in the presence of severe polyneuropathy, a persistent normoglycemic condition can enhance nerve function.

Diabetic nephropathy: For most patients with type 1 DM and ESRF, SPK restores normal renal function. According to Fioretto *et al*[60], characteristics of diabetic nephropathy were restored after 10 years of sustained normoglycemia post-transplant. It greatly decreased the thickness of the mesangial matrix and glomerular basement membrane, and it significantly improved glomerular and tubular lesions. Additionally, a decline in the rate of urine albumin excretion (20 mg/d *vs* 103 mg/d) was seen, demonstrating improved renal function. Diabetic nephropathy is reported to alter circulating long noncoding RNA levels that normalize following SPK[61].

Macrovascular complications: Microvascular diabetic problems are stabilised more frequently following effective SPK, although macrovascular diabetic sequelae and diabetic Charcot neuro-osteoarthropathy have been traditionally thought to progress. Duration of hemodialysis is an important risk factor for adverse cardiac events[62]. However, a recent study showed significant improvements in left ventricular systolic parameters during follow-up in SPK recipients[63]. Another recent study concluded that SPK favorably slows down the development and progression of peripheral vascular disease by maintaining a superior metabolic vascular risk profile[21].

Quality of life: When compared to KTA, it has been demonstrated that SPK improves quality of life (QoL). In addition to avoiding hypoglycemia spells and insulin injections, pancreas transplantation also lowers the risk of developing microvascular and macrovascular complications of diabetes and eliminates the need for glucose monitoring. After correcting for QoL, SPK outperformed KTA or dialysis in terms of cost-effectiveness over five years in a trial on individuals with T1DM and ESRF[64]. The outcomes of SPK are summarised in Figure 5.

Future perspectives of SPK in the context of islet transplantation

Pancreas transplantation is the best treatment to provide insulin-independence, excellent metabolic control, and an improvement in QoL. Additionally, it may be able to avoid, ameliorate, or even reverse most of the diabetic complications. The technique of pancreas transplantation has shown improvement over time. The factors playing their part in this improvement include intestinal drainage of pancreatic juices, the introduction of calcineurin inhibitors and T-cell depleting agents, and improvements in maintenance immunosuppression with tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil. Though the sirolimus-based protocols showed initial promise, their use subsequently declined significantly.

PTA and PAK are more difficult to monitor. Hence, they carry a high risk of immunological rejection and have less favourable outcomes in comparison to SPK. PAK is effective in those who have had KTA in the past and are now having trouble with achieving glycaemic control and/or management of diabetes-related complications. Thus, PAK is a therapeutic option as a life-preserving procedure that avoids long-term dialysis and mortality on the waitlist and provides the time to find a good pancreas graft after the kidney transplant. On the other hand, PTA is a treatment option for patients with brittle diabetes who suffer from hypoglycaemia unawareness impairing QoL or have difficulty adhering to insulin injection requirements, but with a normal or near-normal renal function. It provides the best one-year patient survival among all whole organ transplants[65].

Careful selection of recipients and donors, improvement in surgical techniques, and refinement in immunosuppressive protocols have provided excellent outcomes after pancreas transplantation. Additionally, early detection of postoperative complications through careful observation, and regular imaging, and prophylactic use of antimicrobial agents are possible strategies that would reduce postoperative morbidity/mortality and thereby favour the expansion of existing pancreas transplant programs. Islets constitute only 1%-2% of the pancreas. Therefore, a less invasive procedure with lower procedural morbidity, islet transplantation, involving percutaneous intra-portal infusion of the islets is considered another alternative[17].

No trials are comparing the outcomes of islet transplantation (SIK or IAK) *vs* SPK[17]. Pancreas transplantation is a more acceptable treatment option for patients with ESRF, who are already undergoing a kidney transplantation. On the other hand, islet transplantation is preferred in elderly, frail, and morbid patients who are unfit for pancreas transplantation and in patients with a preference for a less invasive procedure. These two procedures have comparable results in glucose control, avoidance of severe hypoglycaemia, and recovery from hypoglycaemia unawareness. However, the insulin independence rates are 'slow and low' with islet transplants in comparison to pancreas transplants depending on the number of islet transplants and the success of engraftments. Multiple donors are needed in islet transplantation, thereby increasing the waiting list. Contrary to pancreas transplantation, obesity in the donor is not a contraindication for islet transplantation[65].

CONCLUSION

For individuals with T1DM and ESRF, simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation has become the gold standard of care. In terms of patient survival, graft survival, diabetes complications, and QoL, there is a substantial body of evidence from clinical research that supports the procedure. Only carefully chosen individuals should undergo simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation since it is a technically challenging treatment that is linked with serious short-term and long-term complications. The wider adoption of this therapeutic paradigm can be made possible with patient education initiatives and public outreach to foster a charitable culture of organ donation.

Zaishidene® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.208 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 5 The outcomes of simultaneous pancreas-kidney. LV: Left ventricular.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Nagendra L performed the literature search, interpreted the relevant literature, and drafted the initial manuscript; Pappachan JM and Fernandez CJ conceived the idea and provided additional input to design the paper; Fernandez CJ prepared the figures and with additional input from Pappachan JM, revised the article critically for important intellectual content after peer reviews; All authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United Kingdom

ORCID number: Lakshmi Nagendra 0000-0001-6865-5554; Cornelius James Fernandez 0000-0002-1171-5525; Joseph M Pappachan 0000-0003-0886-5255.

S-Editor: Liu IH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang YL

REFERENCES

- Deng Y, Li N, Wu Y, Wang M, Yang S, Zheng Y, Deng X, Xiang D, Zhu Y, Xu P, Zhai Z, Zhang D, Dai Z, Gao J. Global, Regional, and 1 National Burden of Diabetes-Related Chronic Kidney Disease From 1990 to 2019. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2021; 12: 672350 [PMID: 34276558 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2021.672350]
- 2 Yazidi M, El Felah E, Oueslati I, Chaker F, Grira W, Khessairi N, Chihaoui M. Assessment of quality of life in adult type 1 diabetic patients. Tunis Med 2020; 98: 861-868 [PMID: 33479985 DOI: 10.5603/dk.a2022.0001]
- Chen S, Du K, Zou C. Current progress in stem cell therapy for type 1 diabetes mellitus. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 275 [PMID: 32641151 3 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01793-6]
- Kelly WD, Lillehei RC, Merkel FK, Idezuki Y, Goetz FC. Allotransplantation of the pancreas and duodenum along with the kidney in diabetic 4 nephropathy. Surgery 1967; 61: 827-837 [PMID: 5338113]
- Calne RY, Rolles K, White DJ, Thiru S, Evans DB, McMaster P, Dunn DC, Craddock GN, Henderson RG, Aziz S, Lewis P. Cyclosporin A 5 initially as the only immunosuppressant in 34 recipients of cadaveric organs: 32 kidneys, 2 pancreases, and 2 livers. Lancet 1979; 2: 1033-1036



[PMID: 91781 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(79)92440-1]

- Squifflet JP, Gruessner RW, Sutherland DE. The history of pancreas transplantation: past, present and future. Acta Chir Belg 2008; 108: 367-6 378 [PMID: 18710120 DOI: 10.1080/00015458.2008.11680243]
- 7 Starzl TE, Todo S, Fung J, Demetris AJ, Venkataramman R, Jain A. FK 506 for liver, kidney, and pancreas transplantation. Lancet. 1989 Oct 28;2(8670):1000-4 [PMID: 2478846 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(89)91014-3]
- Sollinger HW, Knechtle SJ, Reed A, D'Alessandro AM, Kalayoglu M, Belzer FO, Pirsch J. Experience with 100 consecutive simultaneous 8 kidney-pancreas transplants with bladder drainage. Ann Surg. 1991 Dec;214(6):703-11 [PMID: 1741650 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-199112000-00010.]
- 9 Martin D, Alberti P, Demartines N, Phillips M, Casey J, Sutherland A. Whole-Organ Pancreas and Islets Transplantations in UK: An Overview and Future Directions. J Clin Med 2023; 12 [PMID: 37176684 DOI: 10.3390/jcm12093245]
- 10 Kandaswamy R, Stock PG, Miller JM, White J, Booker SE, Israni AK, Snyder JJ. OPTN/SRTR 2021 Annual Data Report: Pancreas. Am J Transplant 2023; 23: S121-S177 [PMID: 37132349 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajt.2023.02.005]
- 11 Gruessner AC, Gruessner RW. Pancreas Transplantation of US and Non-US Cases from 2005 to 2014 as Reported to the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) and the International Pancreas Transplant Registry (IPTR). Rev Diabet Stud 2016; 13: 35-58 [PMID: 26982345 DOI: 10.1900/RDS.2016.13.35]
- Gruessner AC. A Decade of pancreas transplantation-a registry report. Uro [Internet]. 2023; 3: 132–150 [DOI: 10.3390/uro3020015] 12
- 13 Sollinger HW, Odorico JS, Knechtle SJ, D'Alessandro AM, Kalayoglu M, Pirsch JD. Experience with 500 simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplants. Ann Surg 1998; 228: 284-296 [PMID: 9742912 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-199809000-00002]
- 14 Jiang AT, BHSc, Rowe N, Sener A, Luke P. Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation: The role in the treatment of type 1 diabetes and end-stage renal disease. Can Urol Assoc J 2014; 8: 135-138 [PMID: 24839485 DOI: 10.5489/cuaj.1597]
- 15 Grochowiecki T, Szmidt J, Gałazka Z, Nazarewski S, Madej K, Meszaros J, Paczek L, Durlik M, Wyzgał J, Grygiel K, Wojtaszek M, Piwowarska J, Kański A. Comparison of 1-year patient and graft survival rates between preemptive and dialysed simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplant recipients. Transplant Proc 2006; 38: 261-262 [PMID: 16504719 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2005.12.039]
- Pruijm MT, de Fijter HJ, Doxiadis II, Vandenbroucke JP. Preemptive versus Non-preemptive simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation: a 16 single-center, long-term, follow-up study. Transplantation 2006; 81: 1119-1124 [PMID: 16641596 DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000208574.48230.fd]
- Dholakia S, Royston E, Quiroga I, Sinha S, Reddy S, Gilbert J, Friend PJ. The rise and potential fall of pancreas transplantation. Br Med Bull 17 2017; **124**: 171-179 [PMID: 29088319 DOI: 10.1093/bmb/ldx039]
- Fridell JA, Mangus RS, Taber TE, Goble ML, Milgrom ML, Good J, Vetor R, Powelson JA. Growth of a nation part I: impact of organ donor 18 obesity on whole-organ pancreas transplantation. Clin Transplant 2011; 25: E225-E232 [PMID: 21362050 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2011.01419.x]
- Bédat B, Niclauss N, Jannot AS, Andres A, Toso C, Morel P, Berney T. Impact of recipient body mass index on short-term and long-term 19 survival of pancreatic grafts. Transplantation 2015; 99: 94-99 [PMID: 24914570 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000000226]
- Boggi U, Vistoli F, Andres A, Arbogast HP, Badet L, Baronti W, Bartlett ST, Benedetti E, Branchereau J, Burke GW 3rd, Buron F, Caldara R, 20 Cardillo M, Casanova D, Cipriani F, Cooper M, Cupisti A, Davide J, Drachenberg C, de Koning EJP, Ettorre GM, Fernandez Cruz L, Fridell JA, Friend PJ, Furian L, Gaber OA, Gruessner AC, Gruessner RWG, Gunton JE, Han DJ, Iacopi S, Kauffmann EF, Kaufman D, Kenmochi T, Khambalia HA, Lai Q, Langer RM, Maffi P, Marselli L, Menichetti F, Miccoli M, Mittal S, Morelon E, Napoli N, Neri F, Oberholzer J, Odorico JS, Öllinger R, Oniscu G, Orlando G, Ortenzi M, Perosa M, Perrone VG, Pleass H, Redfield RR, Ricci C, Rigotti P, Paul Robertson R, Ross LF, Rossi M, Saudek F, Scalea JR, Schenker P, Secchi A, Socci C, Sousa Silva D, Squifflet JP, Stock PG, Stratta RJ, Terrenzio C, Uva P, Watson CJE, White SA, Marchetti P, Kandaswamy R, Berney T. First World Consensus Conference on pancreas transplantation: Part II recommendations. Am J Transplant 2021; 21 Suppl 3: 17-59 [PMID: 34245223 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16750]
- 21 Sucher R, Rademacher S, Jahn N, Brunotte M, Wagner T, Alvanos A, Sucher E, Seehofer D, Scheuermann U, Hau HM. Effects of simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation and kidney transplantation alone on the outcome of peripheral vascular diseases. BMC Nephrol 2019; **20**: 453 [PMID: 31815616 DOI: 10.1186/s12882-019-1649-7]
- 22 Mangus RS, Powelson J, Kinsella SB, Farar DT, Creal CA, Fridell JA. Pretransplant coronary artery disease associated with worse clinical outcomes in pancreas transplantation. Clin Transplant 2013; 27: E442-E447 [PMID: 23923972 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12185]
- Bahar SG, Devulapally P. Pancreas Transplantation. 2023 Mar 14. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 23 Jan [PMID: 32966009]
- Becker BN, Odorico JS, Becker YT, Groshek M, Werwinski C, Pirsch JD, Sollinger HW. Simultaneous pancreas-kidney and pancreas 24 transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001; 12: 2517-2527 [PMID: 11675431 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V12112517]
- Riad SM, Keys DO, Jackson S, Vakil V, Berglund D, Matas A, Finger EB, Kandaswamy R. Enteric Conversion of Bladder-drained Pancreas 25 as a Predictor of Outcomes in Almost 600 Recipients at a Single Center. Transplant Direct 2020; 6: e550 [PMID: 32548244 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.000000000000997]
- Medina Polo J, Morales JM, Blanco M, Aguirre JF, Andrés A, Díaz R, Jiménez C, Leiva O, Meneu JC, Moreno E, Pamplona M, Passas J, 26 Rodríguez A, de la Rosa F. Urological complications after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Transplant Proc 2009; 41: 2457-2459 [PMID: 19715950 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.06.065]
- Niemann CU, Biancofiore G. Transplant anesthesia and critical care: Current research and possible future developments. Best Pract Res Clin 27 Anaesthesiol 2020; 34: 1-2 [PMID: 32334779 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpa.2020.03.001]
- Arjona-Sánchez A, Rodríguez-Ortiz L, Sánchez-Hidalgo JM, Ruiz Rabelo J, Salamanca-Bustos JJ, Rodríguez-Benot A, Campos-Hernández P, 28 Briceño-Delgado J. Intraoperative Heparinization During Simultaneous Pancreas-Kidney Transplantation: Is It Really Necessary? Transplant Proc 2018; 50: 673-675 [PMID: 29579885 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2017.09.055]
- Aboalsamh G, Anderson P, Al-Abbassi A, McAlister V, Luke PP, Sener A. Heparin infusion in simultaneous pancreas and kidney 29 transplantation reduces graft thrombosis and improves graft survival. Clin Transplant 2016; 30: 1002-1009 [PMID: 27293140 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12780]
- 30 Ai Li E, Farrokhi K, Zhang MY, Offerni J, Luke PP, Sener A. Heparin Thromboprophylaxis in Simultaneous Pancreas-Kidney Transplantation: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. *Transpl Int* 2023; **36**: 10442 [PMID: 36819126 DOI: 10.3389/ti.2023.10442]
- Kamarajah SK, Bundred JR, Manas D, White SA. A Network Meta-Analysis of Induction Immunosuppression for Simultaneous Pancreas-31 Kidney Transplant From Randomized Clinical Trials. Exp Clin Transplant 2021; 19: 397-404 [PMID: 34053419 DOI: 10.6002/ect.2020.0231]
- 32 Boggi U, Vistoli F, Del Chiaro M, Signori S, Amorese G, Vahadia Bartolo T, Sgambelluri F, Barsotti M, Tregnaghi C, Paleologo G, Coppelli



A, Giannarelli R, Rizzo G, Marchetti P, Mosca F. Neoral versus prograf in simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation with portal venous drainage: three-year results of a single-center, open-label, prospective, randomized pilot study. Transplant Proc 2005; 37: 2641-2643 [PMID: 16182772 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2005.06.086]

- Malaise J, Saudek F, Boucek P, Adamec M, Van Ophem D, Squifflet JP; EUROSPK Study Group. Tacrolimus compared with cyclosporine 33 microemulsion in primary simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation: the EURO-SPK 3-year results. Transplant Proc 2005; 37: 2843-2845 [PMID: 16182828 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2005.05.024]
- 34 Falconer SJ, Jansen C, Oniscu GC. Conversion from twice-daily to once-daily tacrolimus in simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant patients. Transplant Proc 2014; 46: 1458-1462 [PMID: 24935313 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2013.12.056]
- Demartines N, Schiesser M, Clavien PA. An evidence-based analysis of simultaneous pancreas-kidney and pancreas transplantation alone. Am 35 J Transplant 2005; 5: 2688-2697 [PMID: 16212628 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.01069.x]
- Odorico JS, Pirsch JD, Knechtle SJ, D'Alessandro AM, Sollinger HW. A study comparing mycophenolate mofetil to azathioprine in 36 simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Transplantation 1998; 66: 1751-1759 [PMID: 9884272 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199812270-00032]
- 37 Oh JM, Wiland AM, Klassen DK, Weidle PJ, Bartlett ST. Comparison of azathioprine and mycophenolate mofetil for the prevention of acute rejection in recipients of pancreas transplantation. J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 41: 861-869 [PMID: 11504274 DOI: 10.1177/00912700122010762]
- 38 Montero N, Webster AC, Royuela A, Zamora J, Crespo Barrio M, Pascual J. Steroid avoidance or withdrawal for pancreas and pancreas with kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014; CD007669 [PMID: 25220222 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007669.pub2]
- 39 Malheiro J, Martins L, Fonseca I, Gomes AM, Santos J, Dias L, Dores J, Oliveira F, Seca R, Almeida R, Henriques A, Cabrita A, Teixeira M. Steroid withdrawal in simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation: a 7-year report. Transplant Proc 2009; 41: 909-912 [PMID: 19376386 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.03.036]
- 40 Cantarovich D, Kervella D, Karam G, Dantal J, Blancho G, Giral M, Garandeau C, Houzet A, Ville S, Branchereau J, Delbos F, Guillot-Gueguen C, Volteau C, Leroy M, Renaudin K, Soulillou JP, Hourmant M. Tacrolimus- versus sirolimus-based immunosuppression after simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation: 5-year results of a randomized trial. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 1679-1690 [PMID: 32022990 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15809]
- 41 Girman P, Lipár K, Kočík M, Voska L, Kožnarová R, Marada T, Lánská V, Saudek F. Sirolimus vs mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) in primary combined pancreas and kidney transplantation. Results of a long-term prospective randomized study. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 779-787 [PMID: 31561278 DOI: 10.1111/ait.15622]
- 42 King EA, Kucirka LM, McAdams-DeMarco MA, Massie AB, Al Ammary F, Ahmed R, Grams ME, Segev DL. Early Hospital Readmission After Simultaneous Pancreas-Kidney Transplantation: Patient and Center-Level Factors. Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 541-549 [PMID: 26474070 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13485]
- Khubutia MS, Pinchuk AV, Dmitriev IV, Balkarov AG, Storozhev RV, Anisimov YA. Surgical complications after simultaneous pancreas-43 kidney transplantation: A single-center experience. Asian J Surg 2016; 39: 232-237 [PMID: 26857852 DOI: 10.1016/j.asjsur.2015.11.003]
- Schreiber PW, Laager M, Boggian K, Neofytos D, van Delden C, Egli A, Dickenmann M, Hirzel C, Manuel O, Koller M, Rossi S, Schmied 44 B, Gürke L, Matter M, Berney T, de Rougemont O, Kuster SP, Stampf S, Mueller NJ; Swiss Transplant Cohort Study. Surgical site infections after simultaneous pancreas kidney and pancreas transplantation in the Swiss Transplant Cohort Study. J Hosp Infect 2022; 128: 47-53 [PMID: 35840001 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2022.07.009]
- 45 Sollinger HW, Odorico JS, Becker YT, D'Alessandro AM, Pirsch JD. One thousand simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplants at a single center with 22-year follow-up. Ann Surg 2009; 250: 618-630 [PMID: 19730242 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181b76d2b]
- 46 Wakil K, Sugawara Y, Kokudo N, Kadowaki T. Causes of graft failure in simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation by various time periods. Clin Transpl 2013; 23-30 [PMID: 25095489 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-201407151-02926]
- 47 Lehner LJ, Öllinger R, Globke B, Naik MG, Budde K, Pratschke J, Eckardt KU, Kahl A, Zhang K, Halleck F. Impact of Early Pancreatic Graft Loss on Outcome after Simultaneous Pancreas-Kidney Transplantation (SPKT)-A Landmark Analysis. J Clin Med 2021; 10 [PMID: 34362019 DOI: 10.3390/jcm101532371
- Vidal Crespo N, López Cubillana P, López González PA, Alarcón CM, Hernández JR, Martínez LA, Abad AL, Fernández Garay JC, Muñoz 48 RM, Viñas SL, Fernández Hernández JA, Gómez Gómez GA. Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation: Early complications and longterm outcomes - a single-center experience. Can Urol Assoc J 2022; 16: E357-E362 [PMID: 35230938 DOI: 10.5489/cuaj.7635]
- Michalak G, Kwiatkowski A, Bieniasz M, Meszaros J, Czerwinski J, Wszola M, Nosek R, Ostrowski K, Chmura A, Danielewicz R, Lisik W, 49 Adadynski L, Fesołowicz S, Dobrowolska A, Durlik M, Rowiński W. Infectious complications after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Transplant Proc 2005; 37: 3560-3563 [PMID: 16298661 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2005.09.078]
- Lauria MW, Ribeiro-Oliveira A Jr. Diabetes and other endocrine-metabolic abnormalities in the long-term follow-up of pancreas 50 transplantation. Clin Diabetes Endocrinol 2016; 2: 14 [PMID: 28702248 DOI: 10.1186/s40842-016-0032-x]
- Esmeijer K, Hoogeveen EK, van den Boog PJM, Konijn C, Mallat MJK, Baranski AG, Dekkers OM, de Fijter JW; Dutch Transplant Centers; 51 Dutch Kidney Transplant Centres. Superior Long-term Survival for Simultaneous Pancreas-Kidney Transplantation as Renal Replacement Therapy: 30-Year Follow-up of a Nationwide Cohort. Diabetes Care 2020; 43: 321-328 [PMID: 31801788 DOI: 10.2337/dc19-1580]
- 52 Gerber PA, Pavlicek V, Demartines N, Zuellig R, Pfammatter T, Wüthrich R, Weber M, Spinas GA, Lehmann R. Simultaneous islet-kidney vs pancreas-kidney transplantation in type 1 diabetes mellitus: a 5 year single centre follow-up. Diabetologia 2008; 51: 110-119 [PMID: 17973096 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-007-0860-4]
- Dmitriev IV, Severina AS, Zhuravel NS, Yevloyeva MI, Salimkhanov RK, Shchelykalina SP, Bezunov EA, Shamkhalova MS, Semenova JF, 53 Klimontov VV, Shestakova MV. Continuous Glucose Monitoring in Patients Following Simultaneous Pancreas-Kidney Transplantation: Time in Range and Glucose Variability. Diagnostics (Basel) 2023; 13 [PMID: 37174997 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics13091606]
- Dadlani V, Kaur RJ, Stegall M, Xyda SE, Kumari K, Bonner K, Smith B, Thapa P, Dean PG, Kudva YC. Continuous glucose monitoring to 54 assess glycemic control in the first 6 weeks after pancreas transplantation. Clin Transplant 2019; 33: e13719 [PMID: 31545535 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.13719
- Chow VC, Pai RP, Chapman JR, O'Connell PJ, Allen RD, Mitchell P, Nankivell BJ. Diabetic retinopathy after combined kidney-pancreas 55 transplantation. Clin Transplant 1999; 13: 356-362 [PMID: 10485379 DOI: 10.1034/j.1399-0012.1999.130413.x]
- Voglová B, Hladíková Z, Nemétová L, Zahradnická M, Kesslerová K, Sosna T, Lipár K, Kožnarová R, Girman P, Saudek F. Early worsening 56 of diabetic retinopathy after simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation-Myth or reality? Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 2832-2841 [PMID: 32301225 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15924]



- Argente-Pla M, Pérez-Lázaro A, Martinez-Millana A, Del Olmo-García MI, Espí-Reig J, Beneyto-Castello I, López-Andújar R, Merino-57 Torres JF. Simultaneous Pancreas Kidney Transplantation Improves Cardiovascular Autonomic Neuropathy with Improved Valsalva Ratio as the Most Precocious Test. J Diabetes Res 2020; 2020: 7574628 [PMID: 32337297 DOI: 10.1155/2020/7574628]
- Kennedy WR, Navarro X, Goetz FC, Sutherland DE, Najarian JS. Effects of pancreatic transplantation on diabetic neuropathy. N Engl J Med 58 1990; **322**: 1031-1037 [PMID: 2320063 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199004123221503]
- Martinenghi S, Comi G, Galardi G, Di Carlo V, Pozza G, Secchi A. Amelioration of nerve conduction velocity following simultaneous 59 kidney/pancreas transplantation is due to the glycaemic control provided by the pancreas. Diabetologia 1997; 40: 1110-1112 [PMID: 9300250 DOI: 10.1007/s001250050795]
- Fioretto P, Steffes MW, Sutherland DE, Goetz FC, Mauer M. Reversal of lesions of diabetic nephropathy after pancreas transplantation. N 60 Engl J Med 1998; 339: 69-75 [PMID: 9654536 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199807093390202]
- Groeneweg KE, Au YW, Duijs JMGJ, Florijn BW, van Kooten C, de Fijter JW, Reinders MEJ, van Zonneveld AJ, Bijkerk R. Diabetic 61 nephropathy alters circulating long noncoding RNA levels that normalize following simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 3451-3461 [PMID: 32353171 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15961]
- Salimkhanov RK, Yevloyeva MI, Severina AS, Shamkhalova MS, Trubitsyna NP, Moysyuk YG. A simultaneous pancreas-kidney 62 transplantation for type 1 diabetes mellitus after a long-term of receiving hemodialysis renal replacement therapy. Clinical case. Diabetes Mellit 2022; **25**: 192-198 [DOI: 10.14341/dm12881]
- 63 Lange UG, Rademacher S, Zirnstein B, Sucher R, Semmling K, Bobbert P, Lederer AA, Buchloh D, Seidemann L, Seehofer D, Jahn N, Hau HM. Cardiovascular outcomes after simultaneous pancreas kidney transplantation compared to kidney transplantation alone: a propensity score matching analysis. BMC Nephrol 2021; 22: 347 [PMID: 34674648 DOI: 10.1186/s12882-021-02522-8]
- Douzdjian V, Ferrara D, Silvestri G. Treatment strategies for insulin-dependent diabetics with ESRD: a cost-effectiveness decision analysis 64 model. Am J Kidney Dis 1998; 31: 794-802 [PMID: 9590189 DOI: 10.1016/s0272-6386(98)70048-4]
- 65 Al-Naseem AO, Attia A, Gonnah AR, Al-Naseem AOAS, Spiers HVM, Gruessner A, Leelarathna L, Thabit H, Augustine T. Pancreas transplantation today: quo vadis? Eur J Endocrinol 2023; 188: R73-R87 [PMID: 36929837 DOI: 10.1093/ejendo/lvad032]



WJT

World Journal of Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2023 September 18; 13(5): 221-238

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.221

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

REVIEW

Evolution of human kidney allograft pathology diagnostics through 30 years of the Banff classification process

Muhammed Mubarak, Amber Raza, Rahma Rashid, Shaheera Shakeel

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A, A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Alkhatib AJ, Jordan; Gonzalez FM, Chile

Received: April 10, 2023 Peer-review started: April 10, 2023 First decision: June 1, 2023 Revised: June 5, 2023 Accepted: June 12, 2023 Article in press: June 12, 2023 Published online: September 18, 2023



Muhammed Mubarak, Rahma Rashid, Shaheera Shakeel, Department of Histopathology, Sindh Institute of Urology and Transplantation, Karachi 74200, Sindh, Pakistan

Amber Raza, Department of Nephrology, Sindh Institute of Urology and Transplantation, Karachi 74200, Sindh, Pakistan

Corresponding author: Muhammed Mubarak, MD, Professor, Department of Histopathology, Sindh Institute of Urology and Transplantation, Dewan Farooque Medical Complex, Karachi 74200, Sindh, Pakistan. drmubaraksiut@yahoo.com

Abstract

The second half of the previous century witnessed a tremendous rise in the number of clinical kidney transplants worldwide. This activity was, however, accompanied by many issues and challenges. An accurate diagnosis and appropriate management of causes of graft dysfunction were and still are, a big challenge. Kidney allograft biopsy played a vital role in addressing the above challenge. However, its interpretation was not standardized for many years until, in 1991, the Banff process was started to fill this void. Thereafter, regular Banff meetings took place every 2 years for the past 30 years. Marked changes have taken place in the interpretation of kidney allograft biopsies, diagnosis, and classification of rejection and other non-rejection pathologies from the original Banff 93 classification. This review attempts to summarize those changes for increasing the awareness and understanding of kidney allograft pathology through the eyes of the Banff process. It will interest the transplant surgeons, physicians, pathologists, and allied professionals associated with the care of kidney transplant patients.

Key Words: Banff process; Rejection; Kidney allograft biopsy; Transplant pathology; Review

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: The efforts to standardize the nomenclature, classification, and reporting of kidney allograft biopsies were initiated in 1991 by a small group of renal pathologists, transplant physicians, and surgeons at a meeting in Banff, Alberta, Canada. Thereafter, regular meetings of the now ever-expanding, multidisciplinary, and international Banff community have been held every 2 years at different places around the world to revise, update and refine the classification. Major and frequent changes have occurred in the classification over the three decades of its evolution, making it extremely complex and difficult to comprehend, particularly for beginners in the field. The classification has essentially changed from pathology-based to pathogenesis-based classification and has become clinician-friendly and treatment-friendly. This review is an attempt to summarize the changes in the classification in an easily understandable manner and describe the rationale behind these changes for easy assimilation by both neophytes and practicing renal pathologists, transplant physicians, surgeons, and other relevant stakeholders.

Citation: Mubarak M, Raza A, Rashid R, Shakeel S. Evolution of human kidney allograft pathology diagnostics through 30 years of the Banff classification process. *World J Transplant* 2023; 13(5): 221-238 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v13/i5/221.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.221

INTRODUCTION

Kidney transplantation is the preferred type of treatment for end-stage kidney disease patients throughout the world. Advancements in surgical techniques, immunosuppressive regimens, and infection control during the second half of the previous century markedly improved the short- and medium-term outcomes of kidney allografts. However, the long-term results are still poor and little progress has been made in this area[1,2]. Although highly effective, kidney transplantation is not completely immune to complications. Kidney allograft dysfunction can occur at any time after transplantation. It has been reported that kidney allograft dysfunction occurs in 50%-60% of cases after transplantation and there are many causes. Among the most important and prevalent causes of kidney allograft dysfunction are rejection, infection, and drug toxicity[3].

The Banff classification schema for kidney allograft pathology was developed in 1991 and is an ongoing process with an international approach[4-9]. The first Banff meeting was held at the small town of Banff in Alberta, Canada in August 1991, which was attended by a group of 12 nephropathologists and transplant clinicians with a common interest in kidney transplantation with the goal of standardizing the reporting of kidney allograft biopsies[10]. The objectives were two-fold: To guide therapy and to establish an objective endpoint for clinical trials. The first report in full paper form was published in 1993 after several cross-consultations and follow-up discussions[10]. These meetings have subsequently taken place biennially, initially at Banff and later on, in other parts of the world but have been named the Banff meetings after their original place of meeting to revisit, revise and update the Banff classification. Our understanding of kidney transplant pathology, and particularly, rejections has grown and improved with discourses and publications emerging out of these meetings[4-6,9]. At the same time, the classification has become more complex and difficult to assimilate, particularly for novices in the field.

The Banff schema is distinctive as the classification criteria are developed based on a consensus approach. Although the original Banff classification was developed based on expert opinion, its subsequent revisions and refinements have been made based on published sound scientific studies, multicenter studies by the Banff working groups (BWGs) on problematic areas, and consensus among the experts[6]. In this review, we summarize the major changes in the Banff classification and the rationale behind these changes. This will help the neophytes and practicing nephropathologists, nephrologists, and other stakeholders to better understand this classification.

TECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS AND TISSUE ADEQUACY

For a kidney allograft biopsy to fulfill its role as the gold standard for accurate diagnosis, it needs to be adequate and as representative as possible of the whole kidney allograft and be prepared according to recommended protocols. With the evolution in the diagnostic criteria of the Banff categories, changes have also taken place in the tissue adequacy criteria, technical preparation guidelines, and the extent of the workup of kidney allograft biopsies (Table 1). In the first Banff meeting, the biopsy adequacy criteria were less stringent, particularly with regard to the number of blood vessels required. The first major change in adequacy criteria was made in 1997 when two cylinders of kidney allograft parenchyma including both cortex and medulla with 10 glomeruli and two arteries were recommended to fulfill adequacy criteria[11]. As the process of rejection is often focal and patchy in distribution, particularly during the early phase, a generous sampling of the kidney cortex from different areas is desirable for an accurate diagnosis, necessitating the recommendation for two cores of allograft tissue. During the first decade of the Banff process, the study of kidney allograft biopsy was based only on morphologic evaluation, *i.e.* light microscopy (LM). From the 2001 meeting onwards, a piece of frozen tissue for C4d was made mandatory for the complete evaluation of allograft pathologic lesions[12,13]. C4d staining should be done on all kidney allograft biopsies, preferably by immunofluorescence (IF), or by immunohisto-

Table 1 Adequacy criteria of renal allograft biopsies for an accurate pathologic diagnosis		
Parameters/investigations	Requirements	
Number of cores	Two (these should be divided to procure tissue for IF and EM studies, if necessary)	
Components of graft parenchyma	Both cortex and medulla	
For the light microscopic study	A significant amount of cortex containing up to: (1) 10 glomeruli; and (2) 2 arteries	
For the immunofluorescence study	Cortex with up to 3 glomeruli	
For the electron microscopic study	Cortex with 1 glomerulus	

EM: Electron microscopy; IF: Immunofluorescence.

chemistry (IHC) technique, if the former is not available^[13]. The threshold of C4d staining intensity is one grade level lower with the IHC technique. In the Banff 2013 meeting, conditional use of electron microscopy (EM) was recommended in certain situations[14-16]. EM study is not done routinely on all kidney allograft biopsies at all centers, but is performed in the case of suspected recurrent or de novo glomerulonephritis, persistent significant but unexplained proteinuria, and for the diagnosis of early chronic changes of allograft rejection such as transplant glomerulopathy and sometimes peritubular capillaries (PTCs). Tissue fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde provides optimum results for transmission EM. Standard techniques are employed for the preparation and interpretation of EM. For the above-mentioned ancillary investigations, the biopsy needs to be divided in such a manner that a minimum number of glomeruli and/or PTCs be present in specimens apportioned for IF and EM to maximize their utility. Ideally, this should be done in the biopsy suite under the dissection microscope while the specimen is fresh. Tissue samples should then be placed in appropriate fixatives for respective studies. Although not mandatory, IHC for polyomavirus is recommended on all renal allograft biopsies to help detect early viral lesions. In brief, the pathologic evaluation of kidney allograft biopsies has evolved from pure LM to ancillary techniques of IHC, IF, EM, and more recently, molecular studies to accurately diagnose transplant pathology lesions.

COMPONENTS OF THE BANFF CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM

The foundation of the Banff classification system is centered on the morphological evaluation of kidney allograft tissue comprising four basic components. Each of these components can be involved in either the acute or chronic disease processes, particularly the rejection process. The Banff process identified and defined the lesions of the allograft parenchyma in a systemic and semi-quantitative way (Table 2). Thus, the components of the Banff classification system can conveniently be grouped as: (1) Definitions of various components or lesions; (2) Diagnostic lesions; (3) Semiquantitative scoring of the lesions; (4) Additional diagnostic features; and (5) The diagnostic categories (Figure 1). None of the individual lesions, in isolation, except possibly for intimal arteritis, is diagnostic of the rejection process. A combination of the lesions along with scores above some threshold value is needed to make a specific diagnosis. It is important to be thoroughly familiar with all these components of the Banff classification in order to reliably and precisely apply it in clinical or research settings[9]. Some important diagnostic lesions are illustrated in Figures 2-4.

TIMELINE OF THE EVOLUTIONARY CHANGES IN THE BANFF CLASSIFICATION

The year 2021 marked the 30th anniversary of the beginning of the Banff classification process for standardized reporting of renal allograft pathological lesions. However, XVth biennial Banff meeting that was to be held that year was postponed and held in 2022 due to the coronavirus disease 2019 situation[6]. It is befitting to review the evolution of the Banff classification, its strengths and limitations, future prospects, and opportunities. It will be more convenient if we divide the evolution of the Banff classification into three decade-wise eras, as below.

FIRST DECADE: DEVELOPMENT AND RECONCILIATION

The first decade may be called the decade of development and reconciliation/integration of the Banff classification, the latter with a rival classification developed in the United States called the Collaborative Clinical Trials in Transplantation (CCTT) modification of the classification [17]. This merger was the most significant achievement during the first decade as it paved the way for a single uniformly agreed-upon international classification for renal allograft pathology[6]. Three main and full papers on the classification were published during this decade, two of which became popular, the first was published in 1993 and the second in 1999. During this decade, the main focus of classification schema was on the cellular part of the rejection [18-20]. In fact, this category was named acute rejection without further qualification. Later on, it was changed to acute/active cellular and still later, acute/active T-cell mediated rejection (TCMR). The role of antibodies



Mubarak M et al. Banff kidney pathology classification evolution

Table 2 Banff reporting standardization template according to the Banff 2019 meeting						
Components of the allograft	Acute lesions	Scoring as 0, 1, 2, 3	Chronic lesions	Scoring as 0, 1, 2, 3	Acute & chronic lesions	Scoring as 0, 1, 2, 3
Glomeruli	g	-	cg	-		
Interstitium	i	-	ci	-	ti, i-IFTA	-
Tubules	t	-	ct	-	t-IFTA	-
Vessels	v	-	cv	-		
Peritubular capillaries	ptc	-	ptcml	-		
C4d	C4d	-				

C4d: Linear staining in peritubular capillaries or medullary vasa recta either by immunofluorescence on frozen sections of fresh frozen tissue or immunohistochemistry on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue; cg: Chronic glomerulopathy (transplant glomerulopathy); ci: Interstitial fibrosis involving the cortex; ct: Tubular atrophy in the cortex; cv: Arterial intimal fibrosis (fibrointimal thickening); g: Glomerulitis; i: Inflammation in the non-scarred cortex; i-IFTA: Inflammation in the scarred cortex; ptc: Peritubular capillaritis; ptcml: Peritubular capillary basement membrane multilayering (requires EM for detection); t: Tubulitis in cortical tubules within the non-scarred cortex; t: Total cortical inflammation, including scarred and non-scarred cortex; t-IFTA: Tubulitis in mildly to moderately atrophic tubules within the scarred cortex; v: Arteritis (intimal to transmural arteritis).



Figure 1 Basic components and construct of the Banff classification system. The content of the Banff classification can be cataloged into definitions, pathologic lesions, their semi-quantitative scoring, and a combination of these lesions to construct the diagnostic categories.



DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.221 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Representative acute Banff diagnostic lesions for rejection and their scores. A: There is diffuse interstitial inflammation (i3) along with interstitial edema. The later lesion, although important when present, is not formally included in the Banff classification system. Foci of mild tubulitis (t1) are also seen (arrows). These are better visualized on Period acid-Schiff stain [hematoxylin and eosin (H&E), × 200]; B: This field shows glomerulitis (g1) (black arrow) and intimal arteritis (v1) (orange arrow) in addition to i3 and interstitial edema. Such findings raise the suspicion of mixed antibody-mediated and T cell-mediated rejection (H&E, × 200).

beyond the immediate post-transplant period was not formally recognized during this decade, although studies were going on this subject. The workup of renal allograft biopsy was based on morphologic examination alone. The adequacy criteria for renal allograft biopsy were made more stringent in Banff 1997 classification but were still limited to the morphological study of the biopsy material.

Beishidena® WJT https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.221 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Acute Banff diagnostic lesions of microvascular inflammation. A: There is segmental glomerulitis (g1) (arrows) along with diffuse interstitial inflammation (i3) in the background [hematoxylin and eosin (H&E), × 400]; B: Peritubular capillaritis (ptc) score ptc 2 (black arrow). ptc is one of the key lesions of antibody-mediated rejection. Patchy interstitial edema, and inflammation with a few plasma cells (orange arrows) are seen in the background (H&E, × 400).



DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.221 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Diagnostic lesions. A: Acute Banff lesion of glomerulitis. There is segmental glomerulitis (g1) (arrows) characterized by mononuclear inflammatory cell infiltration and endothelial cell enlargement resulting in partial to complete occlusion of capillary lumena. Glomerulitis is one of the key lesions of antibody-mediated rejection. (Period acid-Schiff, ×400); B Morphologic features of mixed antibody-mediated and T cell-mediated rejection with both acute and chronic lesions. There is almost global glomerulitis (yellow arrows) with segmental foci of glomerular basement membrane thickening (blue arrows) suggestive of early transplant glomerulopathy along with diffuse interstitial inflammation (i3) (orange arrows) and peritubular capillaritis (black arrows). An artery included shows severe intimal fibrous thickening (neo-intima formation) without duplication of elastica, (Period acid-Schiff, ×200); C: Mixed acute and chronic Banff diagnostic lesions of rejection. There is segmental glomerulitis (black arrow), peritubular capillaritis (orange arrows), and foci of tubulitis in mildly to moderately atrophic tubules within the scarred cortex (yellow arrows) (Jones Methenamine Silver, ×400).

SECOND DECADE: ANTIBODY-MEDIATED REJECTION

During this decade, the focus of the Banff classification was shifted to the development of the pathologic criteria and their refinement for a conclusive diagnosis of antibody-mediated rejection (AMR) beyond the immediate post-transplant period. Starting from the 2001 Banff meeting, the attention of the transplant community was shifted to the increasing recognition of the role of alloantibodies in causing allograft rejection. During the 2001 Banff meeting, pathologic criteria were formulated for the first time for a definitive diagnosis of AMR in the acute setting, *i.e.* beyond the immediate posttransplant period[12]. These included not only the morphologic criteria but also immunopathologic and serologic criteria. This led to the evolution of the Banff classification to a multidisciplinary schema. The adequacy of tissue was expanded to a portion of tissue for C4d staining and an optional tissue sample for EM study. In the 2005 Banff meeting, criteria for the diagnosis of chronic active AMR were formulated, thus recognizing the full spectrum of antibody-mediated injury[21]. With the widespread application of these criteria in clinical practice, it became obvious that not all forms of AMR are C4d positive. Hence, the need arose for a subtype of AMR to be introduced in the Banff classification, i.e. C4d-negative AMR, which was introduced in the Banff 2009 meeting[22]. From Banff 2001 to Banff 2011 meetings, only diffuse C4d staining (C4d3), involving more than 50% of PTCs, was recognized as fulfilling the immunopathologic criterion for AMR[23]. In the Banff 2013 meeting, focal (c4d2: 10%-50%) staining of PTCs for C4d was also accepted, as it was also associated with donor-specific antibodies (DSAs) and reduced allograft survival [14]. BWGs were also created during the 2009 Banff meeting for addressing the problematic areas of the Banff classification for evidence-based investigations and solutions [22].

Raisbideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

THIRD DECADE: REFINEMENTS AND INTEGRATIONS

During this decade, further clarifications and refinements were made in the diagnostic criteria and classification of chronic active AMR and TCMR[14,24-27]. The thresholds of some of the lesions were re-defined[14]. Integrations of ancillary techniques of IHC, EM, and molecular studies were recommended for an accurate diagnosis and classification of rejection processes. Digital pathology (DP) and artificial intelligence (AI) tools were explored for their possible role in predicting, diagnosing, and prognosticating kidney allograft pathology[25,26].

Following a brief overview of the decade-wise evolution of the overall classification schema, it is now appropriate to discuss the evolutionary changes of the Banff classification according to individual diagnostic categories in some detail. The names of categories have changed many times. Here, we use the most representative name of the category, which may not be necessarily the same as in the latest Banff classification, the 2019 Banff classification.

Banff category 1: Normal biopsy or nonspecific changes

This is the first category of the original Banff construct and is still so. The definition of this category is self-explanatory. In fact, this category is a diagnosis of exclusion, which implies that not only the graft parenchyma should be free of inflammatory cell infiltration, but it should also show no features of acute tubular injury (ATI) or acute tubular necrosis. Taken at its face value, this category appears superfluous. The rationale behind using and retaining this category seems to be the unavoidable consequence of an overenthusiastic biopsy approach. In some centers, allograft biopsies are performed too quickly or for transient rises in serum creatinine, such that the morphological lesions are either not fully expressed or there is a cause of allograft dysfunction outside of the graft parenchyma. In some instances, sampling error may account for the normal appearances of the sampled cores, especially when the rise in serum creatinine is of an appreciable degree. This is the only category of the Banff classification that cannot be diagnosed in concurrence with any other category.

No significant changes have occurred in this category except for a name change from the "Normal" in the 1993 report through to the 2013 paper to the "Normal biopsy or nonspecific changes" in the 2015 Banff report[10,23,24]. The prevalence of this category in renal allograft biopsies should ideally be low.

Banff category 2: Antibody-mediated changes

Although the founders of the Banff classification recognized the importance of alloantibodies in causing allograft injury right from the beginning of the development of the classification and category 2 was devoted to alloantibodies in the original classification, their full scope was not fully known at that time[28-31]. The role of antibodies was initially thought to be limited only to the immediate post-transplant period[10,11]. With increasing experience and the resulting accumulating evidence, this notion proved to be incorrect and this category has undergone dramatic changes including its nomenclature during the three decades of the evolution of the Banff classification (Figure 5A).

A number of factors contributed to this increased focus on AMR: (1) Increased recognition of the condition as a result of identification of a highly sensitive and equally specific biomarker of AMR, *i.e.* C4d and subsequently some relatively specific pathological features of AMR; (2) A better understanding of the roles and techniques for the detection of antidonor antibodies; (3) Increasing numbers of re-transplants, *i.e.* second or third transplants; and (4) Increased rates of transplantations across ABO and other immunologic barriers as a result of a shortage of donor organs.

Before discussing the changes in the Banff category of AMR at length, it seems prudent to discuss briefly the pathophysiology of AMR. The main target of AMR is the endothelial cell lining the vascular system, most notably those lining the microcirculation (glomeruli and PTCs in the kidney), but larger arteries may also be targeted. This is comprehensible as the alloantibodies are found in the bloodstream and they first encounter the endothelium of the blood vessels and interact with it. The intensity and nature of the subsequent pathological lesions are variable and depend on many factors including antibody type[32].

The terminology of the category has changed many times, as depicted in Table 3. These changes were necessitated by changing knowledge and accumulating evidence of the role of antibodies in causing allograft injury. In the Banff 93 classification, the category was named hyperacute rejection (HAR). The reason behind this was that, at that time, antibodies were thought to be responsible for causing only this particular type of rejection. In the Banff 97 classification, the category was renamed "antibody-mediated rejection" and divided on clinical grounds into two categories depending on their presentation, as shown in Table 3. HAR and accelerated acute rejections have fortunately become exceedingly rare nowadays. As a result, the Banff classification dropped these terms from the subsequent revised versions. In contrast to cellular rejection, antibodies themselves are not easily visualized in the kidney allograft biopsy tissue. Hence, identification of their role beyond the immediate post-transplant period required the discovery and use of some biomarkers of antibody action. The discovery of C4d in 1993 was such a transformative marker, which prompted research into the role of alloantibodies in allograft rejection[33-39]. In the Banff 2001 meeting, the role of antibodies was recognized in acute settings also, *i.e.* beyond the immediate post-transplant period[12]. In this meeting, for the first time, the pathological criteria were developed for the diagnosis of acute AMR and types of AMR were described. This marked the debut of not only the ancillary technique of C4d staining but also incorporated serology in the Banff classification system, making it a multidisciplinary classification[12]. In the Banff 2005 meeting, diagnostic criteria were developed for chronic AMR including the lesions of transplant glomerulopathy (cg), PTC basement membrane multilayering (ptcml), and transplant arteriopathy (cv)[21]. From the Banff 2007 meeting onwards, the name of this category was changed to antibodymediated changes, instead of AMR, as it had been shown in experimental studies that not all antibodies cause rejection but some of the antibodies may be involved in accommodation and the full spectrum of antibody actions and outcome on graft tissue was being explored[40,41]. Thus, the present terminology reflects the broad spectrum of actions that can be mediated by antibodies in the graft, many of which still remain to be explored.

Zaisbideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com



Table 3 Main changes in the nomenclature and classification of antibody-mediated rejection in the Banff classification over three decades of evolution (1991 to 2019)

Meeting reports, year	Category 2: Antibody-mediated rejection ¹
Banff, 1993	Hyperacute rejection
Banff, 1997	AMR ³
	Hyperacute
	Accelerated acute ³
Banff, 1997 update (2001)	Diagnostic criteria for acute antibody-mediated rejection were developed. Three types were described as: (1) Types I: ATN-like ³ ; (2) Types II: Capillary ³ ; and (3) Type III: Arterial ³
Banff, 2005	Diagnostic criteria for chronic antibody-mediated rejection were developed
Banff, 2007	Antibody-mediated changes ^{2,3}
	C4d deposition without rejection ³
	Acute antibody-mediated rejection
	Chronic active ³ antibody-mediated rejection
Banff, 2013	Antibody-mediated changes
	Acute/active antibody-mediated rejection
	Chronic active antibody-mediated rejection
	C4d-negative antibody ³ -mediated rejection
Banff, 2015	Antibody-mediated changes
	Acute/active ³ antibody-mediated rejection
	Chronic active antibody-mediated rejection
	C4d staining without evidence of rejection
	Transplant arteriopathy may be seen in chronic AMR
Banff, 2017	Antibody-mediated changes
	Active ³ AMR
	Chronic active AMR
	C4d staining without evidence of rejection
	3 criteria for AMR diagnosis remain but C4d can substitute for DSA
	DSA testing still advised
	Suspicious for AMR eliminated
Banff, 2019	Category 2: Antibody-mediated changes
	Active AMR
	Chronic active AMR
	Chronic (inactive) AMR ³
	C4d staining without evidence of rejection

¹May coincide with categories 3, 4 and 5 and 6;

²With the identification of c4d positivity without rejection, the category name was changed from rejection to changes);

³Changes in the nomenclature or criteria. AMR: Antibody-mediated rejection; ATN: Acute tubular necrosis; DSA: Donor-specific antibody.

With extensive use of c4d in clinical practice, particularly in the protocol biopsies, it was observed that a small number of graft biopsies show c4d positivity in the absence of morphological or clinical features of acute or chronic AMR. Thus, a new subcategory of "C4d deposition without morphologic evidence of active rejection" was added to the Banff classification in 2007[40,41]. Two new lesions of C4d and PTC were also introduced and presented at the 2007 Banff meeting for validation and future incorporation[42].

 Baisbideng®
 WJT
 https://www.wjgnet.com

Mubarak M et al. Banff kidney pathology classification evolution



Figure 5 Diagram depicting the main changes with the timeline. A: In the category of antibody-mediated rejection (AMR); B: In the category of T cellmediated rejection (TCMR). DSA: Donor-specific antibody; i-IFTA: Inflammation in the scarred cortex.

From Banff 2001 to Banff 2011, only diffuse C4d staining (c4d3) on IF, involving more than 50% of PTCs, was recognized as fulfilling the immunopathologic requirement for AMR, which was amended in the Banff 2013 meeting to accept focal (c4d2: Staining 10%-50% of PTCs) PTC staining as it was shown to correlate with DSA and decreased allograft survival[14].

The second major modification in the AMR category took place in the Banff 2013 meeting[13]. Any degree of v (v > 0)was incorporated in the morphologic criteria for active AMR in contrast to the previous requirement of v3 in light of new studies[43,44]. The absolute condition (criterion 2) for PTC C4d staining for the definite diagnosis of active and chronic active AMR, was supplanted by the criterion of "Evidence of the recent/current interaction of alloantibody with the microvascular endothelium", the latter including C4d but alternatively a minimum of moderate microvascular inflammation (g + ptc \geq 2) or amplified expression of validated gene transcripts in the biopsy material suggestive of endothelial injury[45-50]. This signaled the first incorporation of molecular diagnostics into the Banff classification[13]. With these additional criteria, many studies showed that a substantial number of AMR cases were C4d negative[51,52]. Thus, the subcategory of C4d-negative AMR was included in the classification at this meeting. The significance of this change can be judged by the fact that this inclusion was incorporated in the title of the paper of the 2013 Banff meeting[13]. In addition, at the Banff 2013 meeting, the minimum thresholds for glomerulitis score (g1) and chronic glomerulopathy by LM (cg1) were revisited based on results of BWG data showing better interobserver reproducibility with the revised criteria. The potential role of EM in the diagnostic evaluation of kidney allograft biopsies was also emphasized, with the inclusion of precise criteria for ptcml to augment the specificity of this pattern for chronic AMR and the inclusion of a new subtype of cg by EM exclusively (cg1a)[53,54].

In the Banff 2019 meeting, a subtype of chronic AMR, i.e. chronic inactive AMR was also introduced, as it could be diagnosed on kidney allograft biopsies [26]. Of note, there is no category of chronic (inactive) in TCMR. There is no provision for borderline changes (BCs) in the AMR category, but diagnostic thresholds do apply. The diagnosis of 'suspicious for AMR (sAMR)" was finally removed from the Banff 2017 classification.

In summary, considerable progress has been made in the category of AMR. Molecular studies have been officially incorporated in the Banff classification for diagnosis of this category only. The absolute requirement for C4d its diagnosis has been eliminated. The requirement of DSA is also not absolute. sAMR has been removed from the classification.

Banff category 3: BCs

The original Banff classification recognized a category of BCs in reporting the renal allograft pathological lesions and the category is still there even after 30 years of refinements and evolution of the classification. This category encompasses only the tubulointerstitial type of rejection and is used when there is mild (i1) to severe (i3) interstitial inflammation but the tubulitis is of mild degree only (t1) or vice versa and no arteritis is present (v0). The true clinical significance of this lesion is still contentious and is largely determined by the clinical context of the case [55-62]. Some of the factors that may determine its clinical relevance include the source of the donor organ, time post-transplant, and the indication and timing of kidney allograft biopsies. Most of the studies on this category have been carried out in deceased donor transplantation programs[56-62]. Only a few studies are available on the clinical relevance of this finding in the live-related renal transplant setting[63,64].



The criteria for the diagnosis of BCs have changed little over time and essentially consist of any combination of interstitial inflammation (i) and tubulitis (t) scores below the threshold level required for the diagnosis of rejection, *i.e.* "i2, t2". The original criteria for the borderline category were developed at the Banff 1991 meeting, describing it as a "very mild" form of acute rejection lacking intimal arteritis (v0) and having only mild to moderate patchy mononuclear interstitial inflammatory cell infiltration (i1 or i2) with foci of mild tubulitis (t1; 1 to 4 mononuclear cells per tubular cross-section). In this initial classification, "no treatment" was suggested[10]. In 2005, the Banff group suggested the expansion of the "BC" category to include lesions with minimal interstitial inflammatory cell infiltration (i0) to i3 with t0 or t1 or t2, t3 with i0, i1[21]. This was further confirmed in the Banff 2007 meeting[42]. However, the minimum threshold of BC was restored to "i1, t1" in the Banff 2019 meeting, as longitudinal studies by Nankivell *et al*[65] showed no effect of isolated "t" on allograft survival.

The reported frequency of this category varies widely and ranges from 46% to 74 % on dysfunctional kidney allograft biopsies performed at different time points after transplantation[66,67]. This category is also most problematic from the point of view of the treatment. In reality, this category does not represent a true pathophysiological phenomenon. It represents a heterogeneous category of lesions encompassing pathophysiological processes with minimal, nonspecific, insignificant inflammation to clinically important TCMR, capable of immune-mediated allograft injury resulting in poor immunological, functional, and histological outcomes if not treated[55-58]. This category has been created primarily because of varying clinical criteria and the timing of kidney allograft biopsies. In an ideal world, an allograft biopsy should be categorized as rejection or no rejection, but in practice, it is not always so clear-cut. As the biological process of rejection is a gradual and patchy process, it takes time to develop full-blown features of rejection. If a biopsy is performed very early during the development of rejection, the pathological lesions will not have reached the threshold of diagnosis of rejection, and will inevitably be classified as a BC category. It is hoped that in near future this category will be eliminated with the incorporation of better diagnostic markers, particularly, molecular markers.

Banff category 4: Acute rejection (acute/active TCMR)

The spectrum of TCMR, as it is now officially called, was defined from the origin of the classification as the Banff diagnostic category 4 and now includes acute TCMR, grades IA, IB, IIA, IIB, and III, and chronic active TCMR (CA TCMR), grades IA, IB and II. There are no subgrades of grade II and no grade III in CA TCMR[26]. In addition, there is no subtype of chronic (inactive) in the category of TCMR, as is true for AMR. Category 4 is separated from category 3 by a threshold of i2, t2 and any v. Banff diagnostic categories 3 and 4 are mutually exclusive but can be diagnosed concurrently with other lesions from categories 2, 5, and 6.

In the previous iterations of the Banff schema, the main emphasis was on the diagnosis and classification of acute rejection, which essentially implied TCMR. This focus on cellular rejection dominated the transplant pathology field and subdued the recognition and characterization of AMR for quite some time during the earlier period of the Banff classification. On the other contrary, the category of cellular rejection lagged behind AMR in undergoing modifications till the very recent past. The most important changes in this category took place during the 1997 Banff meeting (Table 4). Thereafter, this category remained fairly stable and immune to changes except for minor nomenclature changes. More recent Banff updates have made some modifications to the morphological criteria and subdivision of this category (Figure 5B).

As alluded to earlier, the main emphasis of the first Banff classification was on the accurate diagnosis and classification of acute rejection, which essentially included acute cellular rejection. As this type of rejection is characterized by the infiltration of mononuclear cells into the allograft parenchyma, its diagnosis was relatively easy and obvious in most cases. The main targets of cellular rejection are the tubules, interstitium, and larger blood vessels. Microcirculation inflammation is rarely observed in this type of rejection[10,11,68-75]. The Banff classification introduced for the first time a minimum threshold (*i.e.* i2, t2) for the definitive diagnosis of acute cellular rejection of tubulointerstitial type or type I rejection. This separated it from the category of BCs in the cellular alloimmune lesions. There is no BC category for vascular or type II and type III rejections and the presence of even one lymphocyte in the intima is sufficient to diagnose vascular rejection. Early Banff classifications also emphasized the importance of the topographic location of the inflammatory cell infiltrate in the biopsy[10,11].

The nomenclature of this category has changed from acute rejection to acute cellular rejection to TCMR over the years reciprocating the changes in category 2 of AMR, as shown in Table 4 and Figure 3. With regard to the classification of TCMR, the first Banff classification divided acute rejection into three "grades" based on the increasing severity of the allograft damage, as shown in Table 4. These were: Grade I (mild), grade II (moderate), and grade III (severe) (Table 4). This classification lumped together both the tubulointerstitial and vascular rejections in grade II. It may be noted that this subdivision was based purely on a morphological or pathological basis with little consideration of the underlying pathogenetic basis of rejection. As mentioned earlier, the first main change in this category was effected in the Banff 97 meeting, when pathologists using the original Banff 93 classification and its CCTT modification got together and merged the two classifications to develop a unified and international consensus-based Banff 97 classification with substantial input from the CCTT classification, which stressed the pathogenetic foundation for the categorization of cellular rejection [4,5,10,11]. The Banff 97 classification divided acute/active rejection into "types" and subtypes rather than grades (Table 4). The main modifications in the Banff 97 classification included the segregation of type I (tubulointerstitial) rejection from vascular (type II) rejection. Type III rejection was categorized separately as in the Banff 93 classification (Table 4). This merger signified the adaptability of the Banff group to incorporate the observations of pathologists using CCTT modification and also embrace the emerging evidence from newer investigations showing that vasculitis per se has significant consequences for the response to treatment and/or graft survival[35,36].

Table 4 Main changes in the nomenclature and classification of T cell-mediated rejection in the Banff classification over three decades of evolution (1991 to 2019)

Meeting reports, year	Category 4: T cell-mediated rejection
Banff, 1993	Acute rejection, grades I, II, III
Banff, 1997	Acute/ active cellular rejection
	Types ² I A/B, II A/B, III
Banff, 1997 update (2001)	Acute/ active cellular rejection
	Types I A/B, II A/B, III
Banff, 2005	TCMR ²
	Acute, types ² I A/B, II A/B, III
	Chronic active ² (includes only transplant arteriopathy)
Banff, 2007	TCMR
	Acute
	Chronic active (includes only transplant arteriopathy)
Banff, 2013	TCMR
	Acute
	Chronic active (includes only transplant arteriopathy)
Banff, 2015	TCMR
	Acute
	Chronic active TCMR may have tubulointerstitial changes ²
Banff, 2017	TCMR
	Acute
	Chronic active TCMR grades I A/B and II defined
Banff, 2019	i-IF/TA and t-IF/TA included in criteria ² (inflammation and tubulitis in areas of scarring)
	In chronic active TCMR with i >1, diagnosis to be combined chronic active and acute TCMR ²

¹May coincide with categories 3, 4 and 5 and 6;

²Changes in the nomenclature or criteria. i-IFTA: Inflammation in the scarred cortex; TCMR: T cell mediated rejection; t-IFTA: Tubulitis in mildly to moderately atrophic tubules within the scarred cortex.

In the Banff 97-update published in 2003 (from the Banff 2001 meeting), with profound and far-reaching changes in the category of AMR, the category of acute/active rejection was rechristened as acute/active cellular rejection (ACR), to underscore its distinction from AMR. Its types and subtypes, however, remained unchanged from the Banff 97 classification. The name of the category was again changed to TCMR in the Banff 2005 update (Table 4). On this occasion, it was further categorized into acute TCMR, which now encompassed all the subtypes of ACR of the Banff 97-update, and CA TCMR. The latter was diagnosed by the presence of chronic allograft arteriopathy only till the 2017 Banff meeting, characterized by new-onset arterial fibrointimal thickening with mononuclear cell infiltration in fibrosis, and the creation of neo-intima. Compared to previous iterations of the Banff classification, the Banff 2007 classification added a new "i" lesion score, labeled as "ti" (total interstitial inflammation score) to the schema[34,76-81]. Not much was changed in the criteria for diagnosis or classification of cellular rejection during the Banff 2009, Banff 2011, and Banff 2013 meetings. In the Banff meeting of 2015, it was realized and acknowledged that CA TCMR may manifest itself with tubulointerstitial inflammation in the form of inflammation in areas of scarred cortex (i-IFTA) in addition to arterial lesions[24]. However, detailed criteria and formal inclusion of CA TCMR were not affected till the 2017 meeting[25]. In the 2019 meeting, tubulitis in mildly to moderately atrophic tubules within the scarred cortex (t-IFTA) was also added as the diagnostic criterion for CA TCMR in addition to i-IFTA and ti scores. Thus, CA TCMR was divided into two types, in contrast to three types in acute TCMR. These types were: Types IA and IB and type II. A provision was also made for the diagnosis of borderline CA TCMR if the diagnostic criteria of CA TCMR types IA and IB were not fulfilled[26]. Banff 2019 also allows concurrent diagnosis of acute and CA TCMR, especially in the presence of intimal arteritis in association with acute TCMR types IA and IB[6,26].

It is obvious from the above deliberations that the mainstay for the diagnosis and classification of cellular rejection has remained and is still so the LM evaluation of allograft biopsy material with little help from the ancillary techniques of IHC or EM. More recently, molecular markers have shown promising results for a conclusive diagnosis of acute cellular

Raishideng® WJT https://www.wjgnet.com

rejection in single-center studies [82-84]. These need to be validated in large, multicenter trials and the methodology needs to be standardized before they can be used widely in clinical practice. These represent the current challenges for the Banff classification system. The molecular information may be integrated with the histomorphological findings in the Banff classification in the future to improve the accuracy of diagnosis and classification of rejection, particularly borderline and CA TCMR cases[85-93].

Banff category 5: Interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy, no evidence of any specific etiology

This category of Banff classification of kidney allograft pathology was created to diagnose, classify, and grade (or stage) chronic fibrosing changes of kidney allografts resulting from a variety of causes[94]. Historically, many important changes took place in this category over the past three decades of the evolution of the Banff classification process. In the Banff 2019 meeting, this category has been replaced by polyomavirus nephropathy [26]. The rationale behind this change is that this category seems to be redundant in the absence of a plausible cause. The Banff schema stresses the need to determine the etiology of chronic changes whenever possible[21]. Moreover, chronic subtypes have been added to both types of rejection over the last two decades of evolution.

It seems appropriate to briefly summarize the evolution of the nomenclature and classification of chronic sclerosing lesions in the Banff schema, which are reflective of a continued and improved understanding of the pathophysiology of these lesions (Table 5). During the pre-Banff era, the term "chronic rejection" was utilized for all forms of chronic allograft dysfunction. This approach was an oversimplification, in that chronic changes in the allograft parenchyma are caused not only by alloimmune factors but also by non-immune factors and a distinction among these is important for tailored treatment. The Banff system put forward the nomenclature of "chronic allograft nephropathy (CAN)" in 1991 as a noncommittal alternative to the then prevalent and confusing designation of "chronic rejection". The Banff 93 schema categorized CAN into three grades of increasing severity based on the degree of interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (IFTA)[10]. No subdivision of the CAN grades was made and all etiologies of chronic changes were combined together in this unified category. In addition, many histomorphological patterns of, for example, chronic AMR, were not discovered at that time. In the Banff 1995 meeting, the chronic allograft damage index was merged with the CAN group to grade the severity of chronic changes. However, no subdivision of CAN was made in this update of the classification. In the Banff 97 meeting, an effort was made toward subclassifying chronic changes in the allograft and identifying and documenting the changes caused by the rejection processes. A subclassification of each of the grades of chronic changes into "a" and "b" categories was attempted depending on the absence or presence of obvious features associated with "chronic rejection", respectively. The 3-tier grading of the CAN entity remained the same as in previous classifications[11]. No modifications in the terminology or grading of CAN were attempted in the 97-update classification (Banff 2001 meeting) or the Banff 2003 meeting reports[12].

A significant modification in the category of chronic sclerosing changes was effected in the Banff 2005 meeting when the terminology of CAN was abolished and substituted by the term "interstitial fibrosis/tubular atrophy (IFTA)", with no evidence of specific etiology[21]. The etiologic groups of "a" subcategory of CAN in the previous classifications were relocated to the "other" category, while the chronic allo-immune causes were moved to the respective categories of AMR and TCMR as chronic active or chronic (inactive) types. Thus, category 5 in the Banff 2005 report and all succeeding updates (till 2019), included only those forms of chronic changes for which no specific etiological findings were found on the biopsy (Table 5). In the 2019 Banff classification, the category of IFTA has been eliminated and replaced by polyomavirus nephropathy, as shown in Table 5.

It is worth highlighting here that category 5 of the Banff classification can co-exist with any other types of renal allograft pathology, except category 1, which is normal. It is important to record and report both the acute and chronic pathological changes on the biopsies to guide therapy and determine the prognosis.

In summary, the nomenclature, categorization, and subcategorization of chronic changes have undergone substantial alterations over the past three decades of the Banff consensus classification. Of late, the focus was on identifying the early specific features relevant to causes of chronic allograft damage, so that their progression may be halted with intervention. This was somewhat facilitated by the ancillary techniques of IHC and EM. In the latest published 2019 Banff meeting report, this category has been eliminated altogether.

IMPLICATIONS OF ALLOGRAFT BIOPSY FOR CLINICIANS AND OTHER TRANSPLANT CARE TEAM MEMBERS

Renal allograft biopsy is a valuable diagnostic and prognostic tool in the hands of clinicians for evaluating the structural and functional status of the kidney allograft. It can provide important information about the underlying cause of graft dysfunction or rejection. Studies have shown that renal allograft biopsies change the clinical diagnosis in an average of 36% (24%-47%) of cases and treatment in 59% of cases. However, because only a tiny amount of kidney tissue is obtained during the biopsy, several limitations and shortcomings exist in the extent to which renal allograft biopsies can prove useful. A close liaison between the clinicians and nephropathology laboratory will go a long way in overcoming many of these shortcomings[13]. According to studies, the sensitivity of diagnosis of rejection is 90% with one core of tissue and it increases to 99% when two cores are obtained [95-102]. Apart from the above-mentioned inherent sampling error, it is well known that there can be interobserver variability among nephropathologists in interpreting renal allograft biopsies. It can arise due to variations in individual expertise, experience, training, and personal judgment. Many studies have documented the occurrence of interobserver variability in renal pathology, including the interpretation of allograft biopsies[103-112]. Sometimes, the biopsy has to be repeated in view of the above considerations, particularly when the

Table 5 Main changes in the nomenclature and classification of chronic changes of the allograft in the Banff classification over three
decades of evolution (1991 to 2019)

Meeting reports, year	Category 5: Chronic allograft nephropathy
Banff, 1993	CAN, grades, I, II, III
Banff, 1997	CAN, grades, I, II, III, each divided into a and b subcategories ¹
Banff, 1997 update (2001)	CAN, grades, I, II, III, a and b
Banff, 2005	IFTA, of no specific etiology ¹ , grades I, II, III
Banff, 2007	IFTA of no specific etiology, grades I, II, III
Banff, 2013	IFTA of no specific etiology, grades I, II, III
Banff, 2015	IFTA of no specific etiology, grades I, II, III
Banff, 2017	IFTA of no specific etiology, grades I, II, III
Banff, 2019	Grading of polyoma viral nephropathy into classes 1, 2 and 3 (adequate sampling for scoring should include 2 cores with medulla) 1

¹Changes in the nomenclature or criteria. CAN: Chronic allograft nephropathy; IFTA: Interstitial fibrosis/tubular atrophy.

biopsy findings do not match the clinical picture. Furthermore, it is to be noted that the interobserver variability is not uniform for all the pathological lesions observed on renal allograft biopsies. For some lesions, the interobserver agreement is good, e.g., ATI, interstitial fibrosis, and vascular changes are often more easily recognized and agreed upon by pathologists, leading to higher concordance in their interpretation. On the other hand, certain pathological patterns may be more challenging and prone to interobserver variability. For instance, the diagnosis and grading of TCMR, AMR, or BCs can sometimes be subjective and require expert judgment. These categories of pathological lesions often involve evaluating subtle changes in cellular infiltrates, glomerular lesions, or peritubular capillaritis, which can lead to differences in interpretation among pathologists.

It is important to recognize that considerable efforts have been made to minimize this variability. Quality control measures such as consensus conferences, panel discussions, and standardized reporting systems have been implemented to improve agreement among pathologists. For instance, the Banff classification system is widely used to grade and classify various pathological findings in renal allograft biopsies. This standardized approach helps in enhancing the reproducibility and consistency of pathological interpretations. In addition, advancements in ancillary diagnostic tests, morphometry, DP, and telepathology have allowed for remote consultation and collaboration among experts, further reducing the impact of interobserver variability[113,114].

While interobserver variability remains a consideration, renal allograft biopsy continues to be an essential diagnostic tool in clinical practice. It provides valuable information for guiding treatment decisions, assessing the severity of graft dysfunction, monitoring for rejection, and identifying other causes of kidney dysfunction. Collaborative efforts, standardized criteria, and ongoing advancements in the field aim to improve the reliability and credibility of renal allograft biopsy interpretations.

The turnaround time for reporting a renal allograft biopsy varies depending on several factors, including the urgency of the clinical situation, the workload of the pathology laboratory, and the complexity of the biopsy specimen. In general, the time frame for reporting renal allograft biopsies can range from a few hours to a few days. However, it's important to note that this is a general estimate and the actual turnaround time varies among different institutions and laboratories. In urgent or critical cases, such as suspected acute rejection or severe graft dysfunction, the pathology laboratory may prioritize the processing and reporting of the biopsy to expedite the diagnosis and facilitate prompt clinical decisionmaking. In such situations, the reporting time is typically shorter, ranging from a few hours (as short as 2-3 h) to 24-48 h, and is based on LM interpretation alone. In the authors' laboratory, LM findings of all renal allograft biopsies are reported within 4-8 h' time. For those cases, where there is no immediate need for urgent intervention, the reporting time is typically longer. This allows pathologists to carefully evaluate the biopsy specimen, conduct any necessary additional testing or staining such as IF, IHC, or EM, and provide a detailed and accurate report.

It is important to note that the clinical decision-making process based on renal allograft biopsy requires a multidisciplinary approach, involving nephrologists, transplant surgeons, pathologists, and other healthcare professionals. In particular, making a clinical decision based on renal allograft biopsy involves a comprehensive evaluation that integrates the pathological findings with clinical information and other relevant diagnostic tests such as imaging studies, drug levels, urine culture, and other laboratory tests. Collaboration and communication among the healthcare team members is the key to providing optimal patient care.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Although major advances have been made in understanding and categorizing kidney allograft pathology during the last



three decades, there are still many problematic areas that remain to be addressed. Issues of sampling errors, reproducibility, borderline category, subclinical rejection, global training and competence, and lack of sensitivity and specificity of morphological features are some such areas[115-118]. Many gaps remain from the diagnostic accuracy and precision point of view, e.g., diagnostic thresholds and BCs. Focused research on molecular diagnostics, DP, AI, machine learning, and deep learning are some of the tools being actively investigated to address these problems[119-123]. Non-invasive serum and urinary molecular markers are also being actively sought for early and reliable identification of the rejection process right from the inception of the injury [124-127]. Integration of these with clinical, laboratory, and biopsy-based investigations may lead to a multimodal diagnostic algorithm for quick and accurate diagnosis for optimal treatment outcomes. Translation of the advancements in pathology diagnostics has yet not been realized into improved long-term graft outcomes.

CONCLUSION

The first 30 years of the Banff classification system have witnessed tremendous progress in understanding, streamlining, and classifying kidney allograft pathology, particularly the rejection. Essentially, the classification has changed from pathology-based to pathogenesis-based and has become clinician-friendly and treatment-friendly. However, many gaps remain from the diagnostic sensitivity point of view, e.g., diagnostic thresholds and BCs. More sophisticated techniques and digital and computational approaches are being actively researched at present to further improve diagnostic accuracy and precision of the classification.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Mubarak M, Raza A, Rashid R and Shakeel S contributed significantly and equally to the preparation of the manuscript, including primary and final drafting; Mubarak M and Raza A conceived and designed the study, and performed the research; All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to disclose.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Pakistan

ORCID number: Muhammed Mubarak 0000-0001-6120-5884; Amber Raza 0009-0000-4901-9501; Rahma Rashid 0000-0002-9332-2644; Shaheera Shakeel 0000-0002-0142-6682.

S-Editor: Wang IJ L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Zhang YL

REFERENCES

- 1 Anyszek A, Wyzgał J, Czyżewski Ł. Long-term Results of Kidney Transplantation: Analysis of Selected Factors. Transplant Proc 2020; 52: 2305-2309 [PMID: 32507485 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2020.03.035]
- 2 Wang JH, Skeans MA, Israni AK. Current Status of Kidney Transplant Outcomes: Dying to Survive. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2016; 23: 281-286 [PMID: 27742381 DOI: 10.1053/j.ackd.2016.07.001]
- 3 Zhang J, Qiu J, Chen GD, Wang CX, Wang C, Yu SJ, Chen LZ. Etiological analysis of graft dysfunction following living kidney transplantation: a report of 366 biopsies. Ren Fail 2018; 40: 219-225 [PMID: 29619905 DOI: 10.1080/0886022X.2018.1455592]
- Solez K. History of the Banff classification of allograft pathology as it approaches its 20th year. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2010; 15: 49-51 4 [PMID: 19949334 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.0b013e328334fedb]
- Solez K, Racusen LC. The Banff classification revisited. Kidney Int 2013; 83: 201-206 [PMID: 23235566 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2012.395] 5
- Loupy A, Mengel M, Haas M. Thirty years of the International Banff Classification for Allograft Pathology: the past, present, and future of 6 kidney transplant diagnostics. Kidney Int 2022; 101: 678-691 [PMID: 34922989 DOI: 10.1016/j.kint.2021.11.028]
- Gowrishankar S. Banff Classification from 1991 to 2019. A Significant Contribution to Our Understanding and Reporting of Allograft Renal 7 Biopsies. Indian J Nephrol 2022; 32: 1-7 [PMID: 35283563 DOI: 10.4103/ijn.IJN_270_20]
- Dhrolia M, Ahmad A. Development of Banff Classification from 1991 to 2019 for identifying renal allograft rejection: A narrative review for 8 nephrologists. J Pak Med Assoc 2022; 72: 1615-1621 [PMID: 36280929 DOI: 10.47391/JPMA.3987]
- 9 Roufosse C, Simmonds N, Clahsen-van Groningen M, Haas M, Henriksen KJ, Horsfield C, Loupy A, Mengel M, Perkowska-Ptasińska A, Rabant M, Racusen LC, Solez K, Becker JU. A 2018 Reference Guide to the Banff Classification of Renal Allograft Pathology. Transplantation 2018; 102: 1795-1814 [PMID: 30028786 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000002366]



- Solez K, Axelsen RA, Benediktsson H, Burdick JF, Cohen AH, Colvin RB, Croker BP, Droz D, Dunnill MS, Halloran PF. International 10 standardization of criteria for the histologic diagnosis of renal allograft rejection: the Banff working classification of kidney transplant pathology. Kidney Int 1993; 44: 411-422 [PMID: 8377384 DOI: 10.1038/ki.1993.259]
- 11 Racusen LC, Solez K, Colvin RB, Bonsib SM, Castro MC, Cavallo T, Croker BP, Demetris AJ, Drachenberg CB, Fogo AB, Furness P, Gaber LW, Gibson IW, Glotz D, Goldberg JC, Grande J, Halloran PF, Hansen HE, Hartley B, Hayry PJ, Hill CM, Hoffman EO, Hunsicker LG, Lindblad AS, Yamaguchi Y. The Banff 97 working classification of renal allograft pathology. Kidney Int 1999; 55: 713-723 [PMID: 9987096 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1999.00299.x]
- Racusen LC, Colvin RB, Solez K, Mihatsch MJ, Halloran PF, Campbell PM, Cecka MJ, Cosyns JP, Demetris AJ, Fishbein MC, Fogo A, 12 Furness P, Gibson IW, Glotz D, Hayry P, Hunsickern L, Kashgarian M, Kerman R, Magil AJ, Montgomery R, Morozumi K, Nickeleit V, Randhawa P, Regele H, Seron D, Seshan S, Sund S, Trpkov K. Antibody-mediated rejection criteria - an addition to the Banff 97 classification of renal allograft rejection. Am J Transplant 2003; 3: 708-714 [PMID: 12780562 DOI: 10.1034/j.1600-6143.2003.00072.x]
- 13 Cimen S, Geldenhuys L, Guler S, Imamoglu A, Molinari M. Impact of specimen adequacy on the assessment of renal allograft biopsy specimens. Braz J Med Biol Res 2016; 49: e5301 [PMID: 27119314 DOI: 10.1590/1414-431X20165301]
- Haas M, Sis B, Racusen LC, Solez K, Glotz D, Colvin RB, Castro MC, David DS, David-Neto E, Bagnasco SM, Cendales LC, Cornell LD, 14 Demetris AJ, Drachenberg CB, Farver CF, Farris AB 3rd, Gibson IW, Kraus E, Liapis H, Loupy A, Nickeleit V, Randhawa P, Rodriguez ER, Rush D, Smith RN, Tan CD, Wallace WD, Mengel M; Banff meeting report writing committee. Banff 2013 meeting report: inclusion of c4dnegative antibody-mediated rejection and antibody-associated arterial lesions. Am J Transplant 2014; 14: 272-283 [PMID: 24472190 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12590]
- Haas M. The Revised (2013) Banff Classification for Antibody-Mediated Rejection of Renal Allografts: Update, Difficulties, and Future 15 Considerations. Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 1352-1357 [PMID: 26696524 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13661]
- Hara S. Banff 2013 update: Pearls and pitfalls in transplant renal pathology. Nephrology (Carlton) 2015; 20 Suppl 2: 2-8 [PMID: 26031578 16 DOI: 10.1111/nep.12474]
- Colvin RB, Cohen AH, Saiontz C, Bonsib S, Buick M, Burke B, Carter S, Cavallo T, Haas M, Lindblad A, Manivel JC, Nast CC, Salomon D, 17 Weaver C, Weiss M. Evaluation of pathologic criteria for acute renal allograft rejection: reproducibility, sensitivity, and clinical correlation. J Am Soc Nephrol 1997; 8: 1930-1941 [PMID: 9402096 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V8121930]
- 18 Hara S. Cell mediated rejection revisited: Past, current, and future directions. Nephrology (Carlton) 2018; 23 Suppl 2: 45-51 [PMID: 29968416 DOI: 10.1111/nep.13283]
- Jeong HJ. Diagnosis of renal transplant rejection: Banff classification and beyond. Kidney Res Clin Pract 2020; 39: 17-31 [PMID: 32164120] 19 DOI: 10.23876/j.krcp.20.003]
- Metter C, Torrealba JR. Pathology of the kidney allograft. Semin Diagn Pathol 2020; 37: 148-153 [PMID: 32249077 DOI: 20 10.1053/j.semdp.2020.03.005]
- Solez K, Colvin RB, Racusen LC, Sis B, Halloran PF, Birk PE, Campbell PM, Cascalho M, Collins AB, Demetris AJ, Drachenberg CB, 21 Gibson IW, Grimm PC, Haas M, Lerut E, Liapis H, Mannon RB, Marcus PB, Mengel M, Mihatsch MJ, Nankivell BJ, Nickeleit V, Papadimitriou JC, Platt JL, Randhawa P, Roberts I, Salinas-Madriga L, Salomon DR, Seron D, Sheaff M, Weening JJ. Banff '05 Meeting Report: differential diagnosis of chronic allograft injury and elimination of chronic allograft nephropathy ('CAN'). Am J Transplant 2007; 7: 518-526 [PMID: 17352710 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01688.x]
- Sis B, Mengel M, Haas M, Colvin RB, Halloran PF, Racusen LC, Solez K, Baldwin WM 3rd, Bracamonte ER, Broecker V, Cosio F, Demetris 22 AJ, Drachenberg C, Einecke G, Gloor J, Glotz D, Kraus E, Legendre C, Liapis H, Mannon RB, Nankivell BJ, Nickeleit V, Papadimitriou JC, Randhawa P, Regele H, Renaudin K, Rodriguez ER, Seron D, Seshan S, Suthanthiran M, Wasowska BA, Zachary A, Zeevi A. Banff '09 meeting report: antibody mediated graft deterioration and implementation of Banff working groups. Am J Transplant 2010; 10: 464-471 [PMID: 20121738 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02987.x]
- Mengel M, Sis B, Haas M, Colvin RB, Halloran PF, Racusen LC, Solez K, Cendales L, Demetris AJ, Drachenberg CB, Farver CF, Rodriguez 23 ER, Wallace WD, Glotz D; Banff meeting report writing committee. Banff 2011 Meeting report: new concepts in antibody-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant 2012; 12: 563-570 [PMID: 22300494 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03926.x]
- Loupy A, Haas M, Solez K, Racusen L, Glotz D, Seron D, Nankivell BJ, Colvin RB, Afrouzian M, Akalin E, Alachkar N, Bagnasco S, Becker 24 JU, Cornell L, Drachenberg C, Dragun D, de Kort H, Gibson IW, Kraus ES, Lefaucheur C, Legendre C, Liapis H, Muthukumar T, Nickeleit V, Orandi B, Park W, Rabant M, Randhawa P, Reed EF, Roufosse C, Seshan SV, Sis B, Singh HK, Schinstock C, Tambur A, Zeevi A, Mengel M. The Banff 2015 Kidney Meeting Report: Current Challenges in Rejection Classification and Prospects for Adopting Molecular Pathology. Am J Transplant 2017; 17: 28-41 [PMID: 27862883 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14107]
- Haas M, Loupy A, Lefaucheur C, Roufosse C, Glotz D, Seron D, Nankivell BJ, Halloran PF, Colvin RB, Akalin E, Alachkar N, Bagnasco S, 25 Bouatou Y, Becker JU, Cornell LD, Duong van Huyen JP, Gibson IW, Kraus ES, Mannon RB, Naesens M, Nickeleit V, Nickerson P, Segev DL, Singh HK, Stegall M, Randhawa P, Racusen L, Solez K, Mengel M. The Banff 2017 Kidney Meeting Report: Revised diagnostic criteria for chronic active T cell-mediated rejection, antibody-mediated rejection, and prospects for integrative endpoints for next-generation clinical trials. Am J Transplant 2018; 18: 293-307 [PMID: 29243394 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14625]
- 26 Loupy A, Haas M, Roufosse C, Naesens M, Adam B, Afrouzian M, Akalin E, Alachkar N, Bagnasco S, Becker JU, Cornell LD, Clahsen-van Groningen MC, Demetris AJ, Dragun D, Duong van Huyen JP, Farris AB, Fogo AB, Gibson IW, Glotz D, Gueguen J, Kikic Z, Kozakowski N, Kraus E, Lefaucheur C, Liapis H, Mannon RB, Montgomery RA, Nankivell BJ, Nickeleit V, Nickerson P, Rabant M, Racusen L, Randhawa P, Robin B, Rosales IA, Sapir-Pichhadze R, Schinstock CA, Seron D, Singh HK, Smith RN, Stegall MD, Zeevi A, Solez K, Colvin RB, Mengel M. The Banff 2019 Kidney Meeting Report (I): Updates on and clarification of criteria for T cell- and antibody-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 2318-2331 [PMID: 32463180 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15898]
- Bissonnette MLZ, Riazy M, Cunningham AM, Gill JS. A Step toward Understanding the Story Behind the Pictures: Molecular Diagnostics 27 and the Banff Classification of Renal Allograft Pathology. J Am Soc Nephrol 2022; 33: 2131-2132 [PMID: 36171053 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2022070847
- Haas M. Evolving criteria for the diagnosis of antibody-mediated rejection in renal allografts. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2018; 27: 137-143 28 [PMID: 29300203 DOI: 10.1097/MNH.00000000000398]
- Jeong HS, Kim DG, Lee ST, Huh KH, Kim YS, Jeong HJ, Lim BJ. Clinical Significance of Revised Banff Criteria in the Diagnosis of 29 Antibody-Mediated Rejection. Transplant Proc 2019; 51: 1488-1490 [PMID: 31053345 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2019.03.012]
- 30 Cornell LD. Histopathologic Features of Antibody Mediated Rejection: The Banff Classification and Beyond. Front Immunol 2021; 12: 718122 [PMID: 34646262 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.718122]



- Mauiyyedi S, Crespo M, Collins AB, Schneeberger EE, Pascual MA, Saidman SL, Tolkoff-Rubin NE, Williams WW, Delmonico FL, Cosimi 31 AB, Colvin RB. Acute humoral rejection in kidney transplantation: II. Morphology, immunopathology, and pathologic classification. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002; 13: 779-787 [PMID: 11856785 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V133779]
- Wang S, Zhang C, Wang J, Yang C, Xu M, Rong R, Zhu T, Zhu D. Endothelial Cells in Antibody-Mediated Rejection of Kidney 32 Transplantation: Pathogenesis Mechanisms and Therapeutic Implications. J Immunol Res 2017; 2017: 8746303 [PMID: 28255564 DOI: 10.1155/2017/8746303]
- Feucht HE, Schneeberger H, Hillebrand G, Burkhardt K, Weiss M, Riethmüller G, Land W, Albert E. Capillary deposition of C4d 33 complement fragment and early renal graft loss. Kidney Int 1993; 43: 1333-1338 [PMID: 8315947 DOI: 10.1038/ki.1993.187]
- 34 Böhmig GA, Exner M, Habicht A, Schillinger M, Lang U, Kletzmayr J, Säemann MD, Hörl WH, Watschinger B, Regele H. Capillary C4d deposition in kidney allografts: a specific marker of alloantibody-dependent graft injury. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002; 13: 1091-1099 [PMID: 11912271 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V1341091]
- 35 Nickeleit V, Zeiler M, Gudat F, Thiel G, Mihatsch MJ. Detection of the complement degradation product C4d in renal allografts: diagnostic and therapeutic implications. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002; 13: 242-251 [PMID: 11752044 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V131242]
- 36 Kedainis RL, Koch MJ, Brennan DC, Liapis H. Focal C4d+ in renal allografts is associated with the presence of donor-specific antibodies and decreased allograft survival. Am J Transplant 2009; 9: 812-819 [PMID: 19344468 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02555.x]
- 37 Seemayer CA, Gaspert A, Nickeleit V, Mihatsch MJ. C4d staining of renal allograft biopsies: a comparative analysis of different staining techniques. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2007; 22: 568-576 [PMID: 17164320 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfl594]
- 38 Mauiyyedi S, Pelle PD, Saidman S, Collins AB, Pascual M, Tolkoff-Rubin NE, Williams WW, Cosimi AB, Schneeberger EE, Colvin RB. Chronic humoral rejection: identification of antibody-mediated chronic renal allograft rejection by C4d deposits in peritubular capillaries. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001; 12: 574-582 [PMID: 11181806 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V123574]
- Regele H, Böhmig GA, Habicht A, Gollowitzer D, Schillinger M, Rockenschaub S, Watschinger B, Kerjaschki D, Exner M. Capillary 39 deposition of complement split product C4d in renal allografts is associated with basement membrane injury in peritubular and glomerular capillaries: a contribution of humoral immunity to chronic allograft rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002; 13: 2371-2380 [PMID: 12191982 DOI: 10.1097/01.asn.0000025780.03790.0f]
- Haas M. The significance of C4d staining with minimal histologic abnormalities. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2010; 15: 21-27 [PMID: 40 19907328 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.0b013e3283342ebd]
- Dominy KM, Willicombe M, Al Johani T, Beckwith H, Goodall D, Brookes P, Cook HT, Cairns T, McLean A, Roufosse C. Molecular 41 Assessment of C4d-Positive Renal Transplant Biopsies Without Evidence of Rejection. Kidney Int Rep 2019; 4: 148-158 [PMID: 30596178 DOI: 10.1016/j.ekir.2018.09.005]
- Solez K, Colvin RB, Racusen LC, Haas M, Sis B, Mengel M, Halloran PF, Baldwin W, Banfi G, Collins AB, Cosio F, David DS, Drachenberg 42 C, Einecke G, Fogo AB, Gibson IW, Glotz D, Iskandar SS, Kraus E, Lerut E, Mannon RB, Mihatsch M, Nankivell BJ, Nickeleit V, Papadimitriou JC, Randhawa P, Regele H, Renaudin K, Roberts I, Seron D, Smith RN, Valente M. Banff 07 classification of renal allograft pathology: updates and future directions. Am J Transplant 2008; 8: 753-760 [PMID: 18294345 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02159.x]
- 43 Lefaucheur C, Loupy A, Vernerey D, Duong-Van-Huyen JP, Suberbielle C, Anglicheau D, Vérine J, Beuscart T, Nochy D, Bruneval P, Charron D, Delahousse M, Empana JP, Hill GS, Glotz D, Legendre C, Jouven X. Antibody-mediated vascular rejection of kidney allografts: a population-based study. Lancet 2013; 381: 313-319 [PMID: 23182298 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61265-3]
- Salazar ID, Merino López M, Chang J, Halloran PF. Reassessing the Significance of Intimal Arteritis in Kidney Transplant Biopsy Specimens. 44 J Am Soc Nephrol 2015; 26: 3190-3198 [PMID: 25918035 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2014111064]
- Sellarés J, Reeve J, Loupy A, Mengel M, Sis B, Skene A, de Freitas DG, Kreepala C, Hidalgo LG, Famulski KS, Halloran PF. Molecular 45 diagnosis of antibody-mediated rejection in human kidney transplants. Am J Transplant 2013; 13: 971-983 [PMID: 23414212 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12150]
- Loupy A, Lefaucheur C, Vernerey D, Chang J, Hidalgo LG, Beuscart T, Verine J, Aubert O, Dubleumortier S, Duong van Huyen JP, Jouven 46 X, Glotz D, Legendre C, Halloran PF. Molecular microscope strategy to improve risk stratification in early antibody-mediated kidney allograft rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 2014; 25: 2267-2277 [PMID: 24700874 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2013111149]
- Adam B, Afzali B, Dominy KM, Chapman E, Gill R, Hidalgo LG, Roufosse C, Sis B, Mengel M. Multiplexed color-coded probe-based gene 47 expression assessment for clinical molecular diagnostics in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded human renal allograft tissue. Clin Transplant 2016; **30**: 295-305 [PMID: 26729350 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12689]
- Adam BA, Smith RN, Rosales IA, Matsunami M, Afzali B, Oura T, Cosimi AB, Kawai T, Colvin RB, Mengel M. Chronic Antibody-Mediated 48 Rejection in Nonhuman Primate Renal Allografts: Validation of Human Histological and Molecular Phenotypes. Am J Transplant 2017; 17: 2841-2850 [PMID: 28444814 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14327]
- Halloran PF, Pereira AB, Chang J, Matas A, Picton M, De Freitas D, Bromberg J, Serón D, Sellarés J, Einecke G, Reeve J. Microarray 49 diagnosis of antibody-mediated rejection in kidney transplant biopsies: an international prospective study (INTERCOM). Am J Transplant 2013; 13: 2865-2874 [PMID: 24119109 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12465]
- Loupy A, Lefaucheur C. Antibody-Mediated Rejection of Solid-Organ Allografts. N Engl J Med 2018; 379: 1150-1160 [PMID: 30231232 50 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1802677]
- Orandi BJ, Alachkar N, Kraus ES, Naqvi F, Lonze BE, Lees L, Van Arendonk KJ, Wickliffe C, Bagnasco SM, Zachary AA, Segev DL, 51 Montgomery RA. Presentation and Outcomes of C4d-Negative Antibody-Mediated Rejection After Kidney Transplantation. Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 213-220 [PMID: 26317487 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13434]
- Haas M. Pathology of C4d-negative antibody-mediated rejection in renal allografts. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2013; 18: 319-326 [PMID: 52 23283250 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.0b013e32835d4daf]
- Haas M, Mirocha J. Early ultrastructural changes in renal allografts: correlation with antibody-mediated rejection and transplant 53 glomerulopathy. Am J Transplant 2011; 11: 2123-2131 [PMID: 21827618 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03647.x]
- Wavamunno MD, O'Connell PJ, Vitalone M, Fung CL, Allen RD, Chapman JR, Nankivell BJ. Transplant glomerulopathy: ultrastructural 54 abnormalities occur early in longitudinal analysis of protocol biopsies. Am J Transplant 2007; 7: 2757-2768 [PMID: 17924997 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01995.x]
- Nankivell BJ. The meaning of borderline rejection in kidney transplantation. Kidney Int 2020; 98: 278-280 [PMID: 32709286 DOI: 55 10.1016/j.kint.2020.04.052]
- 56 de Freitas DG, Sellarés J, Mengel M, Chang J, Hidalgo LG, Famulski KS, Sis B, Einecke G, Halloran PF. The nature of biopsies with "borderline rejection" and prospects for eliminating this category. Am J Transplant 2012; 12: 191-201 [PMID: 21992503 DOI:



10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03784.x]

- Becker JU, Chang A, Nickeleit V, Randhawa P, Roufosse C. Banff Borderline Changes Suspicious for Acute T Cell-Mediated Rejection: 57 Where Do We Stand? Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 2654-2660 [PMID: 26988137 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13784]
- Nankivell BJ, Agrawal N, Sharma A, Taverniti A, P'Ng CH, Shingde M, Wong G, Chapman JR. The clinical and pathological significance of 58 borderline T cell-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant 2019; 19: 1452-1463 [PMID: 30501008 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15197]
- McRae M, Bouchard-Boivin F, Béland S, Noël R, Côté I, Lapointe I, Lesage J, Latulippe E, Riopel J, Santoriello D, Husain SA, Désy O, 59 Houde I, Batal I, De Serres SA. Impact of the Current Versus the Previous Diagnostic Threshold on the Outcome of Patients With Borderline Changes Suspicious for T Cell-mediated Rejection Diagnosed on Indication Biopsies. Transplantation 2018; 102: 2120-2125 [PMID: 29916985 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000002327]
- 60 Stites E, Kumar D, Olaitan O, John Swanson S, Leca N, Weir M, Bromberg J, Melancon J, Agha I, Fattah H, Alhamad T, Qazi Y, Wiseman A, Gupta G. High levels of dd-cfDNA identify patients with TCMR 1A and borderline allograft rejection at elevated risk of graft injury. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 2491-2498 [PMID: 32056331 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15822]
- Schweitzer EJ, Drachenberg CB, Anderson L, Papadimetriou JC, Kuo PC, Johnson LB, Klassen DK, Hoehn-Saric E, Weir MR, Bartlett ST. 61 Significance of the Banff borderline biopsy. Am J Kidney Dis 1996; 28: 585-588 [PMID: 8840950 DOI: 10.1016/s0272-6386(96)90471-0]
- Meehan SM, Siegel CT, Aronson AJ, Bartosh SM, Thistlethwaite JR, Woodle ES, Haas M. The relationship of untreated borderline infiltrates 62 by the Banff criteria to acute rejection in renal allograft biopsies. J Am Soc Nephrol 1999; 10: 1806-1814 [PMID: 10446950 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V1081806]
- El-Agroudy AE, Wafa EW, Abbas TM, El-Husseini A, Gheith OA, El-Baz M, Ghoneim MA. Characteristics of patients with Banff borderline 63 changes in renal allograft biopsies. Exp Clin Transplant 2009; 7: 228-232 [PMID: 20353372]
- Mubarak M, Shakeel S, Abbas K, Aziz T, Zafar MN, Naqvi SA, Rizvi SA. Borderline Changes on Dysfunctional Renal Allograft Biopsies: 64 Clinical Relevance in a Living Related Renal Transplant Setting. Exp Clin Transplant 2017; 15: 24-27 [PMID: 28260426 DOI: 10.6002/ect.mesot2016.O7]
- Nankivell BJ, P'Ng CH, Chapman JR. Does tubulitis without interstitial inflammation represent borderline acute T cell mediated rejection? Am 65 J Transplant 2019; 19: 132-144 [PMID: 29687946 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14888]
- Fernández-Camargo DA, Marino L, Muñiz-Cuervo E, Aceves-Rodríguez EM, Vargas NJ, Cohen-Bucay A, Alberú J, Uribe-Uribe NO, 66 Morales-Buenrostro LE. Sub-classification of borderline changes into diffuse or focal and its impact on long-term renal transplant outcomes. Transpl Immunol 2022; 72: 101594 [PMID: 35378290 DOI: 10.1016/j.trim.2022.101594]
- Wiebe C, Rush DN, Gibson IW, Pochinco D, Birk PE, Goldberg A, Blydt-Hansen T, Karpinski M, Shaw J, Ho J, Nickerson PW. Evidence for 67 the alloimmune basis and prognostic significance of Borderline T cell-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 2499-2508 [PMID: 32185878 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15860]
- Minervini MI, Torbenson M, Scantlebury V, Vivas C, Jordan M, Shapiro R, Randhawa PS. Acute renal allograft rejection with severe tubulitis 68 (Banff 1997 grade IB). Am J Surg Pathol 2000; 24: 553-558 [PMID: 10757402 DOI: 10.1097/00000478-200004000-00009]
- 69 Filippone EJ, Farber JL. The Histological Spectrum and Clinical Significance of T Cell-mediated Rejection of Kidney Allografts. Transplantation 2023; 107: 1042-1055 [PMID: 36584369 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000004438]
- Hoffman W, Mehta R, Jorgensen DR, Sood P, Randhawa P, Wu CM, Puttarajappa C, Shah NA, Tevar AD, Hariharan S. The Impact of Early 70 Clinical and Subclinical T Cell-mediated Rejection After Kidney Transplantation. Transplantation 2019; 103: 1457-1467 [PMID: 30747837 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000002560]
- Helanterä I, Mengel M. Revisiting acute T cell-mediated rejection in kidney allografts. Am J Transplant 2022; 22: 681-682 [PMID: 34897977 71 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16923]
- Naesens M, Haas M, Loupy A, Roufosse C, Mengel M. Does the definition of chronic active T cell-mediated rejection need revisiting? Am J 72 Transplant 2021; 21: 1689-1690 [PMID: 33249773 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16419]
- Yamamoto I, Kawabe M, Hayashi A, Kobayashi A, Yamamoto H, Yokoo T. Challenges Posed by the Banff Classification: Diagnosis and 73 Treatment of Chronic active T-cell mediated Rejection. Nephron 2023 [PMID: 36928337 DOI: 10.1159/000530158]
- Gaber LW, Moore LW, Alloway RR, Flax SD, Shokouh-Amiri MH, Schroder T, Gaber AO. Correlation between Banff classification, acute 74 renal rejection scores and reversal of rejection. Kidney Int 1996; 49: 481-487 [PMID: 8821833 DOI: 10.1038/ki.1996.68]
- Seron D, Rabant M, Becker JU, Roufosse C, Bellini MI, Böhmig GA, Budde K, Diekmann F, Glotz D, Hilbrands L, Loupy A, Oberbauer R, 75 Pengel L, Schneeberger S, Naesens M. Proposed Definitions of T Cell-Mediated Rejection and Tubulointerstitial Inflammation as Clinical Trial Endpoints in Kidney Transplantation. Transpl Int 2022; 35: 10135 [PMID: 35669975 DOI: 10.3389/ti.2022.10135]
- Mengel M, Reeve J, Bunnag S, Einecke G, Jhangri GS, Sis B, Famulski K, Guembes-Hidalgo L, Halloran PF. Scoring total inflammation is 76 superior to the current Banff inflammation score in predicting outcome and the degree of molecular disturbance in renal allografts. Am J Transplant 2009; 9: 1859-1867 [PMID: 19563338 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02727.x]
- Mannon RB, Matas AJ, Grande J, Leduc R, Connett J, Kasiske B, Cecka JM, Gaston RS, Cosio F, Gourishankar S, Halloran PF, Hunsicker L, 77 Rush D; DeKAF Investigators. Inflammation in areas of tubular atrophy in kidney allograft biopsies: a potent predictor of allograft failure. Am J Transplant 2010; 10: 2066-2073 [PMID: 20883541 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03240.x]
- Lefaucheur C, Gosset C, Rabant M, Viglietti D, Verine J, Aubert O, Louis K, Glotz D, Legendre C, Duong Van Huyen JP, Loupy A. T cell-78 mediated rejection is a major determinant of inflammation in scarred areas in kidney allografts. Am J Transplant 2018; 18: 377-390 [PMID: 29086461 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14565]
- Nankivell BJ, Shingde M, Keung KL, Fung CL, Borrows RJ, O'Connell PJ, Chapman JR. The causes, significance and consequences of 79 inflammatory fibrosis in kidney transplantation: The Banff i-IFTA lesion. Am J Transplant 2018; 18: 364-376 [PMID: 29194971 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14609]
- Halloran PF, Matas A, Kasiske BL, Madill-Thomsen KS, Mackova M, Famulski KS. Molecular phenotype of kidney transplant indication 80 biopsies with inflammation in scarred areas. Am J Transplant 2019; 19: 1356-1370 [PMID: 30417539 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15178]
- Matas AJ, Helgeson ES, Gaston R, Cosio F, Mannon R, Kasiske BL, Hunsicker L, Gourishankar S, Rush D, Michael Cecka J, Connett J, 81 Grande JP. Inflammation in areas of fibrosis: The DeKAF prospective cohort. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 2509-2521 [PMID: 32185865 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15862]
- Halloran PF, Pereira AB, Chang J, Matas A, Picton M, De Freitas D, Bromberg J, Serón D, Sellarés J, Einecke G, Reeve J. Potential impact of 82 microarray diagnosis of T cell-mediated rejection in kidney transplants: The INTERCOM study. Am J Transplant 2013; 13: 2352-2363 [PMID: 23915426 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12387]
- 83 Halloran PF, Reeve J, Akalin E, Aubert O, Bohmig GA, Brennan D, Bromberg J, Einecke G, Eskandary F, Gosset C, Duong Van Huyen JP,



Gupta G, Lefaucheur C, Malone A, Mannon RB, Seron D, Sellares J, Weir M, Loupy A. Real Time Central Assessment of Kidney Transplant Indication Biopsies by Microarrays: The INTERCOMEX Study. Am J Transplant 2017; 17: 2851-2862 [PMID: 28449409 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14329]

- 84 Reeve J, Böhmig GA, Eskandary F, Einecke G, Gupta G, Madill-Thomsen K, Mackova M, Halloran PF; INTERCOMEX MMDx-Kidney Study Group. Generating automated kidney transplant biopsy reports combining molecular measurements with ensembles of machine learning classifiers. Am J Transplant 2019; 19: 2719-2731 [PMID: 30868758 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15351]
- Madill-Thomsen K, Perkowska-Ptasińska A, Böhmig GA, Eskandary F, Einecke G, Gupta G, Halloran PF; MMDx-Kidney Study Group. 85 Discrepancy analysis comparing molecular and histology diagnoses in kidney transplant biopsies. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 1341-1350 [PMID: 31846554 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15752]
- 86 Matsunami M, Rosales IA, Adam BA, Oura T, Mengel M, Smith RN, Lee H, Cosimi AB, Colvin RB, Kawai T. Long-term Kinetics of Intragraft Gene Signatures in Renal Allograft Tolerance Induced by Transient Mixed Chimerism. Transplantation 2019; 103: e334-e344 [PMID: 31397805 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000002911]
- Smith RN. In-silico performance, validation, and modeling of the Nanostring Banff Human Organ transplant gene panel using archival data 87 from human kidney transplants. BMC Med Genomics 2021; 14: 86 [PMID: 33740956 DOI: 10.1186/s12920-021-00891-5]
- Eikmans M, Gielis EM, Ledeganck KJ, Yang J, Abramowicz D, Claas FFJ. Non-invasive Biomarkers of Acute Rejection in Kidney 88 Transplantation: Novel Targets and Strategies. Front Med (Lausanne) 2018; 5: 358 [PMID: 30671435 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00358]
- Oellerich M, Sherwood K, Keown P, Schütz E, Beck J, Stegbauer J, Rump LC, Walson PD. Liquid biopsies: donor-derived cell-free DNA for 89 the detection of kidney allograft injury. Nat Rev Nephrol 2021; 17: 591-603 [PMID: 34031575 DOI: 10.1038/s41581-021-00428-0]
- Filippone EJ, Farber JL. The Monitoring of Donor-derived Cell-free DNA in Kidney Transplantation. Transplantation 2021; 105: 509-516 90 [PMID: 32732615 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000003393]
- 91 Mengel M, Loupy A, Haas M, Roufosse C, Naesens M, Akalin E, Clahsen-van Groningen MC, Dagobert J, Demetris AJ, Duong van Huyen JP, Gueguen J, Issa F, Robin B, Rosales I, Von der Thüsen JH, Sanchez-Fueyo A, Smith RN, Wood K, Adam B, Colvin RB. Banff 2019 Meeting Report: Molecular diagnostics in solid organ transplantation-Consensus for the Banff Human Organ Transplant (B-HOT) gene panel and open source multicenter validation. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 2305-2317 [PMID: 32428337 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16059]
- 92 Halloran PF, Venner JM, Madill-Thomsen KS, Einecke G, Parkes MD, Hidalgo LG, Famulski KS. Review: The transcripts associated with organ allograft rejection. Am J Transplant 2018; 18: 785-795 [PMID: 29178397 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14600]
- Sarwal M, Chua MS, Kambham N, Hsieh SC, Satterwhite T, Masek M, Salvatierra O Jr. Molecular heterogeneity in acute renal allograft 93 rejection identified by DNA microarray profiling. N Engl J Med 2003; 349: 125-138 [PMID: 12853585 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa035588]
- 94 Haas M. Chronic allograft nephropathy or interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy: what is in a name? Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2014; 23: 245-250 [PMID: 24626060 DOI: 10.1097/01.mnh.0000444811.26884.2d]
- Parfrey PS, Kuo YL, Hanley JA, Knaack J, Xue Z, Lisbona R, Guttmann RD. The diagnostic and prognostic value of renal allograft biopsy. 95 Transplantation 1984; 38: 586-590 [PMID: 6390817 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-198412000-00007]
- Matas AJ, Tellis VA, Sablay L, Quinn T, Soberman R, Veith FJ. The value of needle renal allograft biopsy. III. A prospective study. Surgery 96 1985; 98: 922-926 [PMID: 3904051]
- Waltzer WC, Miller F, Arnold A, Jao S, Anaise D, Rapaport FT. Value of percutaneous core needle biopsy in the differential diagnosis of 97 renal transplant dysfunction. J Urol 1987; 137: 1117-1121 [PMID: 3035235 DOI: 10.1016/s0022-5347(17)44421-1]
- Kiss D, Landmann J, Mihatsch M, Huser B, Brunner FP, Thiel G. Risks and benefits of graft biopsy in renal transplantation under cyclosporin-98 A. Clin Nephrol 1992; 38: 132-134 [PMID: 1395164]
- 99 Manfro RC, Lee JY, Lewgoy J, Edelweiss MI, Gonçalves LF, Prompt CA. [The role of percutaneous renal biopsy in kidney transplant]. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992) 1994; 40: 108-112 [PMID: 7820146]
- 100 Kon SP, Templar J, Dodd SM, Rudge CJ, Raftery MJ. Diagnostic contribution of renal allograft biopsies at various intervals after transplantation. Transplantation 1997; 63: 547-550 [PMID: 9047149 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199702270-00011]
- Al-Awwa IA, Hariharan S, First MR. Importance of allograft biopsy in renal transplant recipients: correlation between clinical and histological diagnosis. Am J Kidney Dis 1998; 31: S15-S18 [PMID: 9631859 DOI: 10.1053/ajkd.1998.v31.pm9631859]
- Pascual M, Vallhonrat H, Cosimi AB, Tolkoff-Rubin N, Colvin RB, Delmonico FL, Ko DS, Schoenfeld DA, Williams WW Jr. The clinical 102 usefulness of the renal allograft biopsy in the cyclosporine era: a prospective study. Transplantation 1999; 67: 737-741 [PMID: 10096531 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199903150-00016]
- Solez K, Hansen HE, Kornerup HJ, Madsen S, Sørensen AW, Pedersen EB, Marcussen N, Benediktsson H, Racusen LC, Olsen S. Clinical validation and reproducibility of the Banff schema for renal allograft pathology. Transplant Proc 1995; 27: 1009-1011 [PMID: 7878779]
- Furness PN, Taub N, Assmann KJ, Banfi G, Cosyns JP, Dorman AM, Hill CM, Kapper SK, Waldherr R, Laurinavicius A, Marcussen N, 104 Martins AP, Nogueira M, Regele H, Seron D, Carrera M, Sund S, Taskinen EI, Paavonen T, Tihomirova T, Rosenthal R. International variation in histologic grading is large, and persistent feedback does not improve reproducibility. Am J Surg Pathol 2003; 27: 805-810 [PMID: 12766585 DOI: 10.1097/00000478-200306000-00012]
- Sar A, Worawichawong S, Benediktsson H, Zhang J, Yilmaz S, Trpkov K. Interobserver agreement for Polyomavirus nephropathy grading in 105 renal allografts using the working proposal from the 10th Banff Conference on Allograft Pathology. Hum Pathol 2011; 42: 2018-2024 [PMID: 21733554 DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2011.03.008]
- Marcussen N, Olsen TS, Benediktsson H, Racusen L, Solez K. Reproducibility of the Banff classification of renal allograft pathology. Inter-106 and intraobserver variation. Transplantation 1995; 60: 1083-1089 [PMID: 7482712 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199511270-00004]
- Joh K, Morozumi K, Kitamura H. Symposium: evaluating the reproducibility of pathological diagnosis using the 1997 Banff classification 107 update. Clin Transplant 2006; 20 Suppl 15: 53-60 [PMID: 16848877 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2006.00551.x]
- Huang SC, Lin YJ, Wen MC, Lin WC, Fang PW, Liang PI, Chuang HW, Chien HP, Chen TD. Unsatisfactory reproducibility of interstitial 108 inflammation scoring in allograft kidney biopsy. Sci Rep 2023; 13: 7095 [PMID: 37127772 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-33908-3]
- Mengel M, Sis B, Halloran PF. SWOT analysis of Banff: strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats of the international Banff consensus 109 process and classification system for renal allograft pathology. Am J Transplant 2007; 7: 2221-2226 [PMID: 17848174 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01924.x
- Furness PN, Taub N; Convergence of European Renal Transplant Pathology Assessment Procedures (CERTPAP) Project. International 110 variation in the interpretation of renal transplant biopsies: report of the CERTPAP Project. Kidney Int 2001; 60: 1998-2012 [PMID: 11703620 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.00030.x]



- Gough J, Rush D, Jeffery J, Nickerson P, McKenna R, Solez K, Trpkov K. Reproducibility of the Banff schema in reporting protocol biopsies 111 of stable renal allografts. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2002; 17: 1081-1084 [PMID: 12032200 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/17.6.1081]
- Veronese FV, Manfro RC, Roman FR, Edelweiss MI, Rush DN, Dancea S, Goldberg J, Gonçalves LF. Reproducibility of the Banff 112 classification in subclinical kidney transplant rejection. Clin Transplant 2005; 19: 518-521 [PMID: 16008598 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2005.00377.x]
- Brazdziute E, Laurinavicius A. Digital pathology evaluation of complement C4d component deposition in the kidney allograft biopsies is a 113 useful tool to improve reproducibility of the scoring. Diagn Pathol 2011; 6 Suppl 1: S5 [PMID: 21489200 DOI: 10.1186/1746-1596-6-S1-S5]
- Jen KY, Olson JL, Brodsky S, Zhou XJ, Nadasdy T, Laszik ZG. Reliability of whole slide images as a diagnostic modality for renal allograft 114 biopsies. Hum Pathol 2013; 44: 888-894 [PMID: 23199528 DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2012.08.015]
- Farris AB, Moghe I, Wu S, Hogan J, Cornell LD, Alexander MP, Kers J, Demetris AJ, Levenson RM, Tomaszewski J, Barisoni L, Yagi Y, 115 Solez K. Banff Digital Pathology Working Group: Going digital in transplant pathology. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 2392-2399 [PMID: 32185875 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15850]
- Farris AB, Vizcarra J, Amgad M, Cooper LAD, Gutman D, Hogan J. Artificial intelligence and algorithmic computational pathology: an 116 introduction with renal allograft examples. Histopathology 2021; 78: 791-804 [PMID: 33211332 DOI: 10.1111/his.14304]
- Aubert O, Higgins S, Bouatou Y, Yoo D, Raynaud M, Viglietti D, Rabant M, Hidalgo L, Glotz D, Legendre C, Delahousse M, Shah N, Sis B, 117 Campbell P, Mengel M, Jouven X, Duong Van Huyen JP, Lefaucheur C, Loupy A. Archetype Analysis Identifies Distinct Profiles in Renal Transplant Recipients with Transplant Glomerulopathy Associated with Allograft Survival. J Am Soc Nephrol 2019; 30: 625-639 [PMID: 30872323 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2018070777]
- Marsh JN, Matlock MK, Kudose S, Liu TC, Stappenbeck TS, Gaut JP, Swamidass SJ. Deep Learning Global Glomerulosclerosis in 118 Transplant Kidney Frozen Sections. IEEE Trans Med Imaging 2018; 37: 2718-2728 [PMID: 29994669 DOI: 10.1109/TMI.2018.2851150]
- 119 Hermsen M, de Bel T, den Boer M, Steenbergen EJ, Kers J, Florquin S, Roelofs JJTH, Stegall MD, Alexander MP, Smith BH, Smeets B, Hilbrands LB, van der Laak JAWM. Deep Learning-Based Histopathologic Assessment of Kidney Tissue. J Am Soc Nephrol 2019; 30: 1968-1979 [PMID: 31488607 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2019020144]
- Yatim KM, Azzi JR. Novel Biomarkers in Kidney Transplantation. Semin Nephrol 2022; 42: 2-13 [PMID: 35618393 DOI: 120 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2022.01.007]
- Merhi B, Bayliss G, Gohh RY. Role for urinary biomarkers in diagnosis of acute rejection in the transplanted kidney. World J Transplant 121 2015; 5: 251-260 [PMID: 26722652 DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v5.i4.251]
- Seo JW, Lee YH, Tae DH, Park SH, Moon JY, Jeong KH, Kim CD, Chung BH, Park JB, Kim YH, Seok J, Joo SH, Lee SH, Lee JS. Non-122 Invasive Diagnosis for Acute Rejection Using Urinary mRNA Signature Reflecting Allograft Status in Kidney Transplantation. Front Immunol 2021; 12: 656632 [PMID: 34177898 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.656632]
- Van Loon E, Naesens M. Blood transcriptomics as non-invasive marker for kidney transplant rejection. Nephrol Ther 2021; 178: S78-S82 123 [PMID: 33910703 DOI: 10.1016/j.nephro.2020.02.012]
- Sigdel TK, Yang JYC, Bestard O, Schroeder A, Hsieh SC, Liberto JM, Damm I, Geraedts ACM, Sarwal MM. A urinary Common Rejection 124 Module (uCRM) score for non-invasive kidney transplant monitoring. PLoS One 2019; 14: e0220052 [PMID: 31365568 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0220052]
- Al Jurdi A, Gassen RB, Borges TJ, Solhjou Z, Hullekes FE, Lape IT, Efe O, Alghamdi A, Patel P, Choi JY, Mohammed MT, Bohan B, 125 Pattanayak V, Rosales I, Cravedi P, Kotton CN, Azzi JR, Riella LV. Non-Invasive Monitoring for Rejection in Kidney Transplant Recipients After SARS-CoV-2 mRNA Vaccination. Front Immunol 2022; 13: 838985 [PMID: 35281011 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.838985]
- Kant S, Brennan DC. Donor Derived Cell Free DNA in Kidney Transplantation: The Circa 2020-2021 Update. Transpl Int 2022; 35: 10448 126 [PMID: 35721467 DOI: 10.3389/ti.2022.10448]
- Mannon RB, Morris RE, Abecassis M, Axelrod D, Bala S, Friedman GS, Heeger PS, Lentine KL, Loupy A, Murphy B, Nickerson P, Sarwal 127 M, O'Doherty I, Spear N, Karpen SR. Use of biomarkers to improve immunosuppressive drug development and outcomes in renal organ transplantation: A meeting report. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 1495-1502 [PMID: 32090461 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15833]



World Journal of WJ7 Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2023 September 18; 13(5): 239-249

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.239

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor use in kidney transplant recipients

Pavithra Ramakrishnan, Neetika Garg, Samantha Pabich, Didier A Mandelbrot, Kurtis J Swanson

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Shuang W, China; Tentolouris N, Greece

Received: February 10, 2023 Peer-review started: February 10, 2023 First decision: March 15, 2023 Revised: April 19, 2023 Accepted: June 14, 2023 Article in press: June 14, 2023 Published online: September 18, 2023



Pavithra Ramakrishnan, Department of Medicine, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN 55455, United States

Neetika Garg, Samantha Pabich, Didier A Mandelbrot, Kurtis J Swanson, Department of Medicine, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI 53705, United States

Corresponding author: Kurtis J Swanson, MD, Assistant Professor, Department of Medicine, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, 1685 Highland Ave Madison, Madison, WI 53705, United States. kswanson@medicine.wisc.edu

Abstract

Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors (SGLT2i) are novel oral hypoglycemic agents garnering much attention for their substantial benefits. These recent data have positioned SGLT2i at the forefront of diabetic chronic kidney disease (CKD) and heart failure management. SGLT2i use post-kidney transplant is an emerging area of research. Highlights from this mini review include the following: Empagliflozin is the most prescribed SGLT2i in kidney transplant recipients (KTRs), median time from transplant to initiation was 3 years (range: 0.88-9.6 years). Median baseline estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was 66.7 mL/min/1.73 m² (range: 50.4-75.8). Median glycohemoglobin (HgbA1c) at initiation was 7.7% (range: 6.9-9.3). SGLT2i were demonstrated to be effective short-term impacting HgbA1c, eGFR, hemoglobin/hematocrit, serum uric acid, and serum magnesium levels. They are shown to be safe in KTRs with low rates of infections, hypoglycemia, euglycemic diabetic ketoacidosis, and stable tacrolimus levels. More data is needed to demonstrate long-term outcomes. SGLT2i appear to be safe, effective medications for select KTRs. Our present literature, though limited, is founded on precedent robust research in CKD patients with diabetes. Concurrent research/utilization of SGLT2i is vital to not only identify long-term patient, graft and cardiovascular outcomes of these agents, but also to augment management in KTRs.

Key Words: Sodium glucose cotransporter-2; Sodium glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor; Kidney transplantation; Diabetes; Post-transplant diabetes mellitus; New onset diabetes after transplant

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Multiple large trials have demonstrated sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors (SGLT2i) associated kidney and cardiovascular benefits for chronic kidney disease patients with diabetes. Important considerations are critical to determine safety and efficacy of these medications after kidney transplantation. While evidence is limited, SGLT2i appear to be both safe and effective short-term. More robust research is needed to determine the long-term impacts of their use in kidney transplant recipients. Appropriate patient selection and monitoring are vital to clinical use and future research efforts of SGLT2i in kidney transplantation.

Citation: Ramakrishnan P, Garg N, Pabich S, Mandelbrot DA, Swanson KJ. Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor use in kidney transplant recipients. *World J Transplant* 2023; 13(5): 239-249 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v13/i5/239.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.239

INTRODUCTION

Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors (SGLT2i) or "gliflozins", are oral hypoglycemics that work by inducing glucosuria. They are derived from phlorizin, a glucosuric compound found in apple tree root bark. As described by van Bommel *et al*[1], there are 2 clinically significant sodium-glucose transporters found in humans: SGLT1 Low-affinity high-capacity transport in the distal convoluted tubule and SGLT1 high-affinity low-capacity transporter in proximal convoluted tubule. As noted by Salvatore *et al*[2] and Sawaf *et al*[3], SGLT2i reduces the glucose excretion threshold to 2.2 mmol/L (40 mg/dL) from 10 mmol/L (180 mg/dL).Consequently, they have been shown to reduce glycohemoglobin (HgbA1c) by 0.6%-0.9% with glomerular filtration rate (GFR) > 60 mL/min and 0.3%-0.4% with GFR 30-59 mL/min[1]. SGLT2i also block the sodium/glucose symport channel in the proximal convoluted tubule leading to osmotic diuresis and natriuresis[3]. This excess sodium excretion is thought to induce afferent vasoconstriction through glomerular feedback thereby reducing hyperfiltration[1].

Data on SGLT2i have demonstrated great promise for their use in chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients with diabetes. In a recent meta-analysis, Zelniker *et al*[4] synthesized the findings of multiple landmark trials (EMPA-REG OUTCOME, CANVAS and DECLARE-TIMI). They showed that SGLT2i reduced the risk of renal disease progression by 45% [hazard ratio (HR) = 0.55, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.48-0.64, P < 0.0001], and cardiovascular death or heart failure hospitalization by 23% (HR = 0.77, 95%CI: 0.71-0.84, P < 0.0001) in patients with and without atherosclerotic heart disease.

These renoprotective benefits have been observed in patients with, as well as without, diabetes. Heerspink *et al*[5], *via* dapagliflozin (DAPA)-CKD, showed that DAPA in CKD patients with or without diabetes reduced the risk of a composite outcome of estimated GFR (eGFR) decline of at least 50%, end stage kidney disease (ESKD), or death from renal/cardiovascular cause (HR = 0.56, 95% CI: 0.45-0.68, P < 0.001) with a number needed to treat of 19 (95% CI: 15-27).

As shown by adoption of SGLT2i as first line therapies for CKD patients with diabetes by the 2022 Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes guidelines by Rossing *et al*[6], evidence for these agents is promising. Favorable outcomes owing to SGLT2is have led the transplant community to investigate their broader application.

Many dependent diabetic kidney transplant recipients (KTR) appear to be likely beneficiaries of SGLT2i therapy. As described by Chewcharat *et al*[7], 40% of waitlisted patients have diabetes mellitus (DM) and 15%-30% of non-diabetic patients develop post-transplant DM (PTDM)[7]. PTDM is associated with high rates of graft loss, cardiovascular disease, infectious complications, and mortality[7]. Inherent risks of kidney transplantation *e.g.*, urinary tract infection, concern for drug interactions *i.e.*, immunosuppression, and acute kidney injury/CKD risk, have raised safety and efficacy concerns of SGLT2i.

In this mini review, we aim to summarize recent literature describing SGLT2i usage in KTRs to: (1) Provide guidance for clinical use; (2) identify current limitations; and (3) highlight future directions. We hope this mini review will act as a reference for clinicians and researchers alike to advance clinical/translational research and characterize SGLT2i's role in diabetes management after kidney transplantation.

SEARCH STRATEGY

We conducted literature searches in PubMed, Cochrane, Google Scholar from January 2019 to January 2023 and reference lists of relevant studies and reviews. Key words utilized in our search included the following: "SGLT2 inhibitors, SGLT2i, KTRs, type 2 diabetes mellitus, post-transplant diabetes mellitus."

We limited our search to studies with available full text and English language. In this mini review, we selected studies of SGLT2i use in type 2 DM (T2DM) and/or PTDM in KTRs that were either: (1) Prospective randomized control trials; (2) prospective case series; and/or (3) retrospective case series with comparison groups. We limited study inclusion to those occurring in the last 4 years to highlight recent research.

For our analysis of the following outcomes: HgbA1c, eGFR, weight, blood pressure, Immunosuppression drug interactions, adverse events, we pooled studies that reported these data together. As descriptions of cost, novel findings, and long-term outcomes were limited to one or a few studies, these were simply discussed in context of specific studies.
Nine studies met our search criteria: 1 randomized controlled trial, 2 prospective observational studies, and 5 retrospective analyses, of which 2 had comparison groups. All nine studies occurred in the last 4 years.

FINDINGS

In this sample, empagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 241) was the most prescribed SGLT2i followed by DAPA (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 85) and canagliflozin (n = 85) and (n = 8574). The median time from transplant for initiating SGLT2i was 3 years (range: 0.88-9.6 years post-transplant). Median baseline eGFR was 66.7 mL/min/1.73 m² (range: 50.4-75.8). Median HgbA1c at initiation was 7.7% (range: 6.9-9.3). The following results were seen and are summarized in Table 1.

HgbA1c

HgbA1c generally improved with changes between 0.2%-1% in the reported studies. Notably, in the study by AlKindi et *al*[8], which included a cohort with a mean HgbA1c of 9.3% at initiation as well as excellent allograft function, HgbA1c decreased by 2.3% at 12 mo. As is described by Halden et al[9], more robust impacts on glycemic control were observed in those with higher HgbA1c and eGFR.

eGFR

eGFR was preserved in most studies over a period of 6-12 mo[8-13]. Lim et al[13] observed a 10% eGFR dip in 15.6% of their cohort with SGLT2i initiation, though eGFR did recover from this and stabilize. After month 5, there was no significant difference in eGFR between dippers and non-dippers. At last follow up (8 mo post-SGLT2i initiation), eGFR in the dippers (67.9 ± 13.9, n = 24) was comparable to that of the non-dippers [67.9 ± 13.9 mL/min/1.73 m² (n = 24) vs 69.8 ± $19.0 \text{ mL}/\text{min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ (*n* = 106), *P* = 0.358].

Though specific data on long term eGFR are lacking, Lim et al[13] did report a significant reduction in terms of SCr doubling in the SGLT2i cohort vs non-SGLT2i users in both unadjusted (HR = 0.49, 95%CI: 0.29-0.85), adjusted (across multiple models: Adjusted HR (aHR) = 0.37-0.41, 95% CI: 0.22-0.90, all P < 0.05), and propensity-score matching (aHR = 0.45, 95%CI: 0.23-0.88, *P* = 0.019) at 72 mo of follow up.

Proteinuria

Proteinuria was not assessed in these studies. As proteinuria is a major risk factor for and driver of progressive CKD, this is certainly an area that needs further studying.

Weight

Weight decreased in 8 studies with a median weight decrease of 1.95 kg (range: 0.7-3.2 kg)[8-10,12,14].

Blood pressure

Blood pressure changes were reported in 4 studies, with mixed results [8,9,11,12]. The magnitude of these changes was on the order of 7-9 mmHg, which are likely clinically significant. This is reaffirmed by findings in the ADVANCE trial, whereby Heerspink *et al*[15] showed that randomization to perindopril-indapamide compared to placebo in $CKD \ge 3$ patients with diabetes for 5 years prevented 12 cardiovascular events with reductions in systolic blood pressure on the order of 4.5 mmHg.

Immunosuppression drug interactions

Though data on drug interactions with immunosuppression were limited, four studies did not observe clinically nor statistically significantly differences in drug trough levels after SGLT2i initiation[9-12].

Adverse events

Urinary tract infections (UTI) were the most common adverse event observed across the various studies. When reported, these ranged from none observed up to 36%. 4 studies reported rates between 13%-15% [8-10,14].

Genital infections (GI) occurred but less commonly than UTI in KTRs with only a few GI occurring in studies where it was distinctly described[9,14,16].

Graft function remained stable throughout these studies despite high angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi)/aldosterone receptor blockers (ARB) utilization and the observed eGFR dip at the 4-6 wk mark[10,12,13].

Leg amputation was not observed in any of the studies described. Schwaiger et al[16] reported on this in their study with empagliflozin. As is aptly described by Heyward *et al*[17] in their systematic review and meta-analysis, the risk for lower extremity amputation for SGLT2i use in the non-transplant population has only been observed with canagliflozin.

In these small studies, no episodes of euglycemic diabetic ketoacidosis were reported. Song et al[14] noted a wide range of insulin dose reductions post-SGLT2i incorporation. Hypoglycemia was noted infrequently in these studies (n = 2 per Lemke *et al*[10]). This risk for hypoglycemia is highest for those with well controlled diabetes (HgbA1c < 8) as well as those on insulin and/or sulfonylurea-class medications, as was the case in the Lemke *et al*'s study[10].

Cost

Lemke *et al*[10] identified cost as the highest reported reason for SGLT2i discontinuation (35%, n = 6). Over time, SGLT2i have become more affordable. Aggarwal et al[18] recently described out-of-pocket expenses for SGLT2i, noting that for



Table 1 Summary of studies on sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor use in kidney transplant recipients									
Ref.	Type, location	Follow up	Treatment arms	Inclusion/exclusion criteria	Baseline eGFR (mL/min/1.73 m²), HgbA1c (%)	Time from transplant	Result	Adverse events/treatment discontinuation	Comments
Lemke <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [10], 2022	Retrospective, United States	12 mo; 27 pts ≥ 12 mo	Cana (<i>n</i> = 12); Dapa (<i>n</i> = 3); Empa (<i>n</i> = 24)	T2DM or PTDM; SGLT2i; 4/2013 to 10/2020; care solely in health system	eGFR, median (IQR) 69 (54-76); HgbA1c Median (IQR) 8.4 (7.8-9.2)	Median (IQR) 28 mo (16-60)	HbA1c↓ (8.4-7.5 at 3 mo; 7.5 at 12 mo; eGFR ↔/Cr ↔ at 3/12 mo; Wt ↓1.6 kg	UTI ($n = 6$; 3 required hospital stay; 1 ICU). Diabetic foot ulcer ($n = 2$). Hypoglycemia ($n = 2$; insulin $n = 1$, glipizide $n = 1$). No DKA, AKI dehydration requiring IVF, Fournier gangrene, Genital infection, fractures. Discontinued tx: $n = 17$ [d/c after a median (IQR) 244d (117-401)], $n = 6$ for cost, $n = 4$, eGFR, $n = 3$ infection, $n = 1$ poor wound healing, $n = 1$, hypoglycemia, $n = 1$ self d/c, $n = 1$, death unrelated to SGLT2i	38% on ACEi/ARB at initiation. Insufficient proteinuria data; Tac levels stable. 5/6 had prior UTI, 4/6 continued SGLT2i w/o recurrence
Lim <i>et al</i> [13], 2022	Retrospective, South Korea	62 mo ± 42 mo	Empa (<i>n</i> = 150). Dapa (<i>n</i> = 76) <i>vs</i> non-SGLT2i (<i>n</i> = 1857)	T2DM or PTDM Pancreas Transplant Prescribed SGLT2i < 90 from transplant	eGFR at 3 mo post- transplant 66.9 ± 17.7 vs 68.4 ± 20.1. HgbA1c at 3 mo post-transplant. Both 7.3 ± 1.4	Mean 3.8 yr ± 4.5	A risk primary outcome = composite outcome of all-cause mortality, DCGF, and SCr doubling: Multivariate [aHR (0.43; 95%CI = 0.24-0.78, $P =$ 0.006) propensity score- matched; aHR (0.45; 95%CI = 0.24-0.85, $P = 0.013$]. HbA1c = NR. eGFR stable at 8 mo. \downarrow SCr doubling significantly in unadjusted and adjusted models. Wt = NR	UTI/genital mycotic infection: (SGLT2i 4.5 events/100 patient-year <i>vs</i> non- SGLT2i 6.2/100 patient-year). No DKA. Discontinued txt: NR	15.6% eGFR dip over 10% during first month. eGFR recovered thereafter. 48.7% of the SGL12i cohort was on ACEi/ARB. Composite all-cause mortality, DCGF, or SCr doubling in KTRs
Hisadome <i>et al</i> [<mark>12</mark>], 2021	Retrospective observational study, Japan	48 wk	SGLT2i $(n = 29)$; Cana $(n = 9)$; Empa $(n = 4)$; Dapa (n = 3); Luseo $(n = 5)$; Ipra $(n = 7)$; Tofo $(n = 1)$ vs Other oral glycemic agent $(n = 60)$; DDP4i $(n = 42)$; meglitinides $(n = 9)$; metformin $(n = 4)$; SU $(n = 4) \alpha$ -glucosidase	ESRD patients w/T2DM nephropathy pre-transplant PO hypoglycemic. Follow up at outside centers < 1 yr follow up. Missing data	eGFR mean ± SD: 50.4 ± 13.9; 47.5 ± 13.1. HgbA1c mean ± SD: 7.7 ± 0.9; 7.6 ± 1.1	NR	HgbA1c 7.7 -> 7.6 (same) vs 7.6 to 7.5. Wt -0.7 ± 5.1 kg vs 1.6 ± 4.5 kg. eGFR 50.4 -> 51.4 vs 47.5 to 46.3. BP went up (7 mmHg ± 20 vs -3 ± 24)	UTI 2:0; CV disease 0:2. BPAR 1:1. Discontinued txt: NR	71.2% of the SGLT2i group was also on ACEi/ARB. Stable tac levels (<i>P</i> = 0.755)
Song <i>et al</i> [14], 2021	Retrospective, United States	101 d	Empa (<i>n</i> = 43); Cana (<i>n</i> =6); Dapa (<i>n</i> = 1)	PTDM eGFR ≥ 30. AKI in prior ≤ 30 d. UTI in prior 6 mo	eGFR at initiation: Mean 66.7; 30-45 (<i>n</i> = 7; 14%) HbA1c mean ± SD: 7.1 ± 0.1	Median (IQR): 319.5 d (122-696). 40% within 200 d	$\begin{array}{l} \Delta eGFR \ 3 \ mo: -1 \ mL/min; \ 6 \ mo: \\ 1 \ mL/min, \ \Delta HgbA1c \ 0.53\%. \\ Treated \ UTI \ 7 \ (14\%). \ Approximately \ 20\% \ typical \ rate. \\ Change \ in \ insulin \ (-3.7 \ units \ \pm \\ 22.8). \ Wt \ (-2.95 \ kg \ \pm \ 3.54, \\ 95\%CI \ 3.53-1.5). \ HgbA1c \ \leftrightarrow; \\ eGFR \ \leftrightarrow; \ Wt \ \Delta Mag2+ \ by \\ 0.13 \end{array}$	UTI ($n = 7$). D/C txt: $n = 9$ (5, UTI; 1 genital infection, 1; native disease; recurrence, 1 PTDM; resolution, 1; physician preference)	80% T2DM; 98% on prednisone; UTI rate comparable to KT population (14%)

AlKindi et al[8], 2020	Retrospective case series, United Arab Emirates	Range: 3 mo to 2 yr	Empa 10 mg <i>n</i> = 5; 25 mg <i>n</i> = 1. Dapa 25 mg <i>n</i> = 2	Diabetic KTRs; SGLT2i between 06/16-01/19	eGFR mean ± SD: 75.8 ± 13.4; HbA1c mean ± SD: 9.3 ± 1.4	mean ± SD: 9.6 yr ± 6.41	HgbA1c↓ (9.0 at 3 mo; 8.6 at 6 mo; 7.7 at 9 mo; 7.4 at 12 mo; eGFR \leftrightarrow median eGFR 72 (range 62-76) at 12 mo. Wt (mean wt 84.82 kg -> 82.87 at 3 mo -> 82.75 at 6 mo). BP not statistically significant though 9 pt difference	UTI + hospitalization (<i>n</i> = 1); pt w hx of UTI no UTI w ppx. Discontinuation rate: NR	2/8 T2DM; 6/8 PTDM; all LURKTx
Halden <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [9], 2019	Prospective, double blind, RCT Norway	6 mo	Cana 10 mg (<i>n</i> = 22). Placebo (<i>n</i> = 22)	≥ 18 yr; ≥ 1 yr post- transplant. PTDM only < 20% SCr deviation in last 2 mo. ≥ 3 mo stable immunosuppression. eGFR ≤ 30; Pregnant or nursing	eGFR Median (IQR) 66(57-68): 59 (52-72). HbA1c Median (IQR) 6.9 (6.5-8.2): 6.8 (6.1- 7.2)	Median (IQR) 3 yr (1- 16): 3 yr (1- 15)	HbA1c↓ (6.9 to 6.7 vs 6.6 to 6.9); eGFR↓ (2 mo), \leftrightarrow (6 mo)-66 to 61 vs 59 to 59. Weight↓ (92 kg to 88.8 kg vs 84 to 85 kg). No real impact on BP. Hgb increase 13.9 to 14.5. ↓Uric acid. Tac/CSA/Siro levels stable	Urosepsis 1:0 (hx of recurrent UTI), UTI 3:3, genital infection 1:0, dizziness 2:0, hematuria 1:0. Discontinued txt: <i>n</i> = 2 (recurrent UTI, urosepsis): 3 (withdrew consent, colon cancer, no longer PTDM)	High DPP-4i use; most were not on additional therapy
Schwaiger <i>et al</i> [<mark>16</mark>], 2019	Prospective	1 mo (n = 14); 12 mo (n = 8)	Empagliflozin ($n = 14$). Reference ($n = 24$)	eGFR > 30; < 40 IU/d insulin. HgbA1c < 8.5. Adequately diagnosed PTDM	Baseline. eGFR 55.6. Baseline HgbA1c 6.5	Median 69.4 ± 57.2 mo	HgbA1c 6.5-> 6.6 at 4 wk (P > 0.05). eGFR 55.6 -> 47.5 at 4 wk (P > 0.05). Average TBW \downarrow 1.6 kg; Waist circ \downarrow 4 cm. ECV/TBFV decreased	UTIs: 5:9. Genital infection: 1. AKI, DKA, Fournier's-NR	100% on steroids. Median onset of PTDM was 0.5 months. 100% on insulin
Shah <i>et al</i> [<mark>11]</mark> , 2019	Prospective	6 mo	Canagliflozin (n = 25)	≥ 18 years old. CrCl (ml/min) > 60; HgbA1c > 6.5; T2DM; PTDM. Unstable Cr. ALT > 2 × ULN; TBili > 2 × ULN; Recent UTI/genital mycotic infection	Baseline Cr (mg/dL): 1.1 ± 0.2 ; Baseline HgbA1c: 8.5 ± 1.5	Mean duration of transplant = 2.7 yr (0.2- 13.2)	HgbA1c: 8.5 ± 1.5 -> 7.6 ± 1. Cr: 1.1 ± 0.2 -> 1.1 ± 0.3. Weight: 78.6 ± 12.1 -> 76.1 ± 11.2 (<i>P</i> < 0.05). SBP (mmHg): 142 ± 21 -> 134 ± 17 (<i>P</i> < 0.05)	No increase in UTI/genital infections. No hypoglycemia or DKA. Fatigue ($n = 3$). Discontinued treatment ($n = 1$)	20 T2DM; 5 PTDM. Reduction of other hypoglycemics needed. 1 KTR self d/ced. Used fixed 100 mg dose. Stable tac doses

eGFR: Estimated glomerular filtration rate; pts: Patients; Cana: Canagliflozin; Dapa: Dapagliflozin; Empa: Empagliflozin; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus; PTDM: Post-transplant diabetes mellitus; SGLT2i: Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor; IQR: Interquartile range; HgbA1c: Glycohemoglobin; Cr: Creatinine; Wt: Weight; UTI: Urinary tract infection; ICU: Intensive care unit; DKA: Diabetic ketoacidosis; AKI: Acute kidney injury; IVF: Intravenous fluids; txt: Treatment: d/c: Discontinued; ACEi: Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors; ARB: Aldosterone receptor blockers; tac: Tacrolimus; SCr: Serum creatinine; DCGF: Death censored graft failure; aHR: Adjusted hazard ratio; CI: Confidence interval; NR: Not reported; KTR: Kidney transplant recipient; Luseo: Luseogliflozin; Ipra: Ipragliflozin; Tofo: Tofogliflozin; DDP4i: Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors; ESRD: End stage renal disease; PO: Oral; SD: Standard deviation; BP: Blood pressure; CV: Cardiovascular; BPAR: Biopsy proven acute rejection; Δ: Change in; Mag2+: Magnesium; KT: Kidney transplant; hx: History; ppx: Prophylaxis: LURKTx: Living unrelated kidney transplant; Hgb: Hemoglobin; CSA: Cyclosporine; siro: Sirolimus; IU: International units; TBW: Total body weight; circ: Circumference; ECV: Extracellular volume; TBFV: Total body fluid volume; CrCl: Creatinine clearance; ALT: Alanine transaminase; ULN: Upper limit of normal; TBili: Total bilirubin; SBP: Systolic blood pressure.

most insured patients, median cost for 30 d of SGLT2i therapy cost around \$38.43 (range: \$3.87-\$49.42)[18].

Novel findings

In their comprehensive randomized controlled trial, Halden *et al*[9] observed increased hemoglobin/hematocrit and decreased uric acid levels with SGLT2i use. Song *et al*[14] observed an improvement in serum magnesium levels after SGLT2i initiation.

Long term outcomes

Lim et al[13] showed a significant reduction at five years in their composite outcome of all-cause mortality, death-

censored graft failure (DCGF), and serum creatinine doubling with SGLT2i use in both multivariate (aHR = 0.43; 95%CI: 0.24-0.78, *P* = 0.006] and propensity score-matched aHR (0.45; 95%CI: 0.24-0.85, *P* = 0.013). Otherwise, these studies lacked long term outcome data.

ANALYSIS

Though these studies are heterogenous and limited in terms of design and size, short term safety and efficacy outcomes of SGLT2i use in diabetic KTRs appear comparable to those observed in CKD patients with diabetes.

Glycemic control paralleled that seen in the non-transplant DM population with modest HgbA1c improvements. Though most studies included KTRs with adequate allograft function, Hisadome *et al*[12] and Song *et al*[14] included a substantial number of individuals with eGFR in the 30-45 range, which approximates to CKD stage 3b. Though there are potential differences between CKD and CKD after transplant as described by Djamali *et al*[19], evidence supporting safe, effective use of SGLT2i in KTRs with decreased allograft function is encouraging.

Remarkably, the eGFR decline, recovery and stabilization of kidney function that occurs in non-transplant diabetics was also observed in some KTRs without significant unfavorable impacts on long term graft function. This was in the setting of high reported concurrent ACEi/ARB use which are recommended as first line agents in diabetic kidney disease. This is exciting, as renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) blockade plays a vital role in diabetic CKD/ cardiovascular management. Moreover, the major trials for SGLT2i, such as EMPA-REG OUTCOME by Wanner *et al*[20] reported RAAS blockade use between 80%-85% of those studied. In summary, the illustration of eGFR stability with simultaneous use of SGLT2i/RAAS blockade in KTRs across multiple studies will hopefully quell clinician fears regarding their concurrent use.

It is unfortunate that proteinuria was not an endpoint in any of the included studies. Results of studies in the general population, namely those by Jongs *et al*[21], Cherney *et al*[22], and Trujillo *et al*[23], in terms of SGLT2i effect on proteinuria, are both limited and mixed[21-23]. EMPA-REG OUTCOME by Wanner *et al*[20], CANVAS by Neal *et al*[24] and CREDENCE by Perkovic *et al*[25] and DAPA-CKD by Heerspink *et al*[5], suggested utility for these agents in reducing the geometric mean urinary albumin creatinine ratio, increasing the likelihood of regression in albuminuria stage and reducing the risk of macroalbuminuria progression[20,21]. Further investigations into whether or not SGLT2i impact proteinuria in KTRs will be important not only to better understand these medications, but also to help with agent selection if a difference *e.g.*, empagliflozin and canagliflozin *vs* DAPA, is observed between them in KTRs.

Weight loss occurred in almost every study, likely due to the osmotic diuresis caused by SGLT2i use. This is also occurring due to fat loss from caloric wasting *via* glucose. As the weight loss demonstrated for most patients is less than 5% total body weight, this likely has little bearing clinically.

That being said, perhaps weight loss can underscore future studies examining impacts on truncal obesity, waist size (as Schwaiger *et al*[16] remarked), cholesterol, uric acid levels, and other markers of obesity/metabolic syndrome and their impacts on kidney and cardiovascular outcomes.

Blood pressure outcomes were less clear across these studies, which is at least partly explained by the different mechanisms and influences on blood pressure in KTRs compared to CKD patients as described by Kasiske *et al*[26]. It is unlikely due to weight loss alone given the magnitude of weight loss as previously noted. As these medications are studied further in KTRs, perhaps novel mechanisms for how SGLT2i influence blood pressure will be elucidated.

While UTIs were observed in these studies, they did not appear to occur significantly more than in KTRs not on SGTL2i. As described by Brune *et al*[27], the prevalence of UTI after transplant varies significantly based on several factors (namely *via* definition, study, population, length of follow up). However, they state that a reasonable benchmark based on larger studies is a 1-year incidence rate around 30%. Lemke *et al*[10] reported continued use of SGLT2i after UTI, with one of those patients requiring hospitalization for treatment, but without recurrent disease. Long term impacts of SGLT2i use/glucosuria not only on UTI risk, but also asymptomatic bacteriuria, antibiotic use and associated complications are ongoing uncertainties. GI were observed but at a fairly low rate compared to UTI as described above.

Though limited, drug level data suggest that SGLT2i have little to no impact on calcineurin inhibitor (CNI) trough levels, nor were increased episodes of rejection observed. As Scheen[28] describes in his excellent review on the subject, SGLT2i metabolism minimally involves cytochrome CYP3A4, making SGLT2i-CNI drug interactions slight at best.

As described by Song *et al*[14], hypomagnesemia was improved in KTRs on SGLT2i. As hypomagnesemia is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular and infection-related mortality as noted by Panthofer *et al*[29] and Odler *et al*[30] and this is an important management target. Per Huang *et al*[31], there may be a role for pre-emptive SGLT2i use as hypomagnesemia itself has been shown to increase the risk of PTDM in KTRs. Additionally, hypomagnesemia treatment can be challenging as most magnesium formulations cause diarrhea. Therefore, SGLT2i may play a role obviate/ minimize high magnesium supplementation needs.

Though not discussed thoroughly in the literature, Bilezikian *et al*[32] and Kohan *et al*[33] note that there are some concerns for SGLT2i and their impacts on bone health. Lemke *et al*[10] reported on fractures in their study, noting none occurred. Though this is a nascent area of research, Blau and Taylor[34] demonstrated a possible mechanism *via* the FGF23-1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D-parathyroid hormone axis. As impaired bone health is common in KTRs, seeing how this relationship bears out in longer, more robust studies will be important for patient selection and ongoing management. At the moment, there is insufficient data to attribute substantial fracture risk to SGLT2i use.

With SGLT2i being relatively new agents, there is a paucity of data on long-term kidney, cardiovascular, and survival outcomes. Determination of their impact on long-term outcomes will require larger, protracted investigations. This is illustrated in the EMPA-REG trial by Wanner *et al*[35], in which SGLT2i-mediated eGFR preservation was first seen

Raishideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

around 80 wk of therapy vs placebo.

Ideally, future retrospective studies, like that by Lim *et al*[13] and/or prospective analyses can describe these relationships going forward. These would be best achieved by multi-center, large trials analogous to their landmark predecessors.

In their comprehensive study review on the management of PTDM, Hecking et al[36] aptly summarize direct and indirect potential benefits of SGLT2i in kidney transplantation. Though some of this is extrapolated from non-KT research, novel impacts such as reduction in vascular rigidity as well as hypoxia-inducible factor-1, could be impactful in the kidney transplant population regarding cardio-/reno-/vascular health, anti-inflammatory properties and perhaps anemia management as described by Hecking et al[36], Gupta and Wish[37].

A key limitation of these studies is that they evaluated KTRs with diabetes alone. As this is a logical starting place for investigating the efficacy of SGLT2i, to suggest that these medications are limited only to KTRs with diabetes is too narrow a view. With kidney transplantation existing as a state of CKD as well as ESKD itself portending significant cardiovascular risk, we surmise (and hope) that the benefits of SGLT2i will extend to KTRs without diabetes as well. As was demonstrated in DAPA-CKD, a multicenter randomized controlled trial of 4304 patients in which 32.5% of the patients were non-diabetic, SGLT2i increased the likelihood of albuminuria regression and reduced the likelihood of progression to more severe stages of albuminuria in CKD patients with and without diabetes[5]. Therefore, KTRs without diabetes warrant investigation into the utility of SGLT2i use.

CLINICAL RECOMMENDATIONS

Though more research is needed, there appears to be a subset of non-insulin dependent diabetic KTRs who ought to benefit from SGLT2i therapy.

Identifying appropriate candidates is a critical step for implementing SGLT2i therapy routinely. Though questions remain presently regarding long term safety, the stalwart evidence from the CKD literature is compelling for the transplant community to press forward.

In their recent review, Patel et al[38] proposed an "ideal" KTR SGLT2i candidate. While this provides a nice general framework, we have additional characteristics to build on this model for identifying SGLT2i candidates.

At present, there does not appear to be substantial evidence on when post-transplant to initiate SGLT2i therapy. Earlier initiation i.e., prior to 6- or 12-mo post-transplant may be beneficial for at least 3 reasons: (1) PTDM appears to be an early post-transplant complication. This is shown by Jenssen and Hartmann[39], in their review on PTDM, where they cite Porrini et al[40]. In their study, 32% of the cohort developed PTDM (215/672). Of these 215, 187 (87%) of these KTRs developed PTDM prior to 12 mo; (2) major benefits of SGLT2i therapy such as eGFR preservation may require long term medication use, as EMPA-REG showed[35]; and (3) as is aptly described by Wolfe *et al*[41] in their seminal study on mortality after deceased donor kidney transplant (DDKT), there is increased risk of death in the early post-transplant time period. Perhaps this will promote studies of initiating SGLT2i at the time of transplantation in select patients e.g., DDKT with immediate graft function.

In the following section, we will put forth clinical recommendations for SGLT2i use in KTRs. These are based on the aforementioned results as well as inclusion/exclusion criteria in the studies reviewed. As this is an evolving science, these are solely recommendations *i.e.*, provider discretion remains crucial to using these medications. These are also summarized in Figure 1.

Based on the literature reviewed, we propose the following as good candidates for SGLT2i use: (1) KTRs with pretransplant T2DM or PTDM; (2) at least 3 mo post-transplant; (3) stable allograft function preferably with eGFR of at \geq 30 $mL/min/1.73 m^2$, ideally $\ge 60 mL/min/1.73 m^2$ for the past 2 mo; (4) no rejection episodes within the past 3 mo; (5) at least 3 mo of stable immunosuppression; (6) stable ACEi/ARB doses; (7) patients at low risk for volume depletion e.g., low risk for unstable diarrhea, vomiting; (8) patients at low risk for hypoglycemia e.g., HgbA1c > 8 or < 8 and not on a sulfonylurea or insulin. If at risk for hypoglycemia, would consult diabetic specialist for regimen titration; (9) patients without significant UTI history or diabetic foot ulcers; (10) patients with low risk for acute kidney injury; and (11) patients who may benefit from novel aspects of SGLT2i: Hypomagnesemia, hyperuricemia, anemia.

In terms of pharmacologic therapy titration in the context of SGLT2i initiation, we recommend the following: (1) Insufficient data to support empiric adjustments to maintenance immunosuppression or to diabetic prescriptions; (2) can consider reducing diuretic doses; (3) advise diabetic specialist consultation for KTRs with well controlled diabetes (HgbA1c < 8) and other diabetic agents, particularly insulin or sulfonylureas, to help titrate their diabetic regimen to minimize the risk of hypo-glycemia; and (4) continued drug trough and blood glucose monitoring are key to titrate further.

In terms of monitoring parameters, we recommend the following: (1) Renal function assessment at least every 3 mo at a minimum. Can consider more frequent monitoring with initiation/dose adjustments; (2) if applicable (on CNI or mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor therapy), serial immunosuppression trough levels per provider's discretion. Can consider more frequent monitoring with initiation/dose adjustments; (3) routine monitoring for volume status, risk factors for diabetic ketoacidosis, hypoglycemia; and (4) routine monitoring for signs and symptoms of UTI, diabetic foot ulcers.

It is somewhat challenging to put forth contraindications to use at this time, particularly when the evidence for use is so persuasive. Assuredly there are patients in whom SGLT2i use poses greater risk of harm than benefit e.g., a KTR with a history of DKA, at risk for or experiencing recurrent transplant pyelonephritis, and/or chronic osteomyelitis and/or active diabetic foot wounds. Ultimately, the determination of benefit vs risk requires clinical reasoning, evaluation and



Figure 1 Clinical, pharmacologic and monitoring parameters for sodium glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor use in a kidney transplant recipient. Clinical criteria, pharmacologic and monitoring strategies are essential to selecting and managing kidney transplant recipient (KTRs) for sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor (SGLT2i) use. Stable KTRs with an appropriate diabetes diagnosis, clinical stability and low risk for adverse events is key. Little data exists for empiric medication changes, though diuretic dose reduction ought to be considered. Strategies for cost management beyond insurance ought to be explored to maximize possible long-term benefit from SGLT2i administration. Laboratory and clinical monitoring more frequently with initiation/dose adjustments is critical to identifying adverse events. SGLT2i: Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors; KTR: Kidney transplant recipient; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus; PTDM: Posttransplant diabetes mellitus; Tx: Transplant; w: With; eGFR: Estimated glomerular filtration rate; IS: Immunosuppression; ACEi: Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB: Aldosterone receptor blocker; Rx: Prescription; UTI: Urinary tract infection; AKI: Acute kidney injury; Hgb: Hemoglobin; DM: Diabetes mellitus; RAAS: Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system; FBG: Fasting blood glucose; DKA: Diabetic ketoacidosis.

patient-provider dialogue on whether SGLT2i use is in the patient's best interest.

Notably, guidance exists in the literature regarding patient handout communications when initiating SGLT2i therapy. Lam *et al*[42] provide an excellent version that is generally applicable to KTRs.

LIMITATIONS

Though early data on SGLT2i implementation in KTRs is promising, it is albeit limited.

There are 3 main limitations in the data on the use of SGLT2i in KTRs. Longitudinal studies with large enrollment volume are absent. The longest follow up was around 8.5 years with most having far less. This leaves cardiovascular, graft and mortality outcomes unexplored. Rare adverse events like euglycemic DKA or osteoporosis are also not explored. RCTs are necessary to establish causality and bolster clinical practice recommendations. Most of the studies in SGLT2i are limited to retrospective, observational design or case series.

The SGLT2i story is one that is well underway. There appears to be substantial evidence supporting their use in terms of safety and short-term efficacy based on the studies we described and their antecedents. What lies ahead regarding long-term SGLT2i therapy is unknown. With SGLT2i, we are not working *ab initio* (from the beginning). Rather, as is precedent in some of the greatest epics and sagas (i.e., the Mahābhārata, Homer's Iliad and Odyssey, Virgil's Aeneid, Dante's *Divine Comedy*) as noted by Lochtefeld^[43], Murray^[44] and Raffa^[45], we can and ought to forge ahead into the unknown in medias res-into the middle of things.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

While the current literature gives insight into short-term outcomes of SGLT2i use in KTRs, more research is needed to identify the long-term impacts of SGLT2i use in this population.

Currently, there are 2 actively recruiting clinical trials (NCT04965935 aka INFINITI2019 and NCT04906213 aka CREST-KT).

INFINITI2019 is a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial aimed at comparing DAPA to placebo in 52 KTRs. The primary outcome is blood pressure reduction in addition to fasting blood glucose, HgbA1c, continuous home glucose



monitoring, arterial stiffness, systemic vascular resistance, change in baseline measured GFR, change in eGFR, proximal tubular natriuresis, albuminuria, change in baseline urinary and plasma oxidative stress markers, change in tubule interstitial hypoxia, CNI levels, and adverse events.

CREST-KT is a single-center, double-blinded randomized controlled trial of empagliflozin therapy in 72 KTRS with (36) and without (36) diabetes. After dividing by diabetes diagnosis, the groups will be randomized 2:1 to empagliflozin 10 mg vs placebo *i.e.*, 48 KTRs will be on empagliflozin and 24 KTRS will be on placebo. Study time is planned to be 18 mo.

Primary outcomes include: Change in eGFR, change in albuminuria, change in cardiac structure by 3D echocardiogram, change in blood insulin level, change in fasting blood sugar, # of UTIs and # of GI.

Secondary outcomes include: Change in kidney biopsy from time zero to 6 mo and change in HgbA1c as well as AEs.

In addition to these studies, hopefully future randomized controlled trials examining long term renal outcomes as well as cardiovascular outcomes, particularly in patients with known heart failure, will help guide appropriate SGLT2i use and influence guidelines and practice patterns for SGLT2i in KTRs.

CONCLUSION

SGLT2i appear to be safe, effective medications in the arsenal of post-transplant therapies for select KTRs. Our present literature, though somewhat limited, is founded on preceding strong research in CKD patients with diabetes. Concurrent research and utilization of SGLT2i is vital to not only identify long-term patient, graft and cardiovascular outcomes of these agents, but also to augment diabetic, CKD, and cardiovascular management in KTRs in media res.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ramakrishnan P wrote and drafted the article, performed critical revision of the article and approved the article; Garg N, Pabich S and Mandelbrot DA provided critical revisions and approval of the article; Swanson KJ provided concept/design, article drafting, critical revision and approval of the article; All authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Neetika Garg 0000-0002-7392-4285; Samantha Pabich 0000-0003-3169-8942; Didier A Mandelbrot 0000-0003-3326-8583; Kurtis J Swanson 0000-0001-5952-9054.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang YL

REFERENCES

- van Bommel EJ, Muskiet MH, Tonneijck L, Kramer MH, Nieuwdorp M, van Raalte DH. SGLT2 Inhibition in the Diabetic Kidney-From 1 Mechanisms to Clinical Outcome. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2017; 12: 700-710 [PMID: 28254770 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.06080616]
- 2 Salvatore T, Galiero R, Caturano A, Rinaldi L, Di Martino A, Albanese G, Di Salvo J, Epifani R, Marfella R, Docimo G, Lettieri M, Sardu C, Sasso FC. An Overview of the Cardiorenal Protective Mechanisms of SGLT2 Inhibitors. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 35409011 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23073651]
- Sawaf H, Thomas G, Taliercio JJ, Nakhoul G, Vachharajani TJ, Mehdi A. Therapeutic Advances in Diabetic Nephropathy. J Clin Med 2022; 3 11 [PMID: 35054076 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11020378]
- Zelniker TA, Wiviott SD, Raz I, Im K, Goodrich EL, Furtado RHM, Bonaca MP, Mosenzon O, Kato ET, Cahn A, Bhatt DL, Leiter LA, 4 McGuire DK, Wilding JPH, Sabatine MS. Comparison of the Effects of Glucagon-Like Peptide Receptor Agonists and Sodium-Glucose Cotransporter 2 Inhibitors for Prevention of Major Adverse Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Circulation 2019; 139: 2022-2031 [PMID: 30786725 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.038868]
- Heerspink HJL, Stefánsson BV, Correa-Rotter R, Chertow GM, Greene T, Hou FF, Mann JFE, McMurray JJV, Lindberg M, Rossing P, 5 Sjöström CD, Toto RD, Langkilde AM, Wheeler DC; DAPA-CKD Trial Committees and Investigators. Dapagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: 1436-1446 [PMID: 32970396 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2024816]
- Rossing P, Caramori ML, Chan JCN, Heerspink HJL, Hurst C, Khunti K, Liew A, Michos ED, Navaneethan SD, Olowu WA, Sadusky T, 6 Tandon N, Tuttle KR, Wanner C, Wilkens KG, Zoungas S, Craig JC, Tunnicliffe DJ, Tonelli MA, Cheung M, Earley A, de Boer IH. Executive summary of the KDIGO 2022 Clinical Practice Guideline for Diabetes Management in Chronic Kidney Disease: an update based on rapidly emerging new evidence. Kidney Int 2022; 102: 990-999 [PMID: 36272755 DOI: 10.1016/j.kint.2022.06.013]

- Chewcharat A, Prasitlumkum N, Thongprayoon C, Bathini T, Medaura J, Vallabhajosyula S, Cheungpasitporn W. Efficacy and Safety of 7 SGLT-2 Inhibitors for Treatment of Diabetes Mellitus among Kidney Transplant Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Med Sci (Basel) 2020; 8 [PMID: 33213078 DOI: 10.3390/medsci8040047]
- AlKindi F, Al-Omary HL, Hussain Q, Al Hakim M, Chaaban A, Boobes Y. Outcomes of SGLT2 Inhibitors Use in Diabetic Renal Transplant 8 Patients. Transplant Proc 2020; 52: 175-178 [PMID: 31924404 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2019.11.007]
- 9 Halden TAS, Kvitne KE, Midtvedt K, Rajakumar L, Robertsen I, Brox J, Bollerslev J, Hartmann A, Åsberg A, Jenssen T. Efficacy and Safety of Empagliflozin in Renal Transplant Recipients With Posttransplant Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care 2019; 42: 1067-1074 [PMID: 30862658 DOI: 10.2337/dc19-0093]
- Lemke A, Brokmeier HM, Leung SB, Mara KC, Mour GK, Wadei HM, Hill JM, Stegall M, Kudva YC, Shah P, Kukla A. Sodium-glucose 10 cotransporter 2 inhibitors for treatment of diabetes mellitus after kidney transplantation. Clin Transplant 2022; 36: e14718 [PMID: 35593882 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.14718]
- 11 Shah M, Virani Z, Rajput P, Shah B. Efficacy and Safety of Canagliflozin in Kidney Transplant Patients. Indian J Nephrol 2019; 29: 278-281 [PMID: 31423063 DOI: 10.4103/ijn.IJN_2_18]
- 12 Hisadome Y, Mei T, Noguchi H, Ohkuma T, Sato Y, Kaku K, Okabe Y, Nakamura M. Safety and Efficacy of Sodium-glucose Cotransporter 2 Inhibitors in Kidney Transplant Recipients With Pretransplant Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Retrospective, Single-center, Inverse Probability of Treatment Weighting Analysis of 85 Transplant Patients. Transplant Direct 2021; 7: e772 [PMID: 34646935 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.000000000001228]
- Lim JH, Kwon S, Jeon Y, Kim YH, Kwon H, Kim YS, Lee H, Kim YL, Kim CD, Park SH, Lee JS, Yoo KD, Son HE, Jeong JC, Lee J, Lee 13 JP, Cho JH. The Efficacy and Safety of SGLT2 Inhibitor in Diabetic Kidney Transplant Recipients. Transplantation 2022; 106: e404-e412 [PMID: 35768908 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000004228]
- Song CC, Brown A, Winstead R, Yakubu I, Demehin M, Kumar D, Gupta G. Early initiation of sodium-glucose linked transporter inhibitors 14 (SGLT-2i) and associated metabolic and electrolyte outcomes in diabetic kidney transplant recipients. Endocrinol Diabetes Metab 2021; 4: e00185 [PMID: 33855198 DOI: 10.1002/edm2.185]
- Heerspink HJ, Ninomiya T, Perkovic V, Woodward M, Zoungas S, Cass A, Cooper M, Grobbee DE, Mancia G, Mogensen CE, Neal B, 15 Chalmers J; ADVANCE Collaborative Group. Effects of a fixed combination of perindopril and indapamide in patients with type 2 diabetes and chronic kidney disease. Eur Heart J 2010; 31: 2888-2896 [PMID: 20501479 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq139]
- 16 Schwaiger E, Burghart L, Signorini L, Ristl R, Kopecky C, Tura A, Pacini G, Wrba T, Antlanger M, Schmaldienst S, Werzowa J, Säemann MD, Hecking M. Empagliflozin in posttransplantation diabetes mellitus: A prospective, interventional pilot study on glucose metabolism, fluid volume, and patient safety. Am J Transplant 2019; 19: 907-919 [PMID: 30585690 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15223]
- Heyward J, Mansour O, Olson L, Singh S, Alexander GC. Association between sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors and lower 17 extremity amputation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0234065 [PMID: 32502190 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0234065
- 18 Aggarwal R, Vaduganathan M, Chiu N, Bhatt DL. Out-of-Pocket Costs for SGLT-2 (Sodium-Glucose Transport Protein-2) Inhibitors in the United States. Circ Heart Fail 2022; 15: e009099 [PMID: 34886682 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.121.009099]
- Djamali A, Kendziorski C, Brazy PC, Becker BN. Disease progression and outcomes in chronic kidney disease and renal transplantation. 19 *Kidney Int* 2003; **64**: 1800-1807 [PMID: 14531814 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00270.x]
- Wanner C, Inzucchi SE, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, von Eynatten M, Mattheus M, Johansen OE, Woerle HJ, Broedl UC, Zinman B; EMPA-REG 20 OUTCOME Investigators. Empagliflozin and Progression of Kidney Disease in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 323-334 [PMID: 27299675 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1515920]
- Jongs N, Greene T, Chertow GM, McMurray JJV, Langkilde AM, Correa-Rotter R, Rossing P, Sjöström CD, Stefansson BV, Toto RD, 21 Wheeler DC, Heerspink HJL; DAPA-CKD Trial Committees and Investigators. Effect of dapagliflozin on urinary albumin excretion in patients with chronic kidney disease with and without type 2 diabetes: a prespecified analysis from the DAPA-CKD trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2021; 9: 755-766 [PMID: 34619106 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-8587(21)00243-6]
- Cherney DZI, Dekkers CCJ, Barbour SJ, Cattran D, Abdul Gafor AH, Greasley PJ, Laverman GD, Lim SK, Di Tanna GL, Reich HN, 22 Vervloet MG, Wong MG, Gansevoort RT, Heerspink HJL; DIAMOND investigators. Effects of the SGLT2 inhibitor dapagliflozin on proteinuria in non-diabetic patients with chronic kidney disease (DIAMOND): a randomised, double-blind, crossover trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2020; 8: 582-593 [PMID: 32559474 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30162-5]
- Trujillo H, Caravaca-Fontán F, Caro J, Morales E, Praga M. The Forgotten Antiproteinuric Properties of Diuretics. Am J Nephrol 2021; 52: 23 435-449 [PMID: 34233330 DOI: 10.1159/000517020]
- Neal B, Perkovic V, Matthews DR. Canagliflozin and Cardiovascular and Renal Events in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med 2017; 377: 2099 24 [PMID: 29166232 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc1712572]
- Perkovic V, Jardine MJ, Neal B, Bompoint S, Heerspink HJL, Charytan DM, Edwards R, Agarwal R, Bakris G, Bull S, Cannon CP, Capuano 25 G, Chu PL, de Zeeuw D, Greene T, Levin A, Pollock C, Wheeler DC, Yavin Y, Zhang H, Zinman B, Meininger G, Brenner BM, Mahaffey KW; CREDENCE Trial Investigators. Canagliflozin and Renal Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes and Nephropathy. N Engl J Med 2019; 380: 2295-2306 [PMID: 30990260 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1811744]
- Kasiske BL, Anjum S, Shah R, Skogen J, Kandaswamy C, Danielson B, O'Shaughnessy EA, Dahl DC, Silkensen JR, Sahadevan M, Snyder JJ. 26 Hypertension after kidney transplantation. Am J Kidney Dis 2004; 43: 1071-1081 [PMID: 15168388 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2004.03.013]
- 27 Brune JE, Dickenmann M, Wehmeier C, Sidler D, Walti L, Golshayan D, Manuel O, Hadaya K, Neofytos D, Schnyder A, Boggian K, Müller T, Schachtner T, Khanna N, Schaub S; Swiss Transplant Cohort Study. Impact of different urinary tract infection phenotypes within the first year post-transplant on renal allograft outcomes. Am J Transplant 2022; 22: 1823-1833 [PMID: 35286781 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.17026]
- Scheen AJ. Pharmacodynamics, efficacy and safety of sodium-glucose co-transporter type 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors for the treatment of type 2 28 diabetes mellitus. Drugs 2015; 75: 33-59 [PMID: 25488697 DOI: 10.1007/s40265-014-0337-y]
- 29 Panthofer AM, Lyu B, Astor BC, Singh T, Aziz F, Mandelbrot D, Parajuli S, Mohamed M, Djamali A, Garg N. Post-kidney transplant serum magnesium exhibits a U-shaped association with subsequent mortality: an observational cohort study. Transpl Int 2021; 34: 1853-1861 [PMID: 34081803 DOI: 10.1111/tri.13932]
- 30 Odler B, Deak AT, Pregartner G, Riedl R, Bozic J, Trummer C, Prenner A, Söllinger L, Krall M, Höflechner L, Hebesberger C, Boxler MS, Berghold A, Schemmer P, Pilz S, Rosenkranz AR. Hypomagnesemia Is a Risk Factor for Infections after Kidney Transplantation: A Retrospective Cohort Analysis. *Nutrients* 2021; **13** [PMID: 33919913 DOI: 10.3390/nu13041296]



- Huang JW, Famure O, Li Y, Kim SJ. Hypomagnesemia and the Risk of New-Onset Diabetes Mellitus after Kidney Transplantation. J Am Soc 31 Nephrol 2016; 27: 1793-1800 [PMID: 26449610 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2015040391]
- Bilezikian JP, Watts NB, Usiskin K, Polidori D, Fung A, Sullivan D, Rosenthal N. Evaluation of Bone Mineral Density and Bone Biomarkers 32 in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Treated With Canagliflozin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016; 101: 44-51 [PMID: 26580234 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2015-1860]
- Kohan DE, Fioretto P, Tang W, List JF. Long-term study of patients with type 2 diabetes and moderate renal impairment shows that 33 dapagliflozin reduces weight and blood pressure but does not improve glycemic control. Kidney Int 2014; 85: 962-971 [PMID: 24067431 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2013.356]
- 34 Blau JE, Taylor SI. Adverse effects of SGLT2 inhibitors on bone health. Nat Rev Nephrol 2018; 14: 473-474 [PMID: 29875481 DOI: 10.1038/s41581-018-0028-0]
- 35 Wanner C, Heerspink HJL, Zinman B, Inzucchi SE, Koitka-Weber A, Mattheus M, Hantel S, Woerle HJ, Broedl UC, von Eynatten M, Groop PH; EMPA-REG OUTCOME Investigators. Empagliflozin and Kidney Function Decline in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes: A Slope Analysis from the EMPA-REG OUTCOME Trial. J Am Soc Nephrol 2018; 29: 2755-2769 [PMID: 30314978 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2018010103]
- Hecking M, Sharif A, Eller K, Jenssen T. Management of post-transplant diabetes: immunosuppression, early prevention, and novel 36 antidiabetics. Transpl Int 2021; 34: 27-48 [PMID: 33135259 DOI: 10.1111/tri.13783]
- Gupta N, Wish JB. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor Prolyl Hydroxylase Inhibitors: A Potential New Treatment for Anemia in Patients With CKD. 37 Am J Kidney Dis 2017; 69: 815-826 [PMID: 28242135 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.12.011]
- Patel N, Hindi J, Farouk SS. Sodium-Glucose Cotransporter 2 Inhibitors and Kidney Transplantation: What Are We Waiting For? Kidney360 38 2021; **2**: 1174-1178 [PMID: 35368347 DOI: 10.34067/KID.0000732021]
- Jenssen T, Hartmann A. Post-transplant diabetes mellitus in patients with solid organ transplants. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2019; 15: 172-188 39 [PMID: 30622369 DOI: 10.1038/s41574-018-0137-7]
- Porrini EL, Díaz JM, Moreso F, Delgado Mallén PI, Silva Torres I, Ibernon M, Bayés-Genís B, Benitez-Ruiz R, Lampreabe I, Lauzurrica R, 40 Osorio JM, Osuna A, Domínguez-Rollán R, Ruiz JC, Jiménez-Sosa A, González-Rinne A, Marrero-Miranda D, Macía M, García J, Torres A. Clinical evolution of post-transplant diabetes mellitus. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2016; 31: 495-505 [PMID: 26538615 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfv368]
- Wolfe RA, Ashby VB, Milford EL, Ojo AO, Ettenger RE, Agodoa LY, Held PJ, Port FK. Comparison of mortality in all patients on dialysis, 41 patients on dialysis awaiting transplantation, and recipients of a first cadaveric transplant. N Engl J Med 1999; 341: 1725-1730 [PMID: 10580071 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199912023412303]
- Lam D, Shaikh A. Real-Life Prescribing of SGLT2 Inhibitors: How to Handle the Other Medications, Including Glucose-Lowering Drugs and 42 Diuretics. Kidney360 2021; 2: 742-746 [PMID: 35373039 DOI: 10.34067/KID.0000412021]
- 43 Lochtefeld JG. The illustrated encyclopedia of Hinduism. 1st ed. New York: Rosen, 2002
- Murray CJ. Encyclopedia of the romantic era, 1760-1850. New York: Fitzroy Dearborn, 2004 44
- Raffa GP. The complete Danteworlds: a reader's guide to the Divine Comedy. Chicago, London: The University of Chicago Press, 2009 45



World Journal of W J 7 Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2023 September 18; 13(5): 250-253

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.250

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Renal allograft procurement from living unrelated donors in Iran: What falls under the eclipse

Saeed Taheri

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Salvadori M, Italy; Singh SA, India

Received: May 6, 2023 Peer-review started: May 6, 2023 First decision: June 14, 2023 Revised: June 26, 2023 Accepted: July 24, 2023 Article in press: July 24, 2023 Published online: September 18, 2023



Saeed Taheri, Medicine, New Lahijan Scientific Foundation, Lahijan 4415813166, Iran

Corresponding author: Saeed Taheri, MD, Doctor, Medicine, New Lahijan Scientific Foundation, No. 1, HashemiNejad Street; 3rd Ave, Lahijan 4415813166, Iran. taherimd@gmail.com

Abstract

Renal transplantation is the treatment of choice for end stage kidney disease. However, despite all the efforts to expand the donor pool, the shortage of donors is increasing and as a consequence, there has been a significant increase in the number of patients on transplant waiting lists globally. Societies worldwide have employed different methods to address this, each with specific ethical concerns surrounding them. Over three decades ago, a governmentally regulated program of kidney transplantation from living unrelated donors was introduced in Iran and since practiced which has been the subject of hot debate in the literature. Nevertheless, despite all these extensive discussions and publications, several key aspects of the program have still not been properly elucidated and addressed. In this article, the author aims to illuminate some dark corners related to this issue that have largely escaped the notice of ethicists.

Key Words: Allograft procurement; Renal transplantation; Living unrelated donor; Organ market; Iran

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Iran's living unrelated kidney transplantation program has several limitations by its definition, but what is already in practice goes far beyond that and is actually a government legislated and regulated kidney market in which the laws and supports all essentially best serve the interests of brokers and financial agencies, and result in exploitation of the poor on either the recipient or donor.

Citation: Taheri S. Renal allograft procurement from living unrelated donors in Iran: What falls under the eclipse. World J Transplant 2023; 13(5): 250-253 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v13/i5/250.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.250



INTRODUCTION

Conventionally called "the Iranian Model of Kidney Transplantation", the practice of kidney allograft transplantation procured from living unrelated (LUR) donors in Iran has been highly controversial, and for that reason as well as the unclear origins of the idea when it was introduced into the Iranian medical society, this terminology was avoided in this commentary. Although this topic has been widely tackled in the past by its proponents, opponents, and health-authorities [1-3], there are still several major aspects of the practice that have not been very well addressed. In this paper, I intend to discuss some of these complexities.

According to the latest report by the Iranian Society of Nephrology, 76.3% of all the kidney transplantations performed in Iran are from living donors[4], 86% of which has been reportedly from LUR donors[5]. With such a large share of the transplantation volume, rather extensive claims have been made in the literature as to the merits of LUR transplantation in eliminating the kidney transplant waiting lists; although in real practice, there are already two simultaneous waiting lists in Iran: One for recipients and the other for donors. To be precise, they are not actual waiting lists, as you do not need to wait a moment if you have enough money to pay.

KIDNEY FOR SALE

"Kidney for sale with the blood-group of AB from Tehran. Urgent need for money! Also ready to sell bone marrow, liver or any other part of the body that could be sold (for money) anyway!" This is one of the huge number of advertisements that have been submitted to the Iranian Online Associations for Kidney Donation website[6] which provides free rooms to people who would want to get to the market, as kidney sellers, buyers or even brokers. Examples of advertisements from this website and other unofficial websites are provided in Table 1. A look at the advertisements reveals that kidney sellers likely concentrate on the price, while the buyers usually focus on the age (usually < 30 years), gender (male), overall health and the readily available laboratory reports which are supposed to be primarily paid and provided by the kidney sellers, as a prerequisite for finding a potential recipient.

A BRIEF INTRODUCTION

Upon its introduction to the Iranian health system, the LUR renal transplantation program had implemented some legal measures that were supposed to eliminate ethical concerns. In brief, renal patients as well as the potential LUR donors would separately contact a governmental regulation center which identifies suitable donor-recipient couplets and introduces them to transplantation centers (without them knowing each other prior to transplantation). All the expenses associated with the transplantation procedure and hospital costs would be fully covered by the government. After the procedure, the LUR donors would receive government-funded financial compensation and health insurance for one year, and "a majority" of them would also receive a gift from the recipient or charitable organizations. There would be no role for brokers or agencies in the process, and the program runs under the close scrutiny and surveillance of the Iranian Society for Organ Transplantation[1].

Whether or not the above-mentioned model sounds ethical, there are large practical deviations from the pronounced guidelines. During the past decades, the governmental "rewarding gift" to the LUR donors has shrunk from about 3000 United States dollar (USD) equivalent in local currency to less than 800 USD, with expectations to plunge even more due to the ongoing economic decline. Therefore, the government's financial participation in donor compensation is rapidly becoming smaller, driving the recipients to provide the largest share of the payment. In other words, only wealthy patients could be sure of obtaining an allograft whenever they need to, and the less-resourceful individuals would be driven to sacrifice their last possessions (e.g., selling their family home) for this purpose; and finally the poorest people would have no chance in this market, meaning that even the limited governmental support would inevitably escape those who could not manage to provide the (much larger) remaining bulk of the payment, and the graft would go exclusively to the relatively more resourceful patients.

PREREQUISITES AND CONSEQUENCES OF INSTITUTING SUCH A PROGRAM

According to the above-mentioned evidence, what had been initially proclaimed to be a governmentally regulated and compensated altruistic organ donation is a myth now, and the only thing that one needs to get to the kidney market is simply finding a partner (a donor or a recipient) who would fulfill his/her (mainly financial) expectations, with apparent roles for brokers and agencies and no authoritarian surveillance. The burden of such a market could go far beyond what was mentioned above. Recently there was news about a father who was trying to sell his 19 mo-old child's organs in Alborz Province and was arrested after the baby's demise due to methadone overdose. This is probably not an exception and similar events have supposedly been taking place without finding a way to the media. Even in the legal practice, almost no one gets to the market in this country and it is about gaining higher standards of living, for example, buying a better house or indulging in an extraordinary ambition or anything other than the urgency of escaping a catastrophic collapse or securing the least living requirements. However, all societies and governments are obligated to provide appropriate environments for people to achieve fruitful livelihoods and prospects through ethical and constructive



Table 4	The second se	Construction of the second se second second sec	for a second second second	e a a lla contra de la contra		a la sella se la la se la la secolaria de la se
I anio 1	Evamples of	t advarticamente	trom kinnev	collare and hilly	are on an official w	ancita in Iranihi
	LAUTIPICS U			Sellers and buye		

Buyers' advertisements	Sellers' advertisements
Kidney buyer; blood group O+; man or woman; please only people with HLA reports contact; otherwise let's not waste each other's time (Tehran)	Kidney for sale; 42 yr old; blood group B+; due to financial crisis; no tobacco; no alcohol; bicycling each day for hours; and body works as infallible as a watch (East Azerbaijan)
Kidney buyer; blood group O; our patient is under dialysis and medical conditions is rapidly deteriorating; unemployed; lives in a renting house; some people promised helping; let's help for God's sake and his wife and children (Markazi)	Kidney for sale; 35 yr old man; blood group O+; me and my wife (blood group B+) both are ready to sell our kidneys; HLA testing ready for both; only recipients contact not dealers (brokers) (Tehran)
Kidney buyer; blood group O; I am under dialysis with complications; for God's sake help me to get free of dialysis; I also have financial problems; the seller preferably a man less than 35 (West Azerbaijan)	Kidney for sale; 39 yr old man; HLA and ultrasonography tests are ready; no history of any disease; family consent ready; I need money for my kid's illness; price would be fair and just (Kurdistan)
Kidney buyer; blood group AB; please don't give "mind blowing" price so I can prepare it (East Azerbaijan)	Kidney for sale; 24 yr old woman; married; family consent ready; all tests and HLA report ready; ultrasonography report ready; weight; no tobacco; healthy in every aspect (Tehran)
Kidney buyer; blood group O+; applicants must have HLA report and family consent ready; age less than 30; I'd pay the hospital costs and tests would be paid after the procedure; (Mazandaran)	Kidney for sale; 32 yr old; all tests (HLA, CTA, United States, & cardiologist letter) ready; hospital costs and labs should be covered by the buyer; price fair & with mutual consent (Mazandaran)
Kidney buyer; blood group A+; urgent need for a kidney; seller should have all the tests ready; age less than 30; powerful body; no user of tobacco; alcohol or other junks; preferably from Tehran (Khuzestan)	Kidney, liver and all other purchasable organs for sale; 40 yr old man; blood group A+; HLA test ready; at service wherever on the earth for the procedure; people with financial problems please don't contact! (Tehran)
I am highly experienced in kidney transplantation; ready to give consultation services to both buyers and sellers; contact me! (Tehran)	Kidney for sale; blood group AB; 31 yr old; I am in debt and can't pay for my house renting; please contact (West Azerbaijan)

Although in the introduction of the living unrelated kidney transplantation in Iran it is declared that all the hospital costs would be totally paid by the government[1], yet in the advertisements, the kidney sellers and buyers are talking about who should pay for the hospital costs. HLA: Human leukocyte antigen; CTA: Computed tomography angiography.

endeavors.

Such an organ procurement program as is already underway in Iran would not survive if the country managed to provide stable, productive and predictable economic conditions that offer people acceptable levels of livelihood in reasonable ways and time. In other words, there should be a constant state of "struggle for existence" to save the current organ market in Iran from collapse, and therefore any attempt at improving the country's economy could be considered a threat to the practice that betrays the donor pool. This would definitely not be good news, but the solution is certainly not to sustain the country in a collapsing state: *i.e.*, to force people into the organ market, *e.g.*, to rent a house for a while or pay for a life-saving medical procedure.

The penetration of brokers and agencies into the practice has further complicated the already-controversial program exponentially. As conventionally only people with high political connections can intervene in such businesses, any attempt to change the existing order into states that sound more ethical would be expected to receive serious backlashes. They even seem to consider renal graft procurement from deceased donors as a threat to their business. In a popular TV show, a person who happened to be a member of the health care system told his story of being in coma (for several weeks), and claimed that his family were under pressure to permit the donation of his organs for transplantation. However, it was only due to his father's heroic resistance against all the pressures that saved his life. It is not only in Iran but also in other parts of the world, that only brain-dead subjects, and not the comatose, who would be considered for organ donation.

SAFETY DATA AND RESEARCH

Despite decades of LUR kidney transplantation practice in Iran, some key aspects of concern have been hidden from the public and scientific literature. In fact there seems to be some undeclared red-lines that nobody could manage to cross. For example, despite overwhelming studies indicating the advantages of LUR transplantations, there are no data on the (particularly long-term) physical and/or psychological burden of the procedure on the donors. I had a not-so-good experience in a research attempt on donors' motivations and psychological burdens associated with LUR kidney transplantation, which was blocked suddenly and prematurely[7]. Moreover, the rationale behind some of the laboratory tests that are legally required for the procedure is unclear. For example, the introduction of potent immunosuppressive drugs and the shortage of available organs has eliminated the necessity for human leukocyte antigen (HLA) matching between the donors and recipients[1]. Actually the transplantation teams in Iran do not even look at the HLA test reports, yet it is still a mandatory part of the practice. Theoretically at least, the HLA reports could be used to find the best HLA matched donors only in exceptional cases, which offers no foundation to the large majority of donors or recipients to pay for this very important person service.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the LUR transplantation practice in Iran is associated with profound ethical concerns including discrimination, abuse, withholding information, and potential safety concerns. Should the practice persist, there would be a need for a major revision of the program in almost every aspect, in order to properly address all the issues of concern. Attempts at renovation of the practice should also warrant development of the country towards a more fruitful and prosperous economy and would not adversely affect transplantation.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All the work was carried out by Taheri S, the sole author.

Conflict-of-interest statement: There is nothing to disclose.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Iran

ORCID number: Saeed Taheri 0000-0003-3034-0674.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: New Lahijan Scientific Foundation, 44158-13166.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: Webster JR P-Editor: Zhang YL

REFERENCES

- Ghods AJ, Savaj S. Iranian model of paid and regulated living-unrelated kidney donation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 1: 1136-1145 [PMID: 1 17699338 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.00700206]
- 2 Broumand B. Living donors: the Iran experience. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1997; 12: 1830-1831 [PMID: 9306330 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/12.9.1830]
- 3 Mahdavi-Mazdeh M. The Iranian model of living renal transplantation. Kidney Int 2012; 82: 627-634 [PMID: 22673884 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2012.219]
- 4 IrSN. Iran Society of Nephrology. [cited 25 February 2023]. Available from: http://isn-iran.ir/en/nephrology-in-iran
- Taheri S, Alavian SM, Einollahi B, Nafar M. Gender bias in Iranian living kidney transplantation program: a national report. Clin Transplant 5 2010; **24**: 528-534 [PMID: 19843109 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2009.01120.x]
- 6 Iranian Online Associations for Kidney Donation. [cited 25, Feb 2023]. Available from: https://www.irehda.ir/
- Taheri S. Unethical Restriction of the Kidney Market in Iran: Perspective from A Donor's Viewpoint. N Lahij Med J 2018; 2: 1-2 7



World Journal of WJT Transplantation

World J Transplant 2023 September 18; 13(5): 254-263

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.254

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Impact of tacrolimus intra-patient variability in adverse outcomes after organ transplantation

Maria Clara Morais, Maria Eduarda Soares, Gabriela Costa, Laura Guerra, Nayana Vaz, Liana Codes, Paulo Lisboa Bittencourt

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ali A, Iraq; Tanaka H, Japan

Received: June 28, 2023 Peer-review started: June 28, 2023 First decision: July 19, 2023 Revised: July 31, 2023 Accepted: August 11, 2023 Article in press: August 11, 2023 Published online: September 18, 2023



Maria Clara Morais, Gabriela Costa, Laura Guerra, Nayana Vaz, Liana Codes, Paulo Lisboa Bittencourt, School of Medicine, Bahiana School of Medicine and Public Health, Salvador 40290-000, Bahia, Brazil

Maria Eduarda Soares, School of Medicine, Federal University of Bahia, Salvador 40110-100, Bahia, Brazil

Nayana Vaz, Liana Codes, Paulo Lisboa Bittencourt, Unit of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Portuguese Hospital, Salvador 40130-030, Bahia, Brazil

Corresponding author: Paulo Lisboa Bittencourt, MD, PhD, Chief Doctor, Unit of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Portuguese Hospital, 914 Av. Princesa Isabel, Barra, Salvador 40130-030, Bahia, Brazil. plbbr@uol.com.br

Abstract

Tacrolimus (Tac) is currently the most common calcineurin-inhibitor employed in solid organ transplantation. High intra-patient variability (IPV) of Tac (Tac IPV) has been associated with an increased risk of immune-mediated rejection and poor outcomes after kidney transplantation. Few data are available concerning the impact of high Tac IPV in non-kidney transplants. However, even in kidney transplantation, there is still a controversy whether high Tac IPV is indeed detrimental in respect to graft and/or patient survival. This may be due to different methods employed to evaluate IPV and distinct time frames adopted to assess graft and patient survival in those reports published up to now in the literature. Little is also known about the influence of high Tac IPV in the development of other untoward adverse events, update of the current knowledge regarding the impact of Tac IPV in different outcomes following kidney, liver, heart, lung, and pancreas tran-splantation to better evaluate its use in clinical practice.

Key Words: Tacrolimus; Intra-patient variability; Rejection; Organ transplantation; Graft survival; Outcomes

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Tacrolimus is widely used after solid organ transplantation. High intra-patient variability of tacrolimus (Tac IPV) has been associated with poor graft and patient survival. This review summarizes current evidence regarding the impact of high Tac IPV in several outcomes after kidney, liver, heart, lung and pancreas transplantation.

Citation: Morais MC, Soares ME, Costa G, Guerra L, Vaz N, Codes L, Bittencourt PL. Impact of tacrolimus intra-patient variability in adverse outcomes after organ transplantation. World J Transplant 2023; 13(5): 254-263 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v13/i5/254.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.254

INTRODUCTION

Tacrolimus (Tac) is nowadays the most common immunosuppressive drug employed in solid organ transplantation and has replaced cyclosporin as the most common calcineurin inhibitor used worldwide in immunosuppressive regimens[1, 2]. Tac exhibits a peculiar pharmacokinetic profile with large inter-patient and intra-patient variability (IPV) of whole blood drug levels over time, even when doses remain unchanged. This is usually ascribed to overlapping factors, such as ethnicity, pharmacogenomics, food-drug and drug-drug interactions, non-adherence, enhanced Tac absorption or impaired drug excretion due to either diarrhea or cholestasis, assays variability for Tac levels determinations or even alternate use of Tac compounds or its generic formulations[3-5]. Due to its narrow therapeutic window, therapeutic drug monitoring of trough levels (Cmin) is required to attain target levels of immunosuppression over time, as well as avoidance of undesired Tac side effects such as infections, neurotoxicity and nephrotoxicity, which are usually related to higher drug exposure[1].

High Tac IPV or time in the therapeutic range (TTR) of Tac has been associated with an increased risk of immunemediated rejection and poor outcomes after kidney transplantation (KT)[5,6]. Few data are available concerning the impact of high Tac IPV in non-kidney transplants[7]. However, even in KT, there is still a controversy whether high Tac IPV is indeed detrimental in respect to graft and/or patient survival[5,6]. This may be due to different methods employed to evaluate IPV and distinct time frames adopted to assess graft and patient survival in the reports published up to now. Little is also known about the influence of high Tac IPV in the development of other harmful adverse events associated with immunosuppression, such as infections, chronic kidney disease, type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome and de novo or recurrent cancer. The purpose of this review is to provide an update of current knowledge regarding the impact of Tac IPV in different outcomes following KT, liver (LT), heart (HT), lung, kidney/pancreas and bone marrow (BMT) transplantation to better evaluate its use in clinical practice.

STUDY SELECTION

To identify and select studies for this review, research was made in the MedLine/PubMed database, using the following terms: Tacrolimus; intra-patient; variability; transplant; transplantation; rejection; and graft loss. These terms were obtained from Medical Subject Headings (MeSH), using the Booleans "AND" and "OR", from various search algorithms in PubMed.

Search 1: (("tacrolimus" [MeSH Terms] OR "tacrolimus" [All Fields]) AND "intra" [All Fields] AND ("patient s" [All Fields] OR "patients" [MeSH Terms] OR "patients" [All Fields] OR "patient" [All Fields] OR "patients s" [All Fields]) AND ("variabilities" [All Fields] OR "variability" [All Fields] OR "variable" [All Fields] OR "variable s" [All Fields] OR "variables" [All Fields] OR "variably" [All Fields])) AND (y_10[Filter]). Search 2: ((((((tacrolimus[Title/Abstract]) AND (variability[Title/Abstract])) OR (intrapatient variability[Title/Abstract])) AND (transplant[Title/Abstract])) OR (transplantation[Title/Abstract])) AND (rejection[Title/Abstract])) OR (graft loss[Title/Abstract]).

Subsequently, an active manual search of studies was carried out through carefully selected articles in gray literature.

The research was completed on May 17th, 2023. A total of 43 articles were included in the present study, 376 studies were found in PubMed database, and after careful reading of abstracts, 15 were included in our final review (references No. 3, 7, 24, 31, 33, 37, 38, 57, 60, 62, 65-67, 69, and 70). The excluded works did not satisfactorily meet the theme proposed for the present work. Furthermore, 28 studies different from the ones previously selected in PubMed database were identified in our active manual research in gray literature, all of which were included in this review.

METHODS USED TO ASSESS TAC IPV

Intra-patient variability of Tac over time has been calculated using different methods, particularly [5-7]: Mean levels and standard deviation (SD) of Tac whole-blood Cmin levels, also expressed as the medication level variability index (MLVI).

Mean absolute deviation (MAD), based on the formula MAD (%) = {[(Xmean - X1) + (Xmean - X2)... + (Xmean - Xn)]/n of Cmin results}, where X is the Tac Cmin level.



Coefficient of variation (CV), calculated according to the formula CV (%) = σ/μ , where σ is the standard deviation, and μ is the mean Tac Cmin levels of all available samples of the individual. CV may be corrected or not by the corresponding Tac dose (C0/D) or defined as time-weighted coefficient of variability using time-weighted standard deviation divided by the mean drug levels.

Tac TTR, calculated by the Rosendaal method[8]. Standard deviation or MLVI are expressed as numbers, classes, or dichotomized intervals, whereas CV and TTR are expressed as percentages, tertiles and dichotomized intervals usually at the median split. There are no universally accepted recommended target levels for each one of those parameters used to assess Tac IPV. It is important to highlight that target levels of Tac Cmin usually vary over time according to the type of organ transplant, donor and recipient risk factors for rejection, comorbidity, occurrence of side effects and local immunosuppression protocols. The TTR may also vary sharply according to adopted Tac Cmin thresholds used by distinct centers in different time frames after organ transplantation[5-7].

FACTORS INFLUENCING TAC IPV

Interpatient variability of Tac has been attributed to interindividual pharmacokinetics variability which may be induced by several factors including drug-food and drug-drug interactions, concurrent clinical events such as diarrhea, cholestasis or liver dysfunction, ethnicity and pharmacogenetics[3,9-13]. In this regard, polymorphisms in CYP3A5, CYP3A4, and SLC and ABC transporter encoding genes have been shown to influence the area under the curve of tacrolimus, leading either to rejection or even toxicity in transplant recipients[4,13].

Tac IPV, on the other hand, has been additionally ascribed to non-adherence after organ transplantation, pre-analytical and analytical variables to measure Cmin in different commercially available biochemical assays and administration of different Tac formulations, including generic substitutions[3,5-7]. However, non-adherence is a common reason reported in medical literature to explain the observed deleterious effect of Tac IPV on patient and graft survival in organ transplantation by some[14-19], but not all authors[20,21].

Several approaches have been proposed to assess IPV, with most studies being retrospective, with different methodologies, considering pediatric and adult populations, with no organ-specific approach. Despite these limitations, IPV provides a sign that patients are at risk.

TAC IPV IN HEART TRANSPLANTATION

Four studies evaluating the influence of Tac IPV on HT outcomes were performed in adult patients using Tac CV[22-24] and Tac TTR[25], and in pediatric subjects using Tac SD/MLVI[26,27].

Concerning pediatric LT, Pollock-Barziv *et al*[26] associated Tac IPV with late rejection as well as worse patient and graft survival, but it is worth to mention that few heart transplant recipients were included in this study. Sirota *et al*[27] found similar results for rejection, but the authors also linked Tac SD/MLVI, particularly when higher than 3, to cardiac allograft vasculopathy and patient survival. In adults, Gueta *et al*[22] described an association of Tac IPV in the first year after HT with rejection after 12 but not between three and 12 mo after HT. On the other hand, Shuker *et al*[23] found no increase in the frequency of either early or late acute rejection or even cardiac allograft vasculopathy in heart transplant recipients. Both authors ascribed the lack of association of Tac IPV with early acute rejection[20] and overall rejection[23] to a higher immunosuppression exposure frequently observed in those heart transplant recipients. González-Vílchez *et al* [24] studied the largest cohort up to now. The authors found an effect of Tac IPV, assessed between four to 12 mo after HT, on the first 30 d after HT. None of those studies in adults reported other outcomes such as mortality or Tac-related adverse events in association with Tac IPV[22-25]. The main findings related to HT are depicted in Table 1[22-27].

TAC IPV IN LUNG TRANSPLANTATION

Four studies have investigated the impact of Tac IPV in the frequency of acute and chronic rejection or chronic lung allograft dysfunction (CLAD) after lung transplantation in adults using Tac SD/MLVI[28], Tac CV[29] and Tac TTR[29-31]. Gallagher *et al*[28] demonstrated that higher Tac SD/MLVI between 6-12 mo after lung transplantation was associated with development of CLAD with an adverse impact on survival. Acute rejection, on the other hand was not associated with Tac SD/MLVI[28]. Ensor *et al*[30] evaluated retrospectively the role of Tac TTR in 292 Lung transplant recipients the development of acute and chronic rejection. Tac TTR was measured in the first year after lung transplantation. The authors observed a lower likelihood for acute rejection and CLAD whenever Tac TTR was increased by 10%. Lower rates of infection and mortality was also linked to high Tac TTR. Other authors failed to demonstrate higher frequency of acute rejection after lung transplantation when Tac IPV was assessed by either Tac CV or Tac TTR in the first 6 mo after surgery[29]. On the other hand, more recently Japanese investigators disclosed an association of acute rejection with Tac TTR calculated in the first six month after lung transplantation[31]. The main findings related to lung transplantation are depicted in Table 2.

Zaishideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Tacrolimus intra-patient variability in heart transplantation: Main findings

Heart transplantation

Ref.	Sample size	Donor type	Tac-IPV, assessment	Outcome
Gueta <i>et al</i> [<mark>22</mark>], 2018	72	Deceased	CV	High trough level variability is associated with higher rates of graft rejection, and trough level variability during the first year is associated with increased risk of rejection after HT
Shuker <i>et al</i> [<mark>23</mark>], 2018	86	Deceased	MAD	A high IPV was not associated with the development and progression of cardiac allograft vasculopathy or development of acute cellular rejection
González-Vílchez et al[24], 2022	1581	Deceased	CV	IPV levels had limited influence on mid-term outcomes in heart transplant, however high IPV may predispose to rejection in initially stable patients
Baker <i>et al</i> [25], 2019	67	Deceased	TTR	Higher TTR was not associated with a lower rate of Acute Cellular Rejection within the first 30 d after heart transplant
Pollock-Barziv <i>et al</i> [26], 2010	144	Deceased	SD	Associated Tac IPV with late rejection as well as worse patient and graft survival, but it is worth to mention that few heart transplant recipients were included in this study
Sirota <i>et al</i> [27], 2021	118	Deceased	SD	$SD \ge 3$ is associated with increased risk of poor outcomes

CV: Coefficient of variability; HT: Heart transplant; MAD: Mean absolute deviation; TTR: Time in therapeutic range; SD: Standard deviation.

Table 2 Tacrolimus intra-patient variability in lung transplantation: main findings

Lung transplantation							
Ref.	Sample size	Donor type	Tac-IPV assessment	Outcome			
Gallagher <i>et al</i> [<mark>28], 2015</mark>	110	Non specified	SD	Patients with highly variable trough tacrolimus levels in the second half of the first post- transplant year will likely have similar variability in the second year and are at high risk for subsequent chronic lung allograft dysfunction and death			
Kao et al <mark>[29]</mark> , 2021	157	Non specified	CV and TTR	The results suggest that tacrolimus TTR, time in therapeutic range, and variability are not related to the presence of ACR in LTRs			
Ensor <i>et al</i> [30], 2018	292	Non specified	TTR	Tacrolimus TTR was predictive of clinical outcomes of ACR, CLAD, infection, and death in lung transplant recipients at 1 yr in this investigation after adjusting for potential confounders			
Katada <i>et al</i> [<mark>31</mark>], 2022	90	Living and deceased	TTR	A lower tacrolimus TTR is a predictor of late acute rejection			

SD: Standard deviation; TTR: Time in therapeutic range; ACR: Acute cellular rejection; LTR: Lung transplant rejection; CLAD: Chronic lung allograft dysfunction.

TAC IPV IN LIVER TRANSPLANTATION

Impact of Tac IPV on different outcomes after LT, including allograft rejection, postoperative complications and survival was evaluated in pediatric[26,32-35] and adult[36-42] transplant recipients using SD/MLVI[26,32-34], CV[35-41], and TTR [42].

Most studies performed in children associated higher SD/MLVI to biopsy-proven acute rejection (BPAR) at least six months after LT[42-34]. Defrancq *et al*[35] found similar results in another cohort of children using Tac CV one year after surgery. The authors reported an association between high Tac CV and BPAR and correlated Tac CV with albumin and bilirubin levels in different time frames after LT as well as with missed outpatient consultations, possibly reflecting immunosuppression adherence[33]. Decreased survival was also related to high Tac IPV in just one of those reports including few patients submitted to LT[26].

Up to now, seven reports were published in the medical literature concerning the effect of Tac IPV on post-LT outcomes in adults. In this regard, Christina *et al*[36] disclosed an association between Tac SD/MLVI and BPAR in patients submitted to LT. Similar findings were reported by Del Bello *et al*[37] who reported higher Tac CV measured just after LT discharge with BPAR, as well as with the occurrence of *de novo* anti-donor specific antibodies (*dn*DSA). No impact was seen in patient survival[37]. Van der Veer *et al*[39] evaluated the influence of Tac CV measured between six to 18 mo after LT in adult subjects. The authors were unable to disclose any association between Tac CV and immune mediated graft injury. Rayar *et al*[38] investigated the influence of Tac CV measured in the first 30 d after LT on postoperative outcomes. The authors found an increased frequency of acute kidney injury as well as cardiovascular and

Table 3 Tacrolimus intra-patient variability and liver transplantation: Main findings

	ation			
Ref.	Sample size	Donor	Tac-IPV assessment	Outcome
Lieber <i>et al</i> [<mark>18</mark>], 2013	988	Not specified	SD	Non-adherence among liver transplant recipients is associated with increased risk of graft failure
Stuber <i>et al</i> [<mark>19</mark>], 2008	96	Not specified	SD	The SD has utility of monitoring routine tac blood levels in pediatric recipients for detecting non-adherence prior to clinical rejection
Venkat <i>et al</i> [<mark>32</mark>], 2008	101	Not specified	SD	Variations in tac blood levels is associated with an increased risk of late allograft rejection in pediatric recipients
Shemesh <i>et al</i> [<mark>33</mark>], 2017	400	Both living and deceased donor	SD; MLVI	MLVI predicts late acute rejection in pediatric liver transplantation recipients
de Oliveira <i>et al</i> [<mark>34</mark>], 2017	50	Both living and deceased donor	SD; MLVI	MLVI may be a nice indicator of the risk of medication non-adherence in child-age
Defrancq <i>et al</i> [35], 2019	41	Both living and deceased donor	CV	High Tac IPV may be associated with adverse patient outcomes. Also, there is some impact of biological factors on IPV and therapy adherence
Christina <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], 2014	150	Not specified	SD; MLVI	The MLVI is associated with and can predict rejection, possibly related to non- adherence in adult recipients
Del Bello <i>et al</i> [37], 2018	116	Deceased donor only	CV	Tac IPV could be useful to identify patients with a greater risk of graft rejection and pf developing <i>de novo</i> DSA after liver transplantation
Rayar et al <mark>[38</mark>], 2018	812	Deceased donor only	CV	High CV of Tac concentrations was found to be predictive of Tac-related toxicity and poorer survival
van der Veer <i>et al</i> [<mark>39]</mark> , 2019	326	Both living and deceased donor	CV	High IPV in Tac exposure beyond 6 mo after liver transplantation was not associated with imune-mediated graft injury
Dopazo <i>et al</i> [<mark>40</mark>], 2022	140	Deceased donor only	CV	High IPV between the third and sixth months appears to be an early and independent predictor of poorer liver transplant outcomes
Kim <i>et al</i> [<mark>41</mark>], 2022	636	Both living and deceased donor	CV	High Tac IPV was associated with increased risks of overall mortality and HCC recurrence in liver transplantation recipients with HCC

SD: Standard deviation; CV: Coefficient of variation; MLVI: Medication level variability index; DSA: Donor-specific antibodies; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma

neurologic complications in patients with higher Tac CV. Most importantly, shortened graft and patient survival rates were also associated with Tac IPV[38]. Other authors investigated whether Tac CV, assessed between three to six months after LT, could be associated with worse graft and patient long-term outcomes[40]. In this study, lower long-term survival and poorer renal function were similarly observed in those subjects with high Tac CV. Another group of investigators also linked higher Tac IPV using CV with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) recurrence after LT[41]. Only one study up to now assessed the impact of Tac IPV after LT employing TTR[42]. The authors found that lower TTR in those subjects, irrespectively of Tac CV, was associated with a higher risk for *dn*DSA and long-term death-censored graft loss. The main findings related to LT are depicted in Table 3.

TAC IPV IN KIDNEY TRANSPLANTATION

Most of the studies published thus far demonstrated an adverse impact of Tac IPV on KT outcomes (Table 4)[43-68]. Most of them were performed in adult recipients using MLVI/SD[44], MAD[45-48,62,66], CV[49-60,63,64,67-68], TTR[61] or other methods[65]. In this regard, several authors have associated higher Tac IPV, usually measured more than 6 mo after KT, with BPAR[44-46], long-term graft loss or dysfunction[47-55,58,59,68] as well as with lower survival[50,51]. In some, but not all reports [62], higher Tac IPV was associated with the development of dnDSA[53,67], chronic active antibody mediated rejection [47] and chronic histological lesions in kidney grafts [54,56]. Most authors attributed those Tac IPVrelated outcomes to non-adherence^[43] and some^[57-59] but not others^[60] to genetic predisposition. Two other reports compared TTR[61] and a novel Tac variability score (TVS)[64] to conventional IPV measures and found that both were more reliable in their ability to predict worse outcomes after KT.

Concerning pediatric transplant recipients, Pollock-Barziv et al[26] were one of the first authors to show a significant association of higher Tac IPV and late graft rejection or loss. Similar findings were subsequently reported by other investigators who reported and association of higher Tac IPV with BPAR and graft loss beyond one year in children and adolescents submitted to KT[66-68].

Table 4 Tacrolimus intra-patient variability and kidney transplantation: Main findings

Kidney transplantation

Ref.	Sample size	Donor type	Tac-IPV assessment	Outcomes
Borra <i>et al</i> [47], 2010	297	Both living and deceased donor	MAD	Significant relationship between high Tac-IPV and long-term graft failure
Ro et al[45], 2012	249	Both living and deceased donor	MAD	TAC IPV had a significant impact on rejection-free survival. The effect was influenced by CYP3A5 polymorphism
Sapir-Pichhadze <i>et al</i> [44], 2014	356	Both living and deceased donor	MLVI/SD	Increased time-dependent TAC SD may be an independent risk factor for adverse kidney transplant outcomes
O'Regan <i>et al</i> [49], 2016	394	Both living and deceased donor	CV	Inferior renal allograft survival was observed in recipients with higher Tac-IPV
Rodrigo <i>et al</i> [53], 2016	310	Deceased donor only	CV	Tacrolimus level variability is a strong risk factor for dnDSA development and death- censored graft loss
Whalen <i>et al</i> [<mark>46</mark>], 2017	376	Both living and deceased donor	MAD	Highly variable tacrolimus levels predict worse out- comes postrenal transplantation
Shuker <i>et al</i> [48], 2016	808	Both living and deceased donor	MAD	A high tacrolimus IPV is an independent risk factor for adverse kidney transplant outcomes that can be used as an easy monitoring tool to help identify high-risk RTRs
Vanhove <i>et al</i> [56], 2016	220	Both living and deceased donor	CV	High IPV is related to accelerated progression of chronic histologic lesions before any evidence of renal dysfunction
Rozen-Zvi <i>et al</i> [<mark>51</mark>], 2017	803	Both living and deceased donor	CV	The combination of high CV and exposure to low drug levels might identify high-risk patients in the early post-transplantation period
Goodall <i>et al</i> [<mark>50</mark>], 2017	688	Both living and deceased donor	CV	High tacrolimus IPV and clinic nonattendance are associated with inferior allograft survival
Sablik et al[<mark>62</mark>], 2018	248	Both living and deceased donor	MAD	A high Tac IPV per se does not predispose to the development of chronic active antibody mediated rejection (c-aABMR) but is associated with inferior graft survival once c-aABMR is diagnosed
Seibert <i>et al</i> [57], 2018	1472	Both living and deceased donor	CV	High variability of TAC dose increases risk of acute rejection. High variability of TAC trough increases risk of graft failure
Mo et al[54], 2019	671	Both living and deceased donor	CV	High IPV of Tac is associated with early deterioration of chronic histologic lesions as well as poorer long-term outcomes
Song <i>et al</i> [<mark>61</mark>], 2019	1241	Living donor only	TTR	Increasing the TTR of tacrolimus in the first year was associated with improved long- term outcomes in living kidney transplants, and TTR may be a novel valuable strategy to monitor tacrolimus exposure
Süsal <i>et al</i> [<mark>55</mark>], 2019	6638	Deceased donor only	CV	Even in patients with good outcome during the first 3 post-transplant years, a high IPV was associated with inferior graft survival, indicating that a fluctuating tacrolimus trough level at years 1, 2 and 3 post-transplant is a major problem in kidney transplantation
Rahamimov <i>et al</i> [<mark>52]</mark> , 2019	878	Both living and deceased donor	CV	Monitoring CV can help detect the high-risk patients
Gold <i>et al</i> [66], 2020	1419	Deceased donor only	MAD	A more intense and less variable exposure to tacrolimus could improve graft survival strongly in patients with high TAC IPV
Stefanović <i>et al</i> [<mark>58</mark>], 2020	104	Both living and deceased donor	CV	Combined assessment of tacrolimus IPV and tacrolimus C0/D may categorize patients towards risk of graft deterioration in the long-term post-transplantation period
Stefanović <i>et al</i> [<mark>59]</mark> , 2021	103	Both living and deceased donor	CV	Simultaneous assessment of Tac IPV, C0/D, and CYP3A5 genotype may identify patients at risk of deterioration of graft function in the long-term post-transplantation period
Kim et al[65], 2021	1080	Both living and deceased donor	CV	High tacrolimus IPV significantly increases the risk of graft failure and antibody mediated rejection in patients with high immunological risk
Park <i>et al</i> [63], 2021	1143	Both living and deceased donor	CV	TAC-IPV can significantly affect allograft outcomes even with a high mean TAC-C0
Yin et al[64], 2022	1343	Living donor only	CV	Tac variability score is a novel measure of Tac IPV with higher correlation with graft survival and more convenience in clinical use than CV after kidney transplantation
Baghai Arassi <i>et al</i> [67], 2022	48	Both living and deceased donor	CV	High Tac IPV is associated with an increased risk of dnDSA development and rejection episodes > year 1 posttransplant even in patients with low immunological risk profile



Nuchjumroon et al 188	Both living and CV	No evidence that the CYP3A5 polymorphisms significantly influence tacrolimus IPV
[60], 2022	deceased donor	during the 6 to 12 mo after kidney transplantation

SD: Standard deviation; CV: Coefficient of variation; MLVI: Medication level variability index; DSA: Donor-specific antibodies; TTR: Time in therapeutic range

TAC IPV IN KIDNEY AND PANCREAS, AND BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION

Two studies have evaluated the impact of Tac IPV in the frequency of *dn*DSA, BPAR and graft loss in adult kidney and pancreas recipients[69,70] and in the occurrence of graft vs host disease after bone marrow transplantation[70]. The first report failed to disclose an association of Tac IPV with BPAR in adult recipients of kidney and pancreas transplants, but the main purpose of the study was to compare Tac IPV and graft function in groups of patients receiving two different Tac formulations[69]. Davis et al [38] on the other hand, demonstrated that Tac TTR was associated to a very high risk of dnDSA and a 4-fold risk of graft loss by five years, independently of Tac CV.

In respect to bone marrow transplant recipients, Marco et al^[70] correlated high Tac IPV, measured by CV, with the occurrence of acute graft vs host disease in the first month after BMT (Table 5).

CONCLUSION

Altogether, available data up to now suggest that Tac IPV, possibly due to non-adherence and/or genetic, pharmacologic, or clinically significant factors, is associated with adverse outcomes after organ transplantation, particularly KT. The heterogeneity observed in the results obtained in the reports thus far are probably due to the retrospective design of most studies, the distinct methods used to assess Tac IPV, utilization of different immunosuppression protocols, distinct observation time frames and endpoints. Refinement or combination of different scores may improve usage of Tac IPV in clinical practice in the future.

Table 5 Tacrolimus intra-patient variability in pancreas and bone marrow transplantation: Main findings

Kidney and pancreas, and bone marrow transplant						
Ref.	Sample size	Donor type	Tac-IPV Assessment	Outcome		
Torabi <i>et al</i> [69], 2020	39	Both living and deceased donor	CV	The once daily LCPT dosing may facilitate medication adherence and result in improved long-term outcomes		
Marco <i>et al</i> [70], 2022	128	Living donor only	CV	Determination of Tac IPV soon after alloHSCT could be useful in identifying greater risks of aGVHD		

CV: Coefficient of variation; LCPT: LCP-tacrolimus; alloHSCT: Allogeneic stem cell transplantation; aGVHD: Acute graft-vesus-host disease.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Morais MC, Codes L, and Bittencourt PL contributed to concept and design; Morais MC, Costa G, Guerra L, Vaz N, Codes L, and Bittencourt PL contributed to drafting of the manuscript; and all authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Brazil

ORCID number: Maria Clara Morais 0000-0003-3752-584X; Maria Eduarda Soares 0009-0009-3762-8161; Gabriela Costa 0009-0009-3041-8436; Laura Guerra 0009-0000-4145-9019; Nayana Vaz 0000-0002-6766-0164; Liana Codes 0000-0001-5178-8705; Paulo Lisboa Bittencourt 0000-0003-0883-4870.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL



Bishidena® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

REFERENCES

- Ong SC, Gaston RS. Thirty Years of Tacrolimus in Clinical Practice. Transplantation 2021; 105: 484-495 [PMID: 32541562 DOI: 1 10.1097/TP.00000000003350]
- 2 Staatz CE, Tett SE. Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of tacrolimus in solid organ transplantation. Clin Pharmacokinet 2004; 43: 623-653 [PMID: 15244495 DOI: 10.2165/00003088-200443100-00001]
- Shuker N, van Gelder T, Hesselink DA. Intra-patient variability in tacrolimus exposure: causes, consequences for clinical management. 3 Transplant Rev (Orlando) 2015; 29: 78-84 [PMID: 25687818 DOI: 10.1016/j.trre.2015.01.002]
- Brunet M, Pastor-Anglada M. Insights into the Pharmacogenetics of Tacrolimus Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics. Pharmaceutics 4 2022; 14 [PMID: 36145503 DOI: 10.3390/pharmaceutics14091755]
- Kuypers DRJ. Intrapatient Variability of Tacrolimus Exposure in Solid Organ Transplantation: A Novel Marker for Clinical Outcome. Clin 5 Pharmacol Ther 2020; 107: 347-358 [PMID: 31449663 DOI: 10.1002/cpt.1618]
- Schumacher L, Leino AD, Park JM. Tacrolimus intrapatient variability in solid organ transplantation: A multiorgan perspective. 6 Pharmacotherapy 2021; 41: 103-118 [PMID: 33131078 DOI: 10.1002/phar.2480]
- 7 Coste G, Lemaitre F. The Role of Intra-Patient Variability of Tacrolimus Drug Concentrations in Solid Organ Transplantation: A Focus on Liver, Heart, Lung and Pancreas. Pharmaceutics 2022; 14 [PMID: 35214111 DOI: 10.3390/pharmaceutics14020379]
- 8 Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC, van der Meer FJ, Briët E. A method to determine the optimal intensity of oral anticoagulant therapy. Thromb Haemost 1993; 69: 236-239 [PMID: 8470047]
- Giza P, Ficek R, Dwulit T, Chudek J, Woźniak I, Więcek A, Kolonko A. Number of Regularly Prescribed Drugs and Intrapatient Tacrolimus 9 Trough Levels Variability in Stable Kidney Transplant Recipients. J Clin Med 2020; 9 [PMID: 32575555 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9061926]
- Jacobo-Cabral CO, García-Roca P, Romero-Tejeda EM, Reyes H, Medeiros M, Castañeda-Hernández G, Trocóniz IF. Population 10 pharmacokinetic analysis of tacrolimus in Mexican paediatric renal transplant patients: role of CYP3A5 genotype and formulation. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2015; 80: 630-641 [PMID: 25846845 DOI: 10.1111/bcp.12649]
- 11 Taber DJ, Su Z, Fleming JN, McGillicuddy JW, Posadas-Salas MA, Treiber FA, Dubay D, Srinivas TR, Mauldin PD, Moran WP, Baliga PK. Tacrolimus Trough Concentration Variability and Disparities in African American Kidney Transplantation. Transplantation 2017; 101: 2931-2938 [PMID: 28658199 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000001840]
- Campagne O, Mager DE, Tornatore KM. Population Pharmacokinetics of Tacrolimus in Transplant Recipients: What Did We Learn About 12 Sources of Interindividual Variabilities? J Clin Pharmacol 2019; 59: 309-325 [PMID: 30371942 DOI: 10.1002/jcph.1325]
- 13 Tron C, Lemaitre F, Verstuyft C, Petitcollin A, Verdier MC, Bellissant E. Pharmacogenetics of Membrane Transporters of Tacrolimus in Solid Organ Transplantation. Clin Pharmacokinet 2019; 58: 593-613 [PMID: 30415459 DOI: 10.1007/s40262-018-0717-7]
- 14 Shemesh E, Fine RN. Is calculating the standard deviation of tacrolimus blood levels the new gold standard for evaluating non-adherence to medications in transplant recipients? Pediatr Transplant 2010; 14: 940-943 [PMID: 20887400 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3046.2010.01396.x]
- Herblum J, Dacouris N, Huang M, Zaltzman J, Prasad GVR, Nash M, Chen L. Retrospective Analysis of Tacrolimus Intrapatient Variability 15 as a Measure of Medication Adherence. Can J Kidney Health Dis 2021; 8: 20543581211021742 [PMID: 34188946 DOI: 10.1177/20543581211021742]
- Gokoel SRM, Zwart TC, Moes DJAR, van der Boog PJM, de Fijter JW. No Apparent Influence of Nonadherence on Tacrolimus Intrapatient 16 Variability in Stable Kidney Transplant Recipients. Ther Drug Monit 2020; 42: 702-709 [PMID: 32941396 DOI: 10.1097/FTD.000000000000772
- 17 Kostalova B, Mala-Ladova K, Sulkova SD, Denhaerynck K, De Geest S, Maly J. Comparison of different methods to assess tacrolimus concentration intra-patient variability as potential marker of medication non-adherence. Front Pharmacol 2022; 13: 973564 [PMID: 36313323 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2022.9735641
- Lieber SR, Volk ML. Non-adherence and graft failure in adult liver transplant recipients. Dig Dis Sci 2013; 58: 824-834 [PMID: 23053889 18 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-012-2412-0]
- 19 Stuber ML, Shemesh E, Seacord D, Washington J 3rd, Hellemann G, McDiarmid S. Evaluating non-adherence to immunosuppressant medications in pediatric liver transplant recipients. Pediatr Transplant 2008; 12: 284-288 [PMID: 18331387 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3046.2008.00923.x]
- Leino AD, King EC, Jiang W, Vinks AA, Klawitter J, Christians U, Woodle ES, Alloway RR, Rohan JM. Assessment of tacrolimus 20 intrapatient variability in stable adherent transplant recipients: Establishing baseline values. Am J Transplant 2019; 19: 1410-1420 [PMID: 30506623 DOI: 10.1111/ait.15199]
- Ko H, Kim HK, Chung C, Han A, Min SK, Ha J, Min S. Association between medication adherence and intrapatient variability in tacrolimus 21 concentration among stable kidney transplant recipients. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 5397 [PMID: 33686160 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-84868-5]
- Gueta I, Markovits N, Yarden-Bilavsky H, Raichlin E, Freimark D, Lavee J, Loebstein R, Peled Y. High tacrolimus trough level variability is 22 associated with rejections after heart transplant. Am J Transplant 2018; 18: 2571-2578 [PMID: 29989311 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15016]
- Shuker N, Bouamar R, Hesselink DA, van Gelder T, Caliskan K, Manintveld OC, Balk AH, Constantinescu AA. Intrapatient Variability in 23 Tacrolimus Exposure Does Not Predict The Development of Cardiac Allograft Vasculopathy After Heart Transplant. Exp Clin Transplant 2018; 16: 326-332 [PMID: 28969528 DOI: 10.6002/ect.2016.0366]
- González-Vílchez F, Crespo-Leiro MG, Delgado-Jiménez J, Pérez-Villa F, Segovia-Cubero J, Díaz-Molina B, Mirabet-Pérez S, Arizón Del 24 Prado JM, Blasco-Peiró T, Martínez-Sellés M, Almenar-Bonet L, Garrido-Bravo I, Rábago G, Vázquez de Prada JA. Impact of intrapatient blood level variability of calcineurin inhibitors on heart transplant outcomes. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 2022; 75: 129-140 [PMID: 33744197 DOI: 10.1016/j.rec.2021.02.001]
- 25 Baker WL, Steiger S, Martin S, Patel N, Radojevic J, Darsaklis K, O'Bara L, Kutzler H, Dougherty J, Feingold A, Hammond J, Fusco D, Gluck JA. Association Between Time-in-Therapeutic Tacrolimus Range and Early Rejection After Heart Transplant. Pharmacotherapy 2019; 39: 609-613 [PMID: 30892740 DOI: 10.1002/phar.2262]
- Pollock-Barziv SM, Finkelstein Y, Manlhiot C, Dipchand AI, Hebert D, Ng VL, Solomon M, McCrindle BW, Grant D. Variability in 26 tacrolimus blood levels increases the risk of late rejection and graft loss after solid organ transplantation in older children. Pediatr Transplant 2010; 14: 968-975 [PMID: 21040278 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3046.2010.01409.x]
- Sirota M, Heyrend C, Ou Z, Masotti S, Griffiths E, Molina K. Impact of tacrolimus variability on pediatric heart transplant outcomes. Pediatr 27 Transplant 2021; 25: e14043 [PMID: 34390091 DOI: 10.1111/petr.14043]



- Gallagher HM, Sarwar G, Tse T, Sladden TM, Hii E, Yerkovich ST, Hopkins PM, Chambers DC. Erratic tacrolimus exposure, assessed using 28 the standard deviation of trough blood levels, predicts chronic lung allograft dysfunction and survival. J Heart Lung Transplant 2015; 34: 1442-1448 [PMID: 26186804 DOI: 10.1016/j.healun.2015.05.028]
- 29 Kao CC, Segraves J, Parulekar AD. Tacrolimus monitoring parameters are not associated with acute cellular rejection following lung transplantation. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2021; 77: 63-69 [PMID: 32803287 DOI: 10.1007/s00228-020-02976-z]
- Ensor CR, Iasella CJ, Harrigan KM, Morrell MR, Moore CA, Shigemura N, Zeevi A, McDyer JF, Venkataramanan R. Increasing tacrolimus 30 time-in-therapeutic range is associated with superior one-year outcomes in lung transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2018; 18: 1527-1533 [PMID: 29513387 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14723]
- Katada Y, Nakagawa S, Itohara K, Suzuki T, Kato R, Endo H, Sugimoto M, Yonezawa A, Nakagawa T, Ohsumi A, Nakajima D, Date H, 31 Terada T. Association between time in therapeutic range of tacrolimus blood concentration and acute rejection within the first three months after lung transplantation. J Pharm Health Care Sci 2022; 8: 25 [PMID: 36180948 DOI: 10.1186/s40780-022-00256-9]
- 32 Venkat VL, Nick TG, Wang Y, Bucuvalas JC. An objective measure to identify pediatric liver transplant recipients at risk for late allograft rejection related to non-adherence. Pediatr Transplant 2008; 12: 67-72 [PMID: 18186891 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3046.2007.00794.x]
- 33 Shemesh E, Bucuvalas JC, Anand R, Mazariegos GV, Alonso EM, Venick RS, Reyes-Mugica M, Annunziato RA, Shneider BL. The Medication Level Variability Index (MLVI) Predicts Poor Liver Transplant Outcomes: A Prospective Multi-Site Study. Am J Transplant 2017; 17: 2668-2678 [PMID: 28321975 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14276]
- de Oliveira JTP, Kieling CO, da Silva AB, Stefani J, Witkowski MC, Smidt CR, Mariano da Rocha CR, Hirakata VN, Grossini MDG, 34 Zanotelli ML, Gonçalves Vieira SM. Variability index of tacrolimus serum levels in pediatric liver transplant recipients younger than 12 years: Non-adherence or risk of non-adherence? Pediatr Transplant 2017; 21 [PMID: 29034612 DOI: 10.1111/petr.13058]
- 35 Defrancq C, De Wilde N, Raes A, Van Biervliet S, Vande Velde S, Van Winckel M, De Bruyne R, Prytuła A. Intra-patient variability in tacrolimus exposure in pediatric liver transplant recipients: Evolution, risk factors, and impact on patient outcomes. Pediatr Transplant 2019; 23: e13388 [PMID: 30916883 DOI: 10.1111/petr.13388]
- Christina S, Annunziato RA, Schiano TD, Anand R, Vaidya S, Chuang K, Zack Y, Florman S, Shneider BL, Shemesh E. Medication level 36 variability index predicts rejection, possibly due to nonadherence, in adult liver transplant recipients. Liver Transpl 2014; 20: 1168-1177 [PMID: 24931127 DOI: 10.1002/lt.23930]
- Del Bello A, Congy-Jolivet N, Danjoux M, Muscari F, Lavayssière L, Esposito L, Hebral AL, Bellière J, Kamar N. High tacrolimus intra-37 patient variability is associated with graft rejection, and de novo donor-specific antibodies occurrence after liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 1795-1802 [PMID: 29713132 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i16.1795]
- Rayar M, Tron C, Jézéquel C, Beaurepaire JM, Petitcollin A, Houssel-Debry P, Camus C, Verdier MC, Dehlawi A, Lakéhal M, Desfourneaux 38 V, Meunier B, Sulpice L, Bellissant E, Boudjema K, Lemaitre F. High Intrapatient Variability of Tacrolimus Exposure in the Early Period After Liver Transplantation Is Associated With Poorer Outcomes. Transplantation 2018; 102: e108-e114 [PMID: 29315140 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000002052]
- van der Veer MAA, Nangrahary N, Hesselink DA, Erler NS, Metselaar HJ, van Gelder T, Darwish Murad S. High Intrapatient Variability in 39 Tacrolimus Exposure Is Not Associated With Immune-mediated Graft Injury After Liver Transplantation. Transplantation 2019; 103: 2329-2337 [PMID: 30801539 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000002680]
- 40 Dopazo C, Bilbao I, García S, Gómez-Gavara C, Caralt M, Campos-Varela I, Castells L, Hidalgo E, Moreso F, Montoro B, Charco R. High intrapatient variability of tacrolimus exposure associated with poorer outcomes in liver transplantation. Clin Transl Sci 2022; 15: 1544-1555 [PMID: 35373449 DOI: 10.1111/cts.13276]
- Kim HJ, Lee J, Lee JG, Joo DJ, Kim MS. Clinical association between tacrolimus intra-patient variability and liver transplantation outcomes in 41 patients with and without hepatocellular carcinoma. Sci Rep 2022; 12: 16169 [PMID: 36171260 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-20636-3]
- Davis S, Gralla J, Klem P, Stites E, Wiseman A, Cooper JE. Tacrolimus Intrapatient Variability, Time in Therapeutic Range, and Risk of De 42 Novo Donor-Specific Antibodies. Transplantation 2020; 104: 881-887 [PMID: 32224815 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000002913]
- Gonzales HM, McGillicuddy JW, Rohan V, Chandler JL, Nadig SN, Dubay DA, Taber DJ. A comprehensive review of the impact of 43 tacrolimus intrapatient variability on clinical outcomes in kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 1969-1983 [PMID: 32406604 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16002]
- Sapir-Pichhadze R, Wang Y, Famure O, Li Y, Kim SJ. Time-dependent variability in tacrolimus trough blood levels is a risk factor for late 44 kidney transplant failure. Kidney Int 2014; 85: 1404-1411 [PMID: 24336032 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2013.465]
- Ro H, Min SI, Yang J, Moon KC, Kim YS, Kim SJ, Ahn C, Ha J. Impact of tacrolimus intraindividual variability and CYP3A5 genetic 45 polymorphism on acute rejection in kidney transplantation. Ther Drug Monit 2012; 34: 680-685 [PMID: 23149441 DOI: 10.1097/FTD.0b013e3182731809]
- Whalen HR, Glen JA, Harkins V, Stevens KK, Jardine AG, Geddes CC, Clancy MJ. High Intrapatient Tacrolimus Variability Is Associated 46 With Worse Outcomes in Renal Transplantation Using a Low-Dose Tacrolimus Immunosuppressive Regime. Transplantation 2017; 101: 430-436 [PMID: 26950724 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000001129]
- Borra LC, Roodnat JI, Kal JA, Mathot RA, Weimar W, van Gelder T. High within-patient variability in the clearance of tacrolimus is a risk 47 factor for poor long-term outcome after kidney transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2010; 25: 2757-2763 [PMID: 20190242 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfq096]
- Shuker N, Shuker L, van Rosmalen J, Roodnat JI, Borra LC, Weimar W, Hesselink DA, van Gelder T. A high intrapatient variability in 48 tacrolimus exposure is associated with poor long-term outcome of kidney transplantation. Transpl Int 2016; 29: 1158-1167 [PMID: 27188932 DOI: 10.1111/tri.12798]
- O'Regan JA, Canney M, Connaughton DM, O'Kelly P, Williams Y, Collier G, deFreitas DG, O'Seaghdha CM, Conlon PJ. Tacrolimus trough-49 level variability predicts long-term allograft survival following kidney transplantation. J Nephrol 2016; 29: 269-276 [PMID: 26374111 DOI: 10.1007/s40620-015-0230-0]
- 50 Goodall DL, Willicombe M, McLean AG, Taube D. High Intrapatient Variability of Tacrolimus Levels and Outpatient Clinic Nonattendance Are Associated With Inferior Outcomes in Renal Transplant Patients. Transplant Direct 2017; 3: e192 [PMID: 28795143 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.000000000000710]
- Rozen-Zvi B, Schneider S, Lichtenberg S, Green H, Cohen O, Gafter U, Chagnac A, Mor E, Rahamimov R. Association of the combination of 51 time-weighted variability of tacrolimus blood level and exposure to low drug levels with graft survival after kidney transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2017; 32: 393-399 [PMID: 28025383 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfw394]
- Rahamimov R, Tifti-Orbach H, Zingerman B, Green H, Schneider S, Chagnac A, Mor E, Fox BD, Rozen-Zvi B. Reduction of exposure to 52



tacrolimus trough level variability is associated with better graft survival after kidney transplantation. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2019; 75: 951-958 [PMID: 30762079 DOI: 10.1007/s00228-019-02643-y]

- 53 Rodrigo E, Segundo DS, Fernández-Fresnedo G, López-Hoyos M, Benito A, Ruiz JC, de Cos MA, Arias M. Within-Patient Variability in Tacrolimus Blood Levels Predicts Kidney Graft Loss and Donor-Specific Antibody Development. Transplantation 2016; 100: 2479-2485 [PMID: 26703349 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000001040]
- Mo H, Kim SY, Min S, Han A, Ahn S, Min SK, Lee H, Ahn C, Kim Y, Ha J. Association of Intrapatient Variability of Tacrolimus 54 Concentration With Early Deterioration of Chronic Histologic Lesions in Kidney Transplantation. Transplant Direct 2019; 5: e455 [PMID: 31321291 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.00000000000899]
- Süsal C, Döhler B. Late intra-patient tacrolimus trough level variability as a major problem in kidney transplantation: A Collaborative 55 Transplant Study Report. Am J Transplant 2019; 19: 2805-2813 [PMID: 30859672 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15346]
- Vanhove T, Vermeulen T, Annaert P, Lerut E, Kuypers DRJ. High Intrapatient Variability of Tacrolimus Concentrations Predicts Accelerated 56 Progression of Chronic Histologic Lesions in Renal Recipients. Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 2954-2963 [PMID: 27013142 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13803]
- Seibert SR, Schladt DP, Wu B, Guan W, Dorr C, Remmel RP, Matas AJ, Mannon RB, Israni AK, Oetting WS, Jacobson PA. Tacrolimus 57 trough and dose intra-patient variability and CYP3A5 genotype: Effects on acute rejection and graft failure in European American and African American kidney transplant recipients. Clin Transplant 2018; 32: e13424 [PMID: 30318646 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.13424]
- Stefanović NZ, Veličković-Radovanović RM, Danković KS, Mitić BP, Paunović GJ, Cvetković MB, Cvetković TP. Combined Effect of Inter-58 and Intrapatient Variability in Tacrolimus Exposure on Graft Impairment Within a 3-Year Period Following Kidney Transplantation: A Single-Center Experience. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 2020; 45: 749-760 [PMID: 32886348 DOI: 10.1007/s13318-020-00644-2]
- 59 Stefanović N, Veličković-Radovanović R, Danković K, Pavlović I, Catić-Dorđević A, Bašić J, Despotović M, Jevtović-Stoimenov T, Mitić B, Cvetković T. Effect of the Interrelation between CYP3A5 Genotype, Concentration/Dose Ratio and Intrapatient Variability of Tacrolimus on Kidney Graft Function: Monte Carlo Simulation Approach. Pharmaceutics 2021; 13 [PMID: 34834385 DOI: 10.3390/pharmaceutics13111970]
- Nuchjumroon A, Vadcharavivad S, Singhan W, Poosoonthornsri M, Chancharoenthana W, Udomkarnjananun S, Townamchai N, 60 Avihingsanon Y, Praditpornsilpa K, Eiam-Ong S. Comparison of Tacrolimus Intra-Patient Variability during 6-12 Months after Kidney Transplantation between CYP3A5 Expressers and Nonexpressers. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 36362548 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11216320]
- Song T, Yin S, Jiang Y, Huang Z, Liu J, Wang Z, Li L, Zeng J, Fan Y, Wang X, Li X, Lin T. Increasing Time in Therapeutic Range of 61 Tacrolimus in the First Year Predicts Better Outcomes in Living-Donor Kidney Transplantation. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 2912 [PMID: 31921171 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02912]
- Sablik KA, Clahsen-van Groningen MC, Hesselink DA, van Gelder T, Betjes MGH. Tacrolimus intra-patient variability is not associated with 62 chronic active antibody mediated rejection. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0196552 [PMID: 29746495 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0196552]
- Park Y, Lee H, Eum SH, Kim HD, Ko EJ, Yang CW, Chung BH. Intrapatient Variability in Tacrolimus Trough Levels Over 2 Years Affects 63 Long-Term Allograft Outcomes of Kidney Transplantation. Front Immunol 2021; 12: 746013 [PMID: 34659243 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.746013]
- Yin S, Wang X, Huang Z, Fan Y, Song T, Lin T. Tacrolimus variability score outperforms coefficient of variation in predicting clinical 64 outcomes of living kidney transplantation. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2022; 88: 75-83 [PMID: 33899267 DOI: 10.1111/bcp.14876]
- Kim EJ, Kim SJ, Huh KH, Kim BS, Kim MS, Kim SI, Kim YS, Lee J. Clinical significance of tacrolimus intra-patient variability on kidney 65 transplant outcomes according to pre-transplant immunological risk. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 12114 [PMID: 34108576 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-91630-4
- Gold A, Tönshoff B, Döhler B, Süsal C. Association of graft survival with tacrolimus exposure and late intra-patient tacrolimus variability in 66 pediatric and young adult renal transplant recipients-an international CTS registry analysis. Transpl Int 2020; 33: 1681-1692 [PMID: 32881096 DOI: 10.1111/tri.13726]
- Baghai Arassi M, Gauche L, Schmidt J, Höcker B, Rieger S, Süsal C, Tönshoff B, Fichtner A. Association of intraindividual tacrolimus 67 variability with de novo donor-specific HLA antibody development and allograft rejection in pediatric kidney transplant recipients with low immunological risk. Pediatr Nephrol 2022; 37: 2503-2514 [PMID: 35166920 DOI: 10.1007/s00467-022-05426-3]
- Pizzo HP, Ettenger RB, Gjertson DW, Reed EF, Zhang J, Gritsch HA, Tsai EW. Sirolimus and tacrolimus coefficient of variation is associated 68 with rejection, donor-specific antibodies, and nonadherence. Pediatr Nephrol 2016; 31: 2345-2352 [PMID: 27286686 DOI: 10.1007/s00467-016-3422-5]
- Torabi J, Konicki A, Rocca JP, Ajaimy M, Campbell A, Azzi Y, Pynadath C, Liriano-Ward L, Akalin E, Kinkhabwala M, Graham JA. The 69 use of LCP-Tacrolimus (Envarsus XR) in simultaneous pancreas and kidney (SPK) transplant recipients. Am J Surg 2020; 219: 583-586 [PMID: 32122660 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2020.02.027]
- Marco DN, Salas MQ, Gutiérrez-García G, Monge I, Riu G, Carcelero E, Roma JR, Llobet N, Arcarons J, Suárez-Lledó M, Martínez N, 70 Pedraza A, Domenech A, Rosiñol L, Fernández-Avilés F, Urbano-Ispízua Á, Rovira M, Brunet M, Martínez C. Impact of Early Intrapatient Variability of Tacrolimus Concentrations on the Risk of Graft-Versus-Host Disease after Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation Using High-Dose Post-Transplant Cyclophosphamide. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 2022; 15 [PMID: 36558980 DOI: 10.3390/ph15121529]



WJT

World Journal of Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2023 September 18; 13(5): 264-275

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.264

Case Control Study

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Invasive aspergillosis in liver transplant recipients, an infectious complication with low incidence but significant mortality

Azam Farahani, Fereshteh Ghiasvand, Setareh Davoudi, Zahra Ahmadinejad

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Dabbous H, Egypt; Mucenic M, Brazil

Received: June 28, 2023 Peer-review started: June 28, 2023 First decision: August 4, 2023 Revised: August 17, 2023 Accepted: September 4, 2023 Article in press: September 4, 2023 Published online: September 18, 2023



Azam Farahani, Fereshteh Ghiasvand, Setareh Davoudi, Department of Infectious Diseases, Imam Khomeini Hospital Complex, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran 1478714466, Iran

Zahra Ahmadinejad, Liver Transplantation Research Center, Imam Khomeini Hospital Complex, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran 1478714466, Iran

Corresponding author: Zahra Ahmadinejad, MD, Full Professor, Liver Transplantation Research Center, Imam Khomeini Hospital Complex, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, KESHAVARZ Blvd, Dr Gharib Street, Tehran 1478714466, Iran. ahmadiz@tums.ac.ir

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Infections, including invasive fungal infections (IFIs), are among the leading causes of mortality in liver transplant recipients during the first year posttransplantation.

AIM

To investigate the epidemiology, clinical manifestations, risk factors, treatment outcomes, and mortality rate of post-liver transplantation invasive aspergillosis (IA).

METHODS

In this case-control study, 22 patients with IA were identified by reviewing the archived and electronic medical records of 850 patients who received liver transplants at the Imam Khomeini Hospital complex in Tehran, Iran, between 2014 and 2019. The control group comprised 38 patients without IA infection matched for age and sex. The information obtained included the baseline characteristics of liver transplant patients, operative reports, post-transplantation characteristics of both groups and information about the fungal infection of the patient group.

RESULTS

The prevalence rate of IA among liver transplant recipients at Imam Khomeini Hospital was 2.7%. The risk factors of IA among studied patients included high serum creatinine levels before and post-transplant, renal replacement therapy, antithymocyte globulin induction therapy, post-transplant bile leakage, posttransplant hepatic artery thrombosis, repeated surgery within 30 d after the



transplant, bacterial pneumonia before the aspergillosis diagnosis, receiving systemic antibiotics before the aspergillus infection, cytomegalovirus infection, and duration of post-transplant hospitalization in the intensive care unit. The most prevalent form of infection was invasive pulmonary aspergillosis, and the most common chest computed tomography scan findings were nodules, pleural effusion, and the halo sign. In the case group, prophylactic antifungal therapy was administered more frequently than in the control group. The antifungal therapy response rate at 12 wk was 63.7%. The 3- and 12- mo mortality rates of the patients with IA were 36.4% and 45.4%, respectively (compared with the mortality rate of the control group in 12 mo, which was zero).

CONCLUSION

In this study, the prevalence of IA among liver transplant recipients was relatively low. However, it was one of the leading causes of mortality following liver transplantation. Targeted antifungal therapy may be a factor in the low incidence of infections at our facility. Identifying the risk factors of IFIs, maintaining an elevated level of clinical suspicion, and initiating early antifungal treatment may significantly improve the prognosis and reduce the mortality rate of liver transplant recipients.

Key Words: Aspergillosis; Cytomegalovirus infection; Immunosuppression therapy; Liver transplantation; Risk factors; Fungal infections; Fungal pneumonia

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: In our center, invasive aspergillosis had a low incidence but a high mortality rate among liver transplant recipients. Invasive pulmonary aspergillosis was the most prevalent form of infection. Nodules, pleural effusion, and halo signs were the most commonly observed findings on chest computed tomography scans. Antifungal prophylaxis was more prevalent in the case group than in the control group. At week 6 of antifungal treatment, more than 60% of patients experienced complete recovery or relative response to therapy.

Citation: Farahani A, Ghiasvand F, Davoudi S, Ahmadinejad Z. Invasive aspergillosis in liver transplant recipients, an infectious complication with low incidence but significant mortality. World J Transplant 2023; 13(5): 264-275 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v13/i5/264.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.264

INTRODUCTION

Invasive aspergillosis (IA) is one of the most common invasive fungal infections (IFIs) following solid organ transplants (SOT) and the leading cause of mortality and morbidity among transplant recipients. Several studies have reported rates of IA in organ transplant recipients between 1% and 15% [1-4]. In the TRANSNET study, an extensive cohort study on the prevalence of IFI in SOT recipients, the annual incidence rate of IA was 0.65%, second only to candidiasis[5].

IA typically develops 1 to 3 mo after a transplant[6]. However, delayed IA (6 mo after transplant) has recently been reported[7]. In a Swiss Transplant cohort study, the incidence of IA among liver transplant recipients was significantly lower than among recipients of other organ transplants[8]. In immunocompromised hosts, Aspergillus can infect every organ; however, sinopulmonary involvements are more common. Involvement of the central nervous system (CNS) and multiple organs is more prevalent in liver transplants than in other SOT[9].

The mortality rate of IA among recipients of liver transplants has not fallen over the past 15 years (compared with other SOTs). The 90-day mortality rate of liver transplant recipients with IA is higher than that of recipients of other organ transplants (85.7% vs 15.9%)[8,10].

Early diagnosis and proper treatment of IA are associated with a more favorable prognosis. Noninvasive modalities (such as imaging and antigen detection) aid in antifungal treatment initiation and duration. However, aggressive diagnostic approaches, such as bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL), should be considered for patients with imaging findings suggestive of IA[11,12].

Investigations revealed that BAL culture has a sensitivity of 50% in focal pulmonary lesions[13]. In such instances, a definitive diagnosis necessitates aggressive procedures, such as a thoracoscopic biopsy. Invasive diseases are strongly predicted by isolating Aspergillus species from sputum or BAL samples^[14]. In the early stages of IA, single or multiple nodules are the most frequent finding on computed tomography (CT) scans[15]. Halo sign with peri-nodular haziness is a reliable indicator of IA[16]. In serial CT scan studies, the halo sign decreases during the first week, while the air crescent sign (another radiologic marker of pulmonary IA) increases[17]. Despite the clinical response to antifungal therapy, pulmonary lesions increase in size during the first week of treatment.

Positive serum and BAL galactomannan (GM), in conjunction with IA predisposing factors of the host, clinical and imaging findings consistent with IA, eliminate the need for invasive procedures in diagnosing IA[18]. The GM sensitivity decreases in the case of simultaneous use of active antimold agents[19]. Historically, Piperacillin-Tazobactam has been

linked to false positive GM results[20]. Blood[21,22] and BAL[23,24] Aspergillus PCR are used for initial IA diagnosis. However, further prospective studies are required to investigate the combination of diagnostic modalities in the early IA stages.

Voriconazole is more effective than amphotericin B in the early treatment of IA and significantly improves survival (71% *vs* 58%)[25]. Voriconazole improved the prognosis of CNS involvements[26], which in most cases resulted in high mortality rates[27]. Accordingly, it is recommended as the treatment of choice for IA. There are no clinical trials involving echinocandins as a first-line treatment for IA. Recent attention has been drawn to a combination of echinocandin and amphotericin B or azoles, and *in vitro*, studies have confirmed the synergistic effect of this combination[28,29].

In probable aspergillus cases, a combination of echinocandin with amphotericin B was associated with 40%-60% prognosis improvement[30,31]. Marr *et al*[32] reported survival improvement by combining voriconazole and echinocandin (compared with voriconazole alone). However, further studies are required to investigate the advantages of combination therapy in IA. Patients who recovered a single episode of IA are at higher risk of re-infection during immunosuppressive therapy. Therefore, effective antifungal prophylaxis is recommended, particularly in the hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) group[33,34].

This study examined the prevalence, epidemiology, clinical manifestations, risk factors, antifungal therapy response, and prognosis of IA infection in liver transplant recipients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study population consisted of liver transplant recipients in the Imam Khomeini Hospital complex between 2014 and 2019. This hospital is a major referral and educational hospital and the second-largest center of liver transplants in Iran, with over 100 transplants per year.

Inclusion criteria

The study included all patients who received a liver transplant between 2014 and 2019 and were diagnosed with probable/proven IA.

Exclusion criteria

Multi-organ transplant recipients were excluded from the study.

Control group

Patients without IFI after the liver transplant. The following formula was utilized to determine the sample size of the control group:

Z tests-Correlations: Two independent Pearson r's; Analysis: A priori: Compute required sample size; Input: Tail (s) = One; Effect size q = 0.84; α err probability = 0.05; Power (1- β err probability) = 0.90; Allocation ratio N2/N1 = 2.

Output

Critical z = 1.6448536; Sample size group 1 (case) = 21; Sample size group 2 (control) = 42; Total sample size = 63; Actual power = 0.9037178.

A questionnaire containing the necessary information was created and filled out using data from liver transplant recipients' electronic and non-electronic medical records. The pre-transplant information included: Age, sex, underlying diseases, the Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD) score, intensive care unit (ICU) hospitalization before the transplant, ventilator support during the week before the transplant, fungal colonization or infection within three months before the transplant, dialysis within the month before the transplant, diabetes mellitus, bacteremia within a month before the transplant, bacterial peritonitis before the transplant, cytomegalovirus (CMV) serology, and creatinine level before the transplant.

The peri-transplant information included: The date of transplant, transplant type (from deceased or living donor), type of anastomosis (duct to duct or Roux-en-Y), cold ischemia time (measured by minutes), and the number of transfused blood units (packed cells) during the operation.

The post-transplant information of the patients included: Induction therapy, type of antifungal prophylaxis after transplant, repeated surgery within 30 d after the transplant, ICU admission duration, mechanical ventilation after the transplant, bacteremia and pneumonia within 2 wk before IA diagnosis, creatinine level at the time of diagnosis, CMV viremia or disease within one month before the diagnosis, transplant rejection requiring treatment within three months before the diagnosis of IA.

Aspergillus information included: The time of infection, proven or probable diagnosis, the involved organ, the result of fungus culture, GM, pathology, PCR, radiologic findings, type of antifungal treatment, response to treatment at weeks 6 and 12, death within 12 mo of diagnosis, repeated transplant within 3 mo of diagnosis, and transplant rejection requiring treatment within three months of diagnosis. Proven and probable diagnoses of IA were defined according to the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) criteria[35].

The surgical methods, preventative measures, and immunosuppressive regimen utilized at our center are described in another article[36]. However, since 2018, the antifungal prophylaxis method has been changed from universal to targeted prophylaxis, and since 2020, the diagnosis of CMV infection has been based on PCR rather than CMVPP65 Ag detection.

Raisbideng® WJT https://www.wjgnet.com

Ethical considerations

The Institutional Review Board of the Tehran University of Medical Sciences approved the study with the file number (IR.TUMS.MEDICINE.REC.1399.874). The patients' information was registered anonymously in questionnaires. Due to the study's retrospective nature, no written consent was obtained from the patients.

Data analysis

The data was analyzed using SPSS version 26. The data was expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD) to present quantitative variables with normal distribution and frequency (%) for qualitative variables. The qualitative variables were analyzed by chi-squared test, and continuous quantitative variables with normal distribution were analyzed with Student's *t*-test. *P* values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Multiple logistic regression analyses (both multivariate and bivariate) were performed.

RESULTS

Between 2014 and 2019, 850 patients received a liver transplant at the Imam Khomeini Hospital Complex in Tehran, Iran. Investigations of these patients' medical records revealed 22 cases of IA. To examine the risk factors of IA, 38 liver transplant recipients without a history of IA who matched the case group regarding age and sex were selected as the control group and enrolled in the study. Table 1 summarizes both groups' demographic and pretransplant information (cases and controls).

Of 22 patients with IA infection, 18 (81.8%) were male, and 4 (18.2%) were female. The mean ± SD age of the patients was 45.27 ± 14.85 years. In the control group, 31 (81.6%) were male, and the mean age of the control group was 47.21 (SD = 12.03). The mean number of MELD scores in the case and control groups was similar (21.05 vs 20.24). The blood creatinine level in the case group before the transplant was significantly higher than in the control group [1.74 mg/dL vs 1.22 mg/dL, P value 0.04, odds ratio (OR): 0.34; confidence interval (CI): 0.13-0.87)]. There were no statistically significant differences between the proportions of fulminant hepatic failure (FHF) patients in the patient and control groups [P value = 0.18; 27.3% (n = 6) and 5.3% (n = 2), respectively]. A higher percentage of IA patients were re-transplants [22.7% (n = 5) vs 7.9% (n = 3), P = 0.13], but the difference was not statistically significant. The mean time between liver transplantation and occurrence of IA was 313 ± 337.64 d (range 15-1350 d).

The most prevalent symptom of IA was pulmonary aspergillosis. Of the 22 cases of IA, nine patients had confirmed IA, and 13 had probable IA. Amphotericin B was the primary antifungal treatment (empirical therapy) for 72.6% of the patients. Nodular lesions and halo signs were the most common radiographic findings among the patients (50% and 45.5%, respectively). At week 6 of antifungal therapy, complete recovery and response to treatment were observed in 10 patients (45.5%), and relative response to treatment was observed in 4 patients (18.2%). The mortality rate after the study period was 36.4%. (8 patients). Table 2 presents the patients' information regarding IA.

Among the variables related to the peritransplant period, four variables, including induction therapy with antithymocyte globulin (ATG) [case no = 8 (36.4%), control no = 6 (15.8%), P value < 0.001, OR: 0.08, CI: 0.02-0.41] biliary leakage (case no = 9 [40.9%], control no = 0, P value < 0.001]), reoperation within 30 d of the transplant [case no = 12 (54.5%), control no = 5 (13.2%), P value < 0.001, OR = 7.92, CI: 2.25-27.94], and hepatic artery thrombosis [case no = 8 (36.4%), control no = 1 (2.6%), OR = 21.14, CI: 2.42-184.79], were significantly higher among patients with IA (Table 3).

Within 2 wk before the IA diagnosis, the immunosuppressive regimen included tacrolimus and mycophenolate in over 80% of patients and the control group. Nineteen patients in the case group (86.4%) and 18 patients in the control group (47.4%) received antifungal prophylaxis (40.9% of the patients' group and 13.1% of the control group received voriconazole). Bacterial pneumonia was diagnosed in 13 individuals in the case group (59.1%) and four individuals in the control group (10.5%) within 2 wk of the fungal infection diagnosis (*P* value < 0.001).

During the 2 wk preceding the infection, 16 patients (72.7%) received antibiotics, whereas 39% (no = 15) of patients in the control group received antibiotics during the same period (P value < 0.01). The maximum creatinine level at the time of IA diagnosis was 1.87 mg/dL (SD = 1.1) in the case group vs 1.21 (SD = 1.43) in the control group. CMV viremia was significantly higher in IA patients [case no = 9 (40.9%), control no = 4 (10.5%), P value=0.009]. Transplant rejection requiring treatment within 3 mo before the IA diagnosis occurred in 13 patients in the case group (59.1%) and 10 patients in the control group (26.3%) (*P* value = 0.01; OR: 4.04; CI: 1.33-12.34).

The mean lengths of stay in the ICU at the time of transplantation were 4.1 d for the case group and 1.8 d for the control group (P value = 0.008). The number of patients in the IA group who underwent dialysis was greater [7 (31.8%)] cases vs 4 (10.5%)] controls; P value = 0.08), but the difference was not statistically significant. The results pertaining to post-transplant factors are summarized in Tables 4 and 5.

The case group had a significantly lower 12-month survival rate than the control group (56.4% vs 100%) (P value < 0.001) (Tables 1 and 2).

DISCUSSION

The epidemiology of IFIs (including aspergillosis) among transplant recipients has changed during the last two decades. The incidence rate of IA has significantly reduced (from 40% to less than 10%), and most cases now occur more than 90 d after the transplant[37].



Table 1 Demographic information and background factors before transplantation of the study population						
Covariate	Case	Control	P value	OR (95%CI)		
Gender (Male)	18 (81.8%)	31 (81.6%)	0.9	-		
Gender (Female)	4 (18.2%)	7 (18.4%)	0.9	-		
Age mean (SD)	45.27 (14.85)	47.21 (12.03)	0.58	-		
MELD score (SD)	21.05 (6.78)	20.24 (5.54)	0.62	-		
Pretransplant ICU stay	1.95 (0.22)	1.97 (0.16)	0.9	-		
Duration of pretransplant ICU stay	2 (1)	1 (0)	0.27	-		
Pretransplant creatinine	1.74 (1.03)	1.22 (0.47)	0.04	0.34 (0.13-0.87)		
Pretransplant ventilator within 1 wk	-	1 (2.6%)	0.9	-		
Pretransplant dialysis within 1 mo	-	1 (2.6%)	0.9	-		
Pretransplant diabetes mellitus	12 (54.5%)	15 (39.5%)	0.26	-		
Fulminant hepatic failure	6 (27.3%)	2 (5.3%)	0.18	-		
Immunosuppressive agents (steroids)	2 (9.1%)	6 (15.8%)	0.08	-		
Immunosuppressive agent (antimetabolites)	1 (4.5%)	1 (2.6%)	0.08	-		
Immunosuppressive agent (steroids & antimetabolites)	1 (4.5%)	0	0.08	-		
Immunosuppressive agent (steroids & calcineurin inhibitors)	1 (4.5%)	0	0.08	-		
Immunosuppressive agent (no)	12 (54.5%)	31 (81.6%)	0.08	-		
The pretransplant episode of documented bacterial peritonitis	3 (13.6%)	5 (13.2%)	0.9	-		
Previous systemic antibiotic use of more than 14 consecutive days	5 (22.7%)	6 (15.8%)	0.51	-		
Re transplantation	5 (22.7%)	3 (7.9%)	0.13	-		

CI: Confidence interval; ICU: Intensive care unit; OR: Odds ratio; SD: Standard deviation.

The prevalence of IA in liver transplant recipients was 2.7% in the present study. Other studies have reported incidence rates between 1% and 8%[4,38]. The lower incidence of IA is attributable to several factors, including improvements in surgical techniques, immunosuppressive regimens, and targeted antifungal prophylaxis in patients at moderate to high risk for fungal infection[37]. There was no significant difference between the two groups' underlying liver disease and MELD scores (case and control groups). In earlier studies, however, a MELD score greater than 30 was associated with an increased risk of fungal infection[38].

Several studies have investigated the risk factors associated with IA in transplant recipients. Among the identified risk factors are longer duration of surgery, severe blood loss during the operation, reoperation, steroid-resistant rejection, renal failure (especially when dialysis is required), CMV infection, diabetes, and long-term use of broad-spectrum antibiotics[39-41]. Fortún *et al*[40] (2002) found that positive GM, in addition to reoperation and post-transplant dialysis, was a risk factor for aspergillus infection in 13 patients with IA and 38 patients without IA (control group).

Due to epidemiological changes in IFIs among liver transplant recipients, antifungal prophylaxis for the low-risk group is no longer recommended. The American Society of Transplantation and Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) reserves antifungal prophylaxis against candidiasis in moderate-risk patients (patients with complicated surgeries, anastomosis of choledochojejunostomy and candida colonization before transplantation), and anti-mold prophylaxis for high-risk patients (repeated liver transplant, repeating the surgery, and post-transplant renal replacement therapy)[42-44].

Our facility has also implemented a targeted prevention strategy since 2018. In our study, over 80% of patients with IA received antifungal prophylaxis, compared to less than 50% of patients in the control group.

ATG induction therapy was more common among patients with IA than the control group. Given that administering this medication as induction therapy in our facility is primarily reserved for patients with renal dysfunction, renal function may influence this relationship. However, the immunosuppressive therapy type is a known risk factor for IA[45, 46]. CMV reactivation, an additional risk factor for delayed IA, is one of the most common side effects of anti-thymocyte globulin therapy. In addition, an increased dose of immunosuppressives for the treatment of rejection episodes (such as administration of corticosteroid pulses) was more prevalent in the case group than in the control group (59.1% *vs* 26.3%) [46-49].

In the case group, post-transplant ICU stays were significantly longer than in the control group (4.1 *vs* 1.8). This statistically significant difference in ICU admission length reflects the critical illness of the case group (which requires intensive care) and their increased susceptibility to opportunistic infections[45].

Raishideng® WJT https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Clinical and laboratory information of patients with invasive aspergillus infection ¹					
Covariate	Number (percent)				
Diagnosis (proven)	9 (40.9%)				
Diagnosis (probable)	13 (59.1%)				
Site of diagnosis (isolated pulmonary)	19 (86.4%)				
Site of diagnosis (isolated sinusitis)	2 (9.1%)				
Site of diagnosis (peritonitis)	1 (4.5%)				
Positive galactomannan (serum)	5 (22.7%)				
Positive galactomannan (BAL)	8 (36.4%)				
Positive galactomannan (N/A)	9 (40.9%)				
PCR (positive)	8 (36.4%)				
PCR (negative)	3 (13.6%)				
PCR (N/A)	11 (50%)				
Pathology (positive)	2 (9.1%)				
Pathology (negative)	4 (18.2%)				
Pathology (N/A)	16 (72.7%)				
Fungal culture (positive)	10 (45.5%)				
Fungal culture (negative)	2 (9.1%)				
Fungal culture (N/A)	10 (45.5%)				
Site of positive culture (sputum)	2 (9.1%)				
Site of positive culture (BAL)	6 (27.3%)				
Site of positive culture (sinus biopsy)	4 (18.2%)				
Site of positive culture (pulmonary biopsy)	1 (4.5%)				
Site of positive culture (peritonitis)	1 (4.5%)				
CT scan findings (nodules)	11 (50%)				
CT scan findings (ground glass opacity)	2 (9.1%)				
CT scan findings (halo sign)	10 (45.5%)				
CT scan findings (consolidation)	5 (22.7%)				
CT scan findings (cavity)	3 (13.6%)				
CT scan findings (pleural effusion)	7 (31.8%)				
Treatment response at 6 & 12 wk (cure)	10 (45.5%)				
Treatment response at 6 & 12 wk (partial response)	4 (18.2%)				
Treatment response at 6 & 12 wk (stable)	-				
Treatment response at 6 & 12 wk (progression)	-				
Treatment response at 6 & 12 wk (death)	8 (36.4%)				
12- month mortality	10 (4.45%)				

¹Cases information are attached.

BAL: Bronchoalveolar lavage; CT: Computed tomography; PCR: Polymerase chain reaction; N/A: Not applicable.

A creatinine level equal to or higher than 2 mg/dL is suggested as a risk factor for IA[5]. Renal dysfunction, renal replacement therapy, and dialysis after transplantation are known factors associated with the incidence of IFIs in organ transplant recipients[2,8,40,46]. In the current study, most patients with IA underwent dialysis; however, the difference was not statistically significant, which may be due to the low sample size and lower mean creatinine level before IA diagnosis.

Baishideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 Comparison of factors related to the transplant of the study population								
Covariate	Case	Control	P value	OR (95%CI)				
Type of anastomosis (duct to duct)	16 (72.7%)	30 (78.9%)	0.53	-				
Type of anastomosis (Roux-en-Y)	6 (27.3%)	8 (21.1%)	0.53	-				
Cold ischemic time (h)	283.95 (66.58)	300.37 (58.39)	0.32	-				
Underlying disease (NASH)	6 (27.3%)	6 (15.8%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (PSC)	3 (13.6%)	8 (21.1%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (HBV)	3 (13.6%)	5 (13.2%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (HCV)	2 (9.1%)	1 (2.6%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (AIH)	1 (4.5%)	3 (7.9%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (AIH & HCC)	1 (4.5%)	1 (2.6%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (HCV & NASH)	1 (4.5%)	-	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (PBC)	1 (4.5%)	-	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (Others)	4 (18.1%)	5 (13.2%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (ASH)	-	2 (5.3%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (HCV & HCC)	-	2 (5.3%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (NASH & HCC)	-	2 (5.3%)	0.74	-				
Underlying disease (NASH & PSC)	-	1 (2.6%)	-	-				
Underlying disease (HBV & HCC)	-	1 (2.6%)	-	-				
Underlying disease (Wilson)	-	1 (2.6%)	-	-				
Intraoperative blood transfusion	3.45 (3.05)	2.5 (2.57)	0.2	-				
Induction therapy (ATG)	8 (36.4%)	6 (15.8%)	< 0.001	0.08 (0.02-0.41)				
Induction therapy (methyl prednisolon)	14 (63.6%)	32 (84.2%)	< 0.001	0.05 (0.01-0.25)				
Biliary leak post-transplant	9 (40.9%)	-	< 0.001	-				
Reoperation within 30 d of transplant	12 (54.5%)	5 (13.2%)	< 0.001	7.92 (2.25-27.94)				
Hepatic artery thrombosis post- transplant	8 (36.4%)	1 (2.6%)	< 0.001	21.14 (2.42-184.79)				

AIH: Autoimmune Hepatitis; ASH: Alcoholic Steatohepatitis; ATG: Antithymocyte Globulin; HBV: Hepatitis B Virus; HCC: Hepatocellular Carcinoma; HCV: Hepatitis C Virus; NASH: Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis; PBC: Primary Biliary Cirrhosis; PSC: Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis; CI: Confidence interval: OR: Odds ratio.

According to previous studies[8,46] and the current investigation, any local or systemic infection requiring IV antibiotics for more than 3-14 d is associated with further disruption of the normal microbial flora, the predominance of opportunistic pathogens, and an increased risk of IA. The incidence of bacterial pneumonia was significantly higher in IA cases two weeks before diagnosis (59.1% in the case group compared with 10.5% in the control group). The proportion of IA patients receiving systemic antibiotics two weeks before diagnosis was also greater than that of the control group (P =0.01).

CMV is one of the immunosuppressive viruses known to cause various complications in organ transplant recipients due to cytokine dysregulation. CMV infection has been associated with increased susceptibility to IFIs due to dysfunction of the host's neutrophils and macrophages, which play a crucial role in aspergillosis defense. According to our study, CMV viremia was four times higher in IA patients than in the control group (40.9% vs 10.5%). Previous research shows CMV viremia is one of the most prominent predictors of IA (mostly the late form of IA)[10,40].

According to previous studies [47,49,50], type of anastomosis (Roux-en-y choledochojejunostomy), repeated transplant, FHF, antibiotics, and immunosuppressive medications before the transplant are among the reported risk factors for postliver transplant aspergillosis. However, our study did not observe a significant difference between the two groups regarding these factors, which may be due to the low sample size of the present study.

In the past two decades, the rate of late IA (more than 90 d after transplant) has increased with intervals ranging from 22 to 1117 d[9,10,40,46]. An average of 313 d elapsed between the time of liver transplantation and the occurrence of IA, according to the present study (range 15-810 d). This shift in the onset of IA infection may be attributable to improvements in the early management of high-risk patients, advances in surgical techniques, or delayed risk factors (including CMV infection).

Bishidena® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 4 Comparison of the post-transplant factors in the study population								
Covariate	Case	Control	P value	OR (95%CI)				
Antifungal prophylaxis after transplant (Fluconazole)	10 (45.5%)	13 (34.2%)	0.003	0.20 (0.05-0.85)				
Antifungal prophylaxis after transplant (voriconazole)	9 (40.9%)	5 (13.1%)		0.08 (0.02-0.43)				
Antifungal prophylaxis after transplant (no)	3 (13.6%)	20 (52.7%)		-				
Bacteremia within 2 wk before diagnosis	3 (13.6%)	4 (10.5%)	0.70	-				
Pneumonia within 2 wk before diagnosis	13 (59.1%)	4 (10.5%)	< 0.001	0.08 (0.02-0.31)				
Systemic antibacterial within 2 wk before diagnosis	16 (72.7%)	15 (39.5%)	< 0.001	4.09 (1.31-12.81)				
Dialysis requirement	7 (31.8%)	4 (10.5%)	0.08					
CMV viremia before diagnosis	9 (40.9%)	4 (10.5%)	0.009	5.89 (1.54-22.47)				
CMV diseases before diagnosis	3 (13.6%)	2 (5.3%)	0.35					
Length of ICU stay at the time of transplant	4.05 (3.59)	1.75 (1.20)	0.008	0.56 (0.38-0.82)				
Duration of mechanical ventilation at the time of transplant	1.25 (0.55)	1.12 (0.41)	0.34					
Creatinine at the day of diagnosis (highest value)	1/87 (SD:1/1)	1/21 (SD:1/43)	-	-				

CI: Confidence interval; CMV: Cytomegalovirus; ICU: Intensive care unit; OR: Odds ratio; SD: Standard deviation.

Table 5 Rejection before and after diagnosis of invasive aspergillosis								
Covariate	Case	Control	P value	OR (95%Cl)				
Rejection requiring treatment within 3 mo before diagnosis	13 (59.1%)	10 (26.3%)	0.01	4.04 (1.33-12.34)				
Rejection required treatment after diagnosis	4 (18.2%)	4 (10.5%)	0.45	-				

CI: Confidence interval: OR: Odds ratio.

Statistically significant differences were also observed between patients with IA and controls regarding biliary leakage after transplant (40.9% vs 0%) and hepatic artery thrombosis (36.4% vs 2.6%). It is necessary to consider these factors when determining the risk of IFIs. However, no similar findings were reported in the published literature.

Lungs were this study's most common site of IA (86.4%). This finding was consistent with other studies, which indicated that pulmonary aspergillosis (66% to 79%) was the most prevalent form of IA[4,46]. Environmental exposure to Aspergillus and inhalation of spores will result in airway colonization, which can progress to infection and disease development following transplant-induced immunodeficiency[4,46]. Elevated GM levels at any time after transplantation are an independent factor associated with aspergillosis, which may be a suitable predictor of IA prognosis[40]. In addition to a positive culture or positive PCR of secretions, GM serum antigen > 0.5 or BAL GM > 1 with a sensitivity of 22% and specificity of 84% aids in the diagnosis of IA[51].

In our study, GM was detected in 59.1% of cases, most of which were in the BAL. This finding is consistent with previous research indicating that BAL GM is more sensitive [18,52]. Due to the absence of GM measurement in the control group, the sensitivity and specificity of this test for IA diagnosis cannot be calculated.

In the present study, the most common CT scan findings were lung nodules (50%), halo sign (45.5%), and pleural effusion (31.8%). According to previous research, imaging-specific findings are ground glass opacities, cavities, and the nodule (with or without a halo sign)[15-17]. Halo sign, a typical and early finding of IA in HSCT and neutropenic patients, is rarely observed in SOT patients[53,54]. The high frequency of halo signs in the present study may be due to early diagnosis of this infection and conducting lung CT scan in our center as a primary diagnostic action for each patient with changes in general conditions, with or without pulmonary symptoms.

According to the most recent IDSA guidelines, voriconazole is the drug of choice for IA[55]. Isavuconazole and liposomal amphotericin B are alternatives. In our study, liposomal amphotericin B was administered to most patients with a high probability of fungal infection. After the diagnosis was confirmed, the treatment was changed to voriconazole. Those who received voriconazole had a higher recovery and survival rate than those who received amphotericin B[25]. In our study, the response to treatment, defined as complete and partial recovery within 12 wk of initiating antifungal treatment, was 45.5% and 18.2%, respectively. The overall treatment response rate of 63.7% was consistent with previous studies[9,42].

Overall, 16.9% of the mortality during the first year post-transplant is due to IA. The highest mortality rate is observed in CNS involvements and disseminated aspergillosis[10]. However, due to the increased rate of late-onset IA, the mortality has been reduced from 65%-92% to 22% (the higher mortality rate was related to the studies before 2000)[56].

Nevertheless, the mortality rate of IA in liver transplant patients remains high[8]. According to our study, the 12-week mortality rate was 36.4%. A study by Nagao et al[7] (2016) on five IA patients reported a mortality rate of 80%. The oneyear survival rate of aspergillosis patients in this study was 54.6%. In contrast, the entire control group population survived one year after the transplant. A study by Barchiesi *et al*[4] revealed a 35% one-year survival rate. After the year 2000, the survival of patients who received voriconazole improved in the absence of renal failure.

Considering the study's retrospective nature, it was impossible to investigate several factors (including the role of GM and β -d-glucan in the IA diagnosis). In addition, due to the absence of invasive diagnostic procedures, most IA patients were not diagnosed.

CONCLUSION

Despite the significant decline in the incidence of IA at our center, this disease has a negative impact on the survival of transplant recipients. Early diagnosis based on clinical symptoms and imaging modalities, as well as identification of factors related to the incidence of IA, is of significant importance. The imaging findings of aspergillosis, including nodule and halo signs, continue to play a crucial role in diagnosing this lethal invasive infection.

Furthermore, according to our study, the level of creatinine before the transplant, the creatinine level after the transplant, or patients who require renal replacement therapies after transplantation, induction therapy with ATG, ICU length of stay after the transplant, pneumonia 2 wk before the IA diagnosis, CMV viremia within one month before the IA diagnosis, receiving systemic antibiotics more than three days within the two weeks before the IA diagnosis, treatment-required transplant rejection within three months before the IA diagnosis, repeated surgery within 30 d after the transplant were the risk factors associated with increased risk of IA. We also hypothesize that biliary leakage and hepatic artery thrombosis after the transplant are two potential risk factors for IA.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

During the past two decades, the incidence rate and onset time of invasive fungal infections (IFIs), such as aspergillosis, have changed in liver transplant recipients.

Research motivation

Determining the new risk factors and treatment outcomes of early and late-onset invasive aspergillosis (IA) in highvolume centers for liver transplants is essential. It may have a key role in improving the prognosis of these patients.

Research objectives

This study sought to determine the prevalence, risk factors, treatment outcomes, and prognosis of IA infection among liver transplant recipients at our institution. We also investigated the study patients' major clinical, laboratory, and radiologic manifestations of IA.

Research methods

To determine the prevalence of IA, we analyzed the data of 850 patients who received a liver transplant at the Imam Khomeini Hospital Complex in Tehran, Iran, between 2014 and 2019, and recorded the study variables for patients with an IA diagnosis. In addition, we devised a case-control study to identify the risk factors for IA and compare the prognoses of patients with and without IA.

Research results

Our center's IA rate was 2.7%. Pulmonary aspergillosis was the most common presentation of the patients with IA. In most of our patients, imaging findings indicative of aspergillosis, including nodule and halo signs, were detected. The high level of creatinine before and after the transplant, renal replacement therapy after transplantation, induction therapy with antithymocyte globulin, longer duration of intensive care unit admission after the transplant, pneumonia 2 wk before the IA diagnosis, cytomegalovirus viremia within 1 mo before the IA diagnosis, receiving systemic antibiotics for more than three days within the 2 wk before the IA diagnosis, treatment-required transplant rejection within three months before the IA diagnosis, receiving systemic antibiotics for longer than three months before the IA diagnosis, repeated surgery within 30 d after the transplant, biliary leakage after the transplant and hepatic artery thrombosis were the risk factors associated with increased risk of IA.

Research conclusions

In this study, the prevalence of IA among liver transplant recipients was relatively low. However, it was one of the leading causes of mortality following liver transplantation. Identifying and addressing risk factors for IA, early diagnosis and prompt treatment of this fatal disease may improve the prognosis and decrease the mortality rate of liver transplant recipients.



Research perspectives

The primary risk factors of IA in liver transplant recipients should be determined through a large, multicenter study. Moreover, we must investigate the role of noninvasive and rapid diagnostic tests in diagnosing patients suspected of IFI early.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors of the present study would like to thank all the staff who contributed to this research. The authors also would like to appreciate the support and constructive comments of the methodologist research development office, Imam Khomeini Hospital Complex, Tehran, Iran.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ahmadinejad Z designed the research study, translate the article into English and revised the manuscript according to the reviewer comments; Farahani A performed the research, analyzed the data and prepared the draft of manuscript in Persian language; Ghiasvand F and Davoudi S scientifically and grammatically edit the translated manuscript; All authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional research ethics committee, school of medicine, Tehran university of medical sciences (Approval No. IR.TUMS.MEDICINE.REC.1399.874).

Informed consent statement: Informed consent was waived by the EBR due to retrospective pattern of the study. However the questionnaires were anonymous.

Conflict-of-interest statement: There is no any conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement - checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement - checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Iran

ORCID number: Fereshteh Ghiasvand 0000-0001-8095-9104; Zahra Ahmadinejad 0000-0002-0753-7084.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang XD

REFERENCES

- 1 Singh N, Husain S; AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Invasive aspergillosis in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2009; 9 Suppl 4: S180-S191 [PMID: 20070679 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02910.x]
- Neofytos D, Treadway S, Ostrander D, Alonso CD, Dierberg KL, Nussenblatt V, Durand CM, Thompson CB, Marr KA. Epidemiology, 2 outcomes, and mortality predictors of invasive mold infections among transplant recipients: a 10-year, single-center experience. Transpl Infect Dis 2013; 15: 233-242 [PMID: 23432974 DOI: 10.1111/tid.12060]
- Romero FA, Razonable RR. Infections in liver transplant recipients. World J Hepatol 2011; 3: 83-92 [PMID: 21603030 DOI: 3 10.4254/wjh.v3.i4.83
- Barchiesi F, Mazzocato S, Mazzanti S, Gesuita R, Skrami E, Fiorentini A, Singh N. Invasive aspergillosis in liver transplant recipients: 4 epidemiology, clinical characteristics, treatment, and outcomes in 116 cases. Liver Transpl 2015; 21: 204-212 [PMID: 25348192 DOI: 10.1002/LT.24032]
- 5 Pappas PG, Alexander BD, Andes DR, Hadley S, Kauffman CA, Freifeld A, Anaissie EJ, Brumble LM, Herwaldt L, Ito J, Kontoyiannis DP, Lyon GM, Marr KA, Morrison VA, Park BJ, Patterson TF, Perl TM, Oster RA, Schuster MG, Walker R, Walsh TJ, Wannemuehler KA, Chiller TM. Invasive fungal infections among organ transplant recipients: results of the Transplant-Associated Infection Surveillance Network (TRANSNET). Clin Infect Dis 2010; 50: 1101-1111 [PMID: 20218876 DOI: 10.1086/651262]
- Singh N, Husain S; AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Aspergillosis in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant 2013; 13 6 Suppl 4: 228-241 [PMID: 23465016 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12115]
- 7 Nagao M, Fujimoto Y, Yamamoto M, Matsumura Y, Kaido T, Takakura S, Uemoto S, Ichiyama S. Epidemiology of invasive fungal infections



after liver transplantation and the risk factors of late-onset invasive aspergillosis. J Infect Chemother 2016; 22: 84-89 [PMID: 26683245 DOI: 10.1016/j.jiac.2015.11.005]

- Neofytos D, Chatzis O, Nasioudis D, Boely Janke E, Doco Lecompte T, Garzoni C, Berger C, Cussini A, Boggian K, Khanna N, Manuel O, 8 Mueller NJ, van Delden C; Swiss Transplant Cohort Study. Epidemiology, risk factors and outcomes of invasive aspergillosis in solid organ transplant recipients in the Swiss Transplant Cohort Study. Transpl Infect Dis 2018; 20: e12898 [PMID: 29668068 DOI: 10.1111/tid.12898]
- Husain S, Silveira FP, Azie N, Franks B, Horn D. Epidemiological features of invasive mold infections among solid organ transplant 9 recipients: PATH Alliance® registry analysis. Med Mycol 2017; 55: 269-277 [PMID: 27703022 DOI: 10.1093/mmy/myw086]
- 10 Singh N, Avery RK, Munoz P, Pruett TL, Alexander B, Jacobs R, Tollemar JG, Dominguez EA, Yu CM, Paterson DL, Husain S, Kusne S, Linden P. Trends in risk profiles for and mortality associated with invasive aspergillosis among liver transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis 2003; 36: 46-52 [PMID: 12491201 DOI: 10.1086/345441]
- 11 Lehrnbecher T, Hassler A, Groll AH, Bochennek K. Diagnostic Approaches for Invasive Aspergillosis-Specific Considerations in the Pediatric Population. Front Microbiol 2018; 9: 518 [PMID: 29632518 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00518]
- Segal BH, Walsh TJ. Current approaches to diagnosis and treatment of invasive aspergillosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2006; 173: 707-717 12 [PMID: 16387806 DOI: 10.1164/rccm.200505-727SO]
- Levine SJ. An approach to the diagnosis of pulmonary infections in immunosuppressed patients. Semin Respir Infect 1992; 7: 81-95 [PMID: 13 1439323]
- Yu VL, Muder RR, Poorsattar A. Significance of isolation of Aspergillus from the respiratory tract in diagnosis of invasive pulmonary 14 aspergillosis. Results from a three-year prospective study. Am J Med 1986; 81: 249-254 [PMID: 3090879 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9343(86)90259-7
- Greene R. The radiological spectrum of pulmonary aspergillosis. Med Mycol 2005; 43 Suppl 1: S147-S154 [PMID: 16110807 DOI: 15 10.1080/13693780500064771]
- 16 Kuhlman JE, Fishman EK, Burch PA, Karp JE, Zerhouni EA, Siegelman SS. Invasive pulmonary aspergillosis in acute leukemia. The contribution of CT to early diagnosis and aggressive management. Chest 1987; 92: 95-99 [PMID: 3595255 DOI: 10.1378/chest.92.1.95]
- Caillot D, Couaillier JF, Bernard A, Casasnovas O, Denning DW, Mannone L, Lopez J, Couillault G, Piard F, Vagner O, Guy H. Increasing 17 volume and changing characteristics of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis on sequential thoracic computed tomography scans in patients with neutropenia. J Clin Oncol 2001; 19: 253-259 [PMID: 11134220 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2001.19.1.253]
- Ascioglu S, Rex JH, de Pauw B, Bennett JE, Bille J, Crokaert F, Denning DW, Donnelly JP, Edwards JE, Erjavec Z, Fiere D, Lortholary O, 18 Maertens J, Meis JF, Patterson TF, Ritter J, Selleslag D, Shah PM, Stevens DA, Walsh TJ; Invasive Fungal Infections Cooperative Group of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer; Mycoses Study Group of the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases. Defining opportunistic invasive fungal infections in immunocompromised patients with cancer and hematopoietic stem cell transplants: an international consensus. Clin Infect Dis 2002; 34: 7-14 [PMID: 11731939 DOI: 10.1086/32335]
- Marr KA, Laverdiere M, Gugel A, Leisenring W. Antifungal therapy decreases sensitivity of the Aspergillus galactomannan enzyme 19 immunoassay. Clin Infect Dis 2005; 40: 1762-1769 [PMID: 15909264 DOI: 10.1086/429921]
- Sulahian A, Touratier S, Ribaud P. False positive test for aspergillus antigenemia related to concomitant administration of piperacillin and 20 tazobactam. N Engl J Med 2003; 349: 2366-2367 [PMID: 14668472 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM200312113492424]
- Pham AS, Tarrand JJ, May GS, Lee MS, Kontoyiannis DP, Han XY. Diagnosis of invasive mold infection by real-time quantitative PCR. Am J 21 Clin Pathol 2003; 119: 38-44 [PMID: 12520695 DOI: 10.1309/RQ05-PP9N-EG6D-ADXR]
- Hebart H, Löffler J, Reitze H, Engel A, Schumacher U, Klingebiel T, Bader P, Böhme A, Martin H, Bunjes D, Kern WV, Kanz L, Einsele H. 22 Prospective screening by a panfungal polymerase chain reaction assay in patients at risk for fungal infections: implications for the management of febrile neutropenia. Br J Haematol 2000; 111: 635-640 [PMID: 11122112 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2000.02378.x]
- Buchheidt D, Baust C, Skladny H, Ritter J, Suedhoff T, Baldus M, Seifarth W, Leib-Moesch C, Hehlmann R. Detection of Aspergillus species 23 in blood and bronchoalveolar lavage samples from immunocompromised patients by means of 2-step polymerase chain reaction: clinical results. Clin Infect Dis 2001; 33: 428-435 [PMID: 11462176 DOI: 10.1086/321887]
- Kawazu M, Kanda Y, Goyama S, Takeshita M, Nannya Y, Niino M, Komeno Y, Nakamoto T, Kurokawa M, Tsujino S, Ogawa S, Aoki K, 24 Chiba S, Motokura T, Ohishi N, Hirai H. Rapid diagnosis of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis by quantitative polymerase chain reaction using bronchial lavage fluid. Am J Hematol 2003; 72: 27-30 [PMID: 12508264 DOI: 10.1002/ajh.10259]
- 25 Herbrecht R, Denning DW, Patterson TF, Bennett JE, Greene RE, Oestmann JW, Kern WV, Marr KA, Ribaud P, Lortholary O, Sylvester R, Rubin RH, Wingard JR, Stark P, Durand C, Caillot D, Thiel E, Chandrasekar PH, Hodges MR, Schlamm HT, Troke PF, de Pauw B; Invasive Fungal Infections Group of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer and the Global Aspergillus Study Group. Voriconazole vs amphotericin B for primary therapy of invasive aspergillosis. N Engl J Med 2002; 347: 408-415 [PMID: 12167683 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa020191]
- 26 Schwartz S, Ruhnke M, Ribaud P, Corey L, Driscoll T, Cornely OA, Schuler U, Lutsar I, Troke P, Thiel E. Improved outcome in central nervous system aspergillosis, using voriconazole treatment. Blood 2005; 106: 2641-2645 [PMID: 15998833 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2005-02-0733
- Holding KJ, Dworkin MS, Wan PC, Hanson DL, Klevens RM, Jones JL, Sullivan PS. Aspergillosis among people infected with human 27 immunodeficiency virus: incidence and survival. Adult and Adolescent Spectrum of HIV Disease Project. Clin Infect Dis 2000; 31: 1253-1257 [PMID: 11073760 DOI: 10.1086/317452]
- 28 Kirkpatrick WR, Perea S, Coco BJ, Patterson TF. Efficacy of caspofungin alone and in combination with voriconazole in a Guinea pig model of invasive aspergillosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2002; 46: 2564-2568 [PMID: 12121933 DOI: 10.1128/AAC.46.8.2564-2568.2002]
- 29 Luque JC, Clemons KV, Stevens DA. Efficacy of micafungin alone or in combination against systemic murine aspergillosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2003; 47: 1452-1455 [PMID: 12654692 DOI: 10.1128/AAC.47.4.1452-1455.2003]
- Aliff TB, Maslak PG, Jurcic JG, Heaney ML, Cathcart KN, Sepkowitz KA, Weiss MA. Refractory Aspergillus pneumonia in patients with 30 acute leukemia: successful therapy with combination caspofungin and liposomal amphotericin. Cancer 2003; 97: 1025-1032 [PMID: 12569602 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.11115]
- Kontoyiannis DP, Hachem R, Lewis RE, Rivero GA, Torres HA, Thornby J, Champlin R, Kantarjian H, Bodey GP, Raad II. Efficacy and 31 toxicity of caspofungin in combination with liposomal amphotericin B as primary or salvage treatment of invasive aspergillosis in patients with hematologic malignancies. Cancer 2003; 98: 292-299 [PMID: 12872348 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.11479]
- Marr KA, Boeckh M, Carter RA, Kim HW, Corey L. Combination antifungal therapy for invasive aspergillosis. Clin Infect Dis 2004; 39: 797-32 802 [PMID: 15472810 DOI: 10.1086/423380]



- **Offner F**, Cordonnier C, Ljungman P, Prentice HG, Engelhard D, De Bacquer D, Meunier F, De Pauw B. Impact of previous aspergillosis on the outcome of bone marrow transplantation. *Clin Infect Dis* 1998; **26**: 1098-1103 [PMID: 9597235 DOI: 10.1086/520274]
- 34 Fukuda T, Boeckh M, Guthrie KA, Mattson DK, Owens S, Wald A, Sandmaier BM, Corey L, Storb RF, Marr KA. Invasive aspergillosis before allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: 10-year experience at a single transplant center. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* 2004; 10: 494-503 [PMID: 15205670 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2004.02.006]
- 35 De Pauw B, Walsh TJ, Donnelly JP, Stevens DA, Edwards JE, Calandra T, Pappas PG, Maertens J, Lortholary O, Kauffman CA, Denning DW, Patterson TF, Maschmeyer G, Bille J, Dismukes WE, Herbrecht R, Hope WW, Kibbler CC, Kullberg BJ, Marr KA, Muñoz P, Odds FC, Perfect JR, Restrepo A, Ruhnke M, Segal BH, Sobel JD, Sorrell TC, Viscoli C, Wingard JR, Zaoutis T, Bennett JE; European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer/Invasive Fungal Infections Cooperative Group; National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Mycoses Study Group (EORTC/MSG) Consensus Group. Revised definitions of invasive fungal disease from the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer/Invasive Fungal Infections Cooperative Group and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Mycoses Study Group (EORTC/MSG) Consensus Group. *Clin Infect Dis* 2008; 46: 1813-1821 [PMID: 18462102 DOI: 10.1086/588660]
- 36 Ebrahimi A, Dashti H, Mohammadpour Z, Ahmadinejad Z. Invasive Fungal Infections With Good Survival Following Liver Transplant: A Single-Center Experience From a Developing Country. *Exp Clin Transplant* 2020; 18: 196-200 [PMID: 31724926 DOI: 10.6002/ect.2019.0010]
- 37 Eschenauer GA, Kwak EJ, Humar A, Potoski BA, Clarke LG, Shields RK, Abdel-Massih R, Silveira FP, Vergidis P, Clancy CJ, Nguyen MH. Targeted vs universal antifungal prophylaxis among liver transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2015; 15: 180-189 [PMID: 25359455 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12993]
- 38 Steinbach WJ, Marr KA, Anaissie EJ, Azie N, Quan SP, Meier-Kriesche HU, Apewokin S, Horn DL. Clinical epidemiology of 960 patients with invasive aspergillosis from the PATH Alliance registry. J Infect 2012; 65: 453-464 [PMID: 22898389 DOI: 10.1016/j.jinf.2012.08.003]
- 39 Gavalda J, Len O, San Juan R, Aguado JM, Fortun J, Lumbreras C, Moreno A, Munoz P, Blanes M, Ramos A, Rufi G, Gurgui M, Torre-Cisneros J, Montejo M, Cuenca-Estrella M, Rodriguez-Tudela JL, Pahissa A; RESITRA (Spanish Network for Research on Infection in Transplantation). Risk factors for invasive aspergillosis in solid-organ transplant recipients: a case-control study. *Clin Infect Dis* 2005; **41**: 52-59 [PMID: 15937763 DOI: 10.1086/430602]
- 40 Fortún J, Martín-Dávila P, Moreno S, De Vicente E, Nuño J, Candelas A, Bárcena R, García M. Risk factors for invasive aspergillosis in liver transplant recipients. *Liver Transpl* 2002; 8: 1065-1070 [PMID: 12424722 DOI: 10.1053/jlts.2002.36239]
- 41 Phoompoung P, Herrera S, Pérez Cortés Villalobos A, Foroutan F, Orchanian-Cheff A, Husain S. Risk factors of invasive fungal infections in liver transplant recipients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Transplant* 2022; 22: 1213-1229 [PMID: 34953174 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16935]
- 42 Liu X, Ling Z, Li L, Ruan B. Invasive fungal infections in liver transplantation. Int J Infect Dis 2011; 15: e298-e304 [PMID: 21345708 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2011.01.005]
- 43 Giannella M, Bartoletti M, Morelli M, Cristini F, Tedeschi S, Campoli C, Tumietto F, Bertuzzo V, Ercolani G, Faenza S, Pinna AD, Lewis RE, Viale P. Antifungal prophylaxis in liver transplant recipients: one size does not fit all. *Transpl Infect Dis* 2016; 18: 538-544 [PMID: 27237076 DOI: 10.1111/tid.12560]
- 44 Osawa M, Ito Y, Hirai T, Isozumi R, Takakura S, Fujimoto Y, Iinuma Y, Ichiyama S, Tanaka K, Mishima M. Risk factors for invasive aspergillosis in living donor liver transplant recipients. *Liver Transpl* 2007; 13: 566-570 [PMID: 17394155 DOI: 10.1002/Lt.21099]
- 45 **Baddley JW**. Clinical risk factors for invasive aspergillosis. *Med Mycol* 2011; **49** Suppl 1: S7-S12 [PMID: 20718606 DOI: 10.3109/13693786.2010.505204]
- 46 Kusne S, Torre-Cisneros J, Mañez R, Irish W, Martin M, Fung J, Simmons RL, Starzl TE. Factors associated with invasive lung aspergillosis and the significance of positive Aspergillus culture after liver transplantation. J Infect Dis 1992; 166: 1379-1383 [PMID: 1431256 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/166.6.1379]
- 47 Rosenhagen M, Feldhues R, Schmidt J, Hoppe-Tichy T, Geiss HK. A risk profile for invasive aspergillosis in liver transplant recipients. Infection 2009; 37: 313-319 [PMID: 19629387 DOI: 10.1007/s15010-008-8124-x]
- 48 Singh N, Limaye AP, Forrest G, Safdar N, Muñoz P, Pursell K, Houston S, Rosso F, Montoya JG, Patton P, Del Busto R, Aguado JM, Fisher RA, Klintmalm GB, Miller R, Wagener MM, Lewis RE, Kontoyiannis DP, Husain S. Combination of voriconazole and caspofungin as primary therapy for invasive aspergillosis in solid organ transplant recipients: a prospective, multicenter, observational study. *Transplantation* 2006; 81: 320-326 [PMID: 16477215 DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000202421.94822.f7]
- 49 Singh N, Arnow PM, Bonham A, Dominguez E, Paterson DL, Pankey GA, Wagener MM, Yu VL. Invasive aspergillosis in liver transplant recipients in the 1990s. *Transplantation* 1997; 64: 716-720 [PMID: 9311708 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199709150-00009]
- 50 Briegel J, Forst H, Spill B, Haas A, Grabein B, Haller M, Kilger E, Jauch KW, Maag K, Ruckdeschel G. Risk factors for systemic fungal infections in liver transplant recipients. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 1995; 14: 375-382 [PMID: 7556225 DOI: 10.1007/BF02114892]
- 51 Scolarici M, Jorgenson M, Saddler C, Smith J. Fungal Infections in Liver Transplant Recipients. *J Fungi (Basel)* 2021; 7 [PMID: 34210106 DOI: 10.3390/jof7070524]
- 52 Botterel F, Farrugia C, Ichai P, Costa JM, Saliba F, Bretagne S. Real-time PCR on the first galactomannan-positive serum sample for diagnosing invasive aspergillosis in liver transplant recipients. *Transpl Infect Dis* 2008; 10: 333-338 [PMID: 18627580 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3062.2008.00323.x]
- 53 Qin J, Fang Y, Dong Y, Zhu K, Wu B, An Y, Shan H. Radiological and clinical findings of 25 patients with invasive pulmonary aspergillosis: retrospective analysis of 2150 Liver transplantation cases. Br J Radiol 2012; 85: e429-e435 [PMID: 22496071 DOI: 10.1259/bjr/39784231]
- 54 Levesque E, Rizk F, Noorah Z, Aït-Ammar N, Cordonnier-Jourdin C, El Anbassi S, Bonnal C, Azoulay D, Merle JC, Botterel F. Detection of (1,3)-β-d-Glucan for the Diagnosis of Invasive Fungal Infection in Liver Transplant Recipients. *Int J Mol Sci* 2017; **18** [PMID: 28422065 DOI: 10.3390/ijms18040862]
- 55 Patterson TF, Thompson GR 3rd, Denning DW, Fishman JA, Hadley S, Herbrecht R, Kontoyiannis DP, Marr KA, Morrison VA, Nguyen MH, Segal BH, Steinbach WJ, Stevens DA, Walsh TJ, Wingard JR, Young JA, Bennett JE. Practice Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Aspergillosis: 2016 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. *Clin Infect Dis* 2016; **63**: e1-e60 [PMID: 27365388 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciw326]
- 56 Wróblewska M, Sulik-Tyszka B, Figiel W, Niewiński G, Zieniewicz K. Invasive Aspergillosis in Transplant Recipients. In: Selim Sozen. Surgical Recovery. London: IntechOpen, 2019

Zaishideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

World Journal of WJ7Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2023 September 18; 13(5): 276-289

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.276

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Cohort Study Reasons and effects of the decline of willing related potential living kidney donors

Rabea Ahmed Gadelkareem, Amr Mostafa Abdelgawad, Nasreldin Mohammed, Ahmed Reda, Nashwa Mostafa Azoz, Mohammed Ali Zarzour, Hisham Mokhtar Hammouda, Mahmoud Khalil

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): E

P-Reviewer: Cabezuelo AS, Spain; Sarier M, Turkey; Ghazanfar A, United Kingdom

Received: July 13, 2023 Peer-review started: July 13, 2023 First decision: August 4, 2023 Revised: August 6, 2023 Accepted: August 25, 2023 Article in press: August 25, 2023 Published online: September 18, 2023



Rabea Ahmed Gadelkareem, Amr Mostafa Abdelgawad, Nasreldin Mohammed, Ahmed Reda, Mohammed Ali Zarzour, Hisham Mokhtar Hammouda, Mahmoud Khalil, Department of Urology, Assiut Urology and Nephrology Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, Assiut University, Assiut 71515, Egypt

Nashwa Mostafa Azoz, Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology Unit, Assiut University Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, Assiut University, Assiut 71515, Egypt

Corresponding author: Rabea Ahmed Gadelkareem, MD, Assistant Professor, Department of Urology, Assiut Urology and Nephrology Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, Assiut University, Elgamaa Street, Assiut 71515, Egypt. dr.rabeagad@yahoo.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Although the availability of related living donors (LDs) provides a better chance for receiving kidney transplantation (KT), the evaluation protocols for LD selection remain a safeguard for the LD's safety. These protocols are variable from one center to another, resulting in variable rates of decline of the potential LDs (PLDs). The decline of willing PLDs may occur at any stage of evaluation, starting from the initial contact and counseling to the day of operation.

AIM

To identify the causes of the decline of PLDs, the predictors of PLD candidacy, and the effect on achieving LDKT.

METHODS

A retrospective study was performed on the willing PLDs who attended our outpatient clinic for kidney donation to their related potential recipients between October 2015 and December 2022. The variables influencing their candidacy rate and the fate of their potential recipients were studied. Two groups of PLDs were compared: Candidate PLDs after a completed evaluation vs non-candidate PLDs with a complete or incomplete evaluation. A multivariate logistic regression was performed to assess the factors contributing to the achievement of PLD candidacy.

RESULTS

Of 321 willing PLDs, 257 PLDs (80.1%) accessed the evaluation to variable extents for 212 potential recipients, with a mean age (range) of 40.5 ± 10.4 (18-65) years,


including 169 females (65.8%). The remaining 64 PLDs (19.9%) did not access the evaluation. Only 58 PLDs (18.1%) succeeded in donating, but 199 PDLs (62.0%) were declined; exclusion occurred in 144 PLDs (56.0%) for immunological causes (37.5%), medical causes (54.9%), combined causes (9.7%), and financial causes (2.1%). Regression and release occurred in 55 PLDs (17.1%). The potential recipients with candidate PLDs were not significantly different from those with non-candidate PLDs, except in age (P = 0.041), rates of completed evaluation, and exclusion of PLDs (P < 0.001). There were no factors that independently influenced the rate of PLD candidacy. Most patients who failed to have KT after the decline of their PLDs remained on hemodialysis for 6 mo to 6 years.

CONCLUSION

The rate of decline of willing related PLDs was high due to medical or immunological contraindications, release, or regression of PLDs. It reduced the chances of high percentages of potential recipients in LDKT.

Key Words: Donor decline; Donor evaluation; Donor exclusion; Kidney transplantation; Living kidney donors; Related living donors

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The rate of decline of willing related potential living kidney donors (PLDs) was high (82%). The causes of decline included exclusion by the transplant team due to contraindications of donation, release after disqualification of the potential recipients, and regression due to withdrawal of the decision by the PLD. PLD exclusion was the commonest form of decline due to medical or immunological contraindications. The high rate of PLD decline resulted in the loss of chances of kidney transplantation for high percentages of potential recipients who were left on dialysis for variably long periods, who died, or who were lost to an unknown fate.

Citation: Gadelkareem RA, Abdelgawad AM, Mohammed N, Reda A, Azoz NM, Zarzour MA, Hammouda HM, Khalil M. Reasons and effects of the decline of willing related potential living kidney donors. World J Transplant 2023; 13(5): 276-289 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v13/i5/276.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.276

INTRODUCTION

Living donor kidney transplantation (LDKT) is the optimal form of renal replacement therapy. It shortens the waiting times and provides better survival rates. Hence, it is recommended as the first choice of treatment for each candidate patient with end-stage renal disease (ESRD), especially with the availability of related potential LDs (PLDs)[1,2]. However, it is not easy to find a willing and suitable LD. In addition, the preparation of a potential donor-recipient pair for KT is a complex sequential process[3,4]. Relative to the variability of assessment protocols, the reported acceptance rate of LDs is variable at 8.0%-18.4% [4,5]. This variability in acceptance of LDs is significant among countries, medical societies, health organizations, and KT units [3,6].

A large proportion of those PLDs may initially be declined for demographic issues, such as unsuitable age and genetic unrelatedness, or excluded later during preparation due to different medical reasons[5,7,8]. Although the exclusion of a willing potential LD may negatively reflect on the potential recipients by reducing their chances of transplantation, it is still a paramount principle not to violate the donor's safety for the recipient's benefit[3-5]. In our center, the maintenance of this narrow-margin principle between the donor's safety and the recipient's benefit through the assessment process was the motivator for the conduct of the current study. The aim was to assess the reasons for the decline of PLDs and their effects on the fate of potential recipients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

A retrospective study was carried out by reviewing the data of the PLDs of ESRD patients who presented to our center seeking KT from October 2015 to December 2022. The inclusion criteria were a related PLD presenting to our center for donation to a related, intended patient with ESRD. Exclusion criteria included an initial failure to confirm the willingness to donate a kidney (Figure 1).

The flow of PLD evaluation

In our policy, the process of PLD evaluation is differentiated into six phases, from the initial contact to the achievement of a donation (Figure 2). Owing to the unavailability of a national waitlisting program and the nature of related living





Figure 1 Flowchart of the potential living kidney donors and their intended recipients showing the levels of decline of the potential donors from the stage of access to the kidney transplantation center to the achievement of kidney transplantation. PLD: Protentional living donor.

kidney donation (LKD), PLDs directly present with their intended recipients at the KT center. The initial two phases consist of contact with the KT center, confirmation of willingness to donate a kidney to an intended related potential recipient, counseling about KT, sociodemographic evaluation (age, familial relationships, and financial issues), and blood group matching. Initial history taking is usually performed at the first contact or counseling session, excluding previously known systemic diseases, financial issues, and factors violating the integrity of volunteer donation.

The third and fourth phases are multidisciplinary steps, including medical and immunological evaluations. The medical evaluation consists of detailed medical history, physical examinations, laboratory workups, and imaging workups. Kidney function was evaluated using the Technetium 99-diethylenetriamine pentaacetate renography for measurement of the total and split glomerular filtration rates in all PLDs. However, the anatomical features were evaluated by abdominal ultrasonography and contrast-enhanced computed tomography with renal angiography. In addition, psychosocial assessment was a routine workup to evaluate the mental status of the PLDs, motives for donation, cognitive capacity, expectations after donation, and exclude any psychogenic drive for self-harm. Furthermore, evaluation and exclusion of drug addiction was performed. The immunological workups include crossmatching, human leukocytic antigen (HLA) typing, and panel reactive antibody tests.

The fifth phase includes medicolegal permissions, determination of the date of surgery, and revision of the important tests. The sixth phase is the donation achievement.

Study outcomes and variables

The primary outcome of this study was the rate of PLD candidacy. It was defined as the percentage of PLDs with complete preparation for LKD and acceptance for donation, either when the transplantation was performed or it was cancelled due to causes related to the patient. Because the relevant characteristics of the intended patients were significant for the identification of the causes of decline of PLDs and their fates, these characteristics of those intended patients and their distribution per the outcomes of evaluation of their PLDs were studied. Each patient's file was examined for relevant demographic and clinical characteristics and related PLDs. The studied characteristics included the number, age, relatedness form and degree, decline form (exclusion, release, or regression), and causes of the decline of PLDs. In addition, the fate of PLDs and patients with declined PLDs was studied. Here, the relatedness was presented relative to





DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v13.i5.276 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Diagram of the different phases of the evaluation of the potential living kidney donors, showing the essential workups, percentages of declined donors, and causes of decline in each phase. DSA: Donor-specific antigens test; HLA: Human leukocytic antigen; KT: Kidney transplantation; PLD: Protentional living donor; PRA: Panel reactive antibodies test.

the genetic relatedness degrees (ABO-relatedness).

According to the primary outcome, the PLDs were differentiated into two groups. The first group was the candidate donors, including the finally accepted donors with a completed evaluation and preparation for donation. The second group was the non-candidate donors, including the remaining donors who were disqualified as PLDs, either with or without initial acceptance or a completed evaluation. The characteristics of both groups were compared with each other. The secondary outcomes were the rate of PLD decline in each phase of evaluation and the fate of patients with declined PLDs.

Sociodemographic definitions and documentation of donor-recipient relatedness

Throughout the process of LKD, the different statuses of the PLD were distinguished from each other as well-defined clinical events. They were defined to describe the events of PLD evaluation, from access to the achievement of LKD (Table 1). Based on these definitions, the outcomes of the study were estimated.

Official documents from the Civil Registry Office were requested to document the degree of genetic relatedness between the PLD and the intended recipient. Routinely, the birth certificates and national identity numbers for all PLDs and their intended recipients were the basic documents. In our center, the first and second degrees of genetic relatedness of PLDs were routinely allowed, based on these routine documents. If there was difficulty finding a PLD, the third and fourth degrees were allowed after investigations, and they were mostly processed similarly to the unrelated PLDs. In the latter instances, further documentation was warranted, such as a family genealogy tree from the Civil Registry Office and consent registered in the Real Estate Publicity Department and Documentation Office.

The processes employed to investigate the transparency of kidney donation

The transparency of the donation as an unpaid act was verified via multiple processes to identify and exclude any financial agreements in these cases: (1) Direct confrontation of the PLD and intended recipient with this issue during counseling and warning them that KT would not be done if there was any violation to the moral donation principle; (2) The KT ethical committee, which is composed of three medical professors who do not belong to the KT team, has the authority to investigate and revise the process of preparation, including the soundness of donation principles; (3) Each patient with a PLD of more than the second degree genetic relatedness had to introduce the proofs (official papers or documents) of the relatedness to his PLD from the Civil Registry Office; (4) As mentioned above, each PLD accepted for donation of his kidney had to sign a consent that the donation was for free without any financial or non-financial rewards from the intended recipient or from other relatives. This consent was documented by the Real Estate Publicity Department and Documentation Office; and (5) The Egyptian Supreme Committee of Organ Transplantation revises all these files and documents to prove the family tree and degree of relatedness between each candidate PLD and the intended recipient, with a special attention to exclude any financial agreements.

Ethical approval

This study was conducted as part of a research project on the outcomes of LDKT performed in our center. The institutional review board number is 17200148/2017.



Table 1 Definitions of terms used to describe the living donors at different stages of kidney donation including access, counseling, evaluation, acceptance, candidacy, and donation with kidney transplantation of related intended patients

Term	Definition
PLD	An individual who confirmed his willingness to donate a kidney to an intended patient at the initial counseling settings and was ready to start the evaluation for kidney donation, regardless of the commencement of the evaluation
Related PLD	PLD who had a relative intended patient with end-stage renal disease up to the 4 th degree of genetic relatedness. Regardless of their genetic relatedness, the wife or husband of a recipient was considered a related PLD
Excluded PLD	PLD who was disqualified as a kidney donor and excluded from the process of kidney donation by KT team due to causes that disqualify candidacy to donate a kidney, such as medical, immunological, or financial causes
Regressed PLD	PLD who withdrew his decision of kidney donation at any stage after an initial confirmation of the donation decision and before the operation
Released PLD ¹	PLD who was still willing and completed or was still continuing the evaluation, but the related intended patient was withdrawn from KT preparation due to any cause
Candidate PLD	PLD who completed all the steps of evaluation and was finally accepted by the KT team for kidney donation, regardless of the later regression or release from donation
Accepted PLD	PLD who completed the evaluation without exclusion from kidney donation and was accepted for donation without release or regression from his willingness
LD	PLD becomes a LD when he succeeds in donating a kidney to his/her intended patient, which also means KT was achieved
Relatedness degrees and forms ²	First degree: father, mother, son, daughter, wife, and husband. Second degree: brother, sister, grandfather, grandmother, grandson, and granddaughter. Third degree: nephew, uncle and aunt. Fourth degree: cousins

¹In this study, release of the donor meant that the donor became free from any commitment to donating a kidney because his relative intended patient was excluded, regressed, or died. In addition, the donor would not be allocated to another patient, as he/she was willing to donate to his intended relative only.

²Husband-wife couples were processed as first-degree related potential living donors when donations were planned between each couple. However, they may be genetically related or unrelated, relative to their premarriage relatedness. KT: Kidney transplantation; LD: Living donor; PLD: Potential living donor.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with EasyMedStat software (version 3.21.4; www.easymedstat.com). The continuous data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation and range. The categorical data were presented as frequency and percentage for each category. Two groups of PLDs were compared: candidate PLDs after a completed evaluation *vs* non-candidate PLDs with a complete or incomplete evaluation. Normality and hetereoskedasticity of continuous data were assessed with the White test (or Shapiro-Wilk in multivariate analysis) and Levene's test, respectively. Continuous outcomes were compared with the unpaired Student *t*-test, Welch *t*-test, or Mann-Whitney *U* test according to the data distribution. Categorical outcomes were compared with the *chi-squared* or Fisher's exact test. A multivariate logistic regression was performed to assess the factors contributing to the achievement of PLD candidacy. The data were checked for multicollinearity with the Belsley-Kuh-Welsch technique. A *P* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 302 patients were referred to our center for related LDKT during the time frame of this study. The mean age (range) was 32.0 ± 11.7 (12-66) years. Of them, 44 patients (14.6%) did not have PLDs at presentation. The remaining 258 patients (85.4%) had 1-3 PLDs, constituting a total of 339 related PLDs. Eighteen PLDs (5.3%) were considered unwilling to donate a kidney as they could not confirm their willingness at the initial contact and presentation and were excluded from the study. However, the remaining 321 PLDs (94.7%) confirmed their initial willingness to donate to 254 relative patients and were included in the study (Figures 1 and 2). The mean (range) age of all the willing PLDs was 39.7 ± 10.4 (18-65) years, and they included 116 males (36.1%) and 205 females (63.9%).

Despite the confirmed willingness, 64 of 321 PLDs (19.9%) did not start the evaluation. The causes included financial inability in 14 PLDs (21.9%), serving as reserve donors in 8 PLDs (12.5%), patient non-candidacy to KT in 13 PLDs (20.3%), patient regression from KT in 27 PLDs (42.2%), and patient death in 2 PLDs (3.1%).

The remaining 257 PLDs (80.1%) were relatives of 212 patients (83.5%) (Tables 2-5). At the different levels of evaluation and preparation for the final acceptance as LDs (Figure 2), these 257 PLDs variably passed these levels of evaluation with two main outcomes. The first outcome was the completion of the evaluation with candidacy in 74 PLDs (28.8%). The second outcome was the failure to achieve the candidacy outcome in 183 PLDs (71.8%) (Table 5). The causes of the latter outcome were PLD exclusion in 144 PLDs (72.4%), regression from the donation decision in 18 PLDs (9%), and release after the disqualification of their potential recipients in 37 PLDs (18.6%) (Tables 3 and 4). In PLDs with candidacy for donation, 16 PLDs (21.6%) did not commit to donation. Accordingly, only 58 LDs (78.4%) succeeded in committing to

Table 2 Demographic and clinical characteristics of patients and related potential living donors presented as total patients (n = 212) and as a comparison between patients with candidate (n = 74) and patients with non-candidate (n = 138) potential living donors

Characteristics	Total patients, <i>n</i> = 212	Patients with candidate PLDs, <i>n</i> = 74	Patients with non-candidate PLDs, <i>n</i> = 138	<i>P</i> value
	mean ± SD (range)/nur	nber (%)		-
Mean age in yr	31.2 ± 10.6 (13-66)	29.1 ± 9.6 (13-57)	32.9 ± 12.0 (14-66)	0.041
Sex, <i>n</i> = 212				
Males	173 (81.6%)	67 (90.5%)	106 (76.8%)	0.087
Females	39 (18.4%)	7 (9.5%)	32 (23.2%)	
Status of dialysis at presentation, $n = 212$				
Preemptive	19 (9.0%)	5 (6.8%)	14 (10.1%)	0.462
On regular hemodialysis	193 (91.0%)	69 (93.2%)	124 (89.9%)	
Primary kidney disease, $n = 212$				
Unknown	167 (78.8%)	56 (75.7%)	111 (80.4%)	0.088
Systemic disease	14 (6.6%)	3 (2.7%)	11 (8.0%)	
Glomerulonephritis	6 (2.8%)	3 (4.0%)	3 (2.2%)	
Hereditary renal disease	5 (3.8%)	2 (2.7%)	3 (2.2%)	
Obstructive uropathy	11 (5.2%)	8 (10.8%)	3 (2.2%)	
Urolithiasis	9 (4.2%)	2 (2.7%)	7 (5.1%)	
Categories of primary kidney disease, $n = 212$				
Unknown	167 (78.8%)	56 (75.7%)	111 (80.4%)	0.154
Systemic disease	14 (6.6%)	3 (4.0%)	11 (8.0%)	
Local, renal/urinary	31 (14.6%)	15 (20.3%)	16 (11.6%)	
Patients per number of PLDs, $n = 212$				
Patients with one PLD	165 (77.8%)	53 (71.6%)	112 (81.2%)	0.265
Patients with two PLDs	39 (18.4%)	17 (23.0%)	22 (15.9%)	
Patients with three PLDs	8 (3.8%)	4 (5.4%)	4 (2.9%)	

PLD: Potential living donor; SD: Standard deviation.

donating a kidney to their related recipients, representing 18.1% of the total 321 PLDs (Figures 1 and 2; Table 4). Single and multiple PLDs were found to be related to 165 patients (77.8%) and 47 patients (22.2%), respectively. The respective percentages of achieved donations (26.7% *vs* 29.8%) were not significantly different (P = 0.674).

In the 144 excluded PLDs, the causes of exclusion were immunological incompatibilities in 54 PLDs (37.5%), medical abnormalities in 79 PLDs (54.9%), and financial inability in 3 PLDs (2.1%). Combined immunological and medical causes occurred in 14 PLDs (9.7%). In addition, the exclusion was distributed per intended patient (Tables 3 and 4). Exclusion occurred before or after completion of the evaluation in 109 PLDs (75.7%) and 35 PLDs (24.3%), respectively.

A comparison was performed between patients with candidate PLDs and patients with non-candidate PLDs. Their characteristics and PLD-related distributions were not significantly different, except in the mean age, which was lower in patients with candidate PLDs (P = 0.041). During a variable follow-up period, patients with declined PLDs mostly remained on dialysis for 6 mo to 6 years (Tables 2-4).

Also, a comparison was performed between the candidate and non-candidate PLDs. Their characteristics were not significantly different, except in the degree of relatedness to their potential recipients (P = 0.020) and the time spent in the evaluation of PLDs. The latter was lower in patients with non-candidate PLDs (P < 0.001) (Table 5).

A multivariate logistic regression analysis of factors influencing the candidacy of PLDs was carried out. It revealed that the on-dialysis potential recipient (P = 0.451), younger age PLDs (P = 0.925), male PLDs (P = 0.940), second or higher degrees of relatedness to the recipient vs the first degree (P = 0.834), and multiplicity of PLDs (P = 0.123) were not significantly associated with the rate of candidacy of PLDs for LKD after completion of preparation (Table 6).

Table 3 Patient characteristics distributed per extent and outcome of evaluation of their potential living donors presented as total patients (n = 212) and as a comparison between patients with candidate (n = 74) and patients with non-candidate (n = 138) potential living donors.

Characteristics	Total patients, <i>n</i> = 212	Patients with candidate PLDs, <i>n</i> = 74	Patients with non-candidate PLDs, <i>n</i> = 138	<i>P</i> value
	mean ± SD (range)/nu	mber (%)		-
Patients per extent of evaluation of their $PLDs^1$, $n = 212$				
Completed 1	71 (33.5%)	54 (73%)	17 (12.3%)	< 0.001
Completed 1/incomplete 1	15 (7.1%)	7 (9.5%)	8 (5.8%)	
Completed 1/incomplete 2	2 (0.9%)	2 (2.7%)	0 (0%)	
Completed 1/not evaluated 1	7 (3.3%)	6 (8.1%)	1 (0.7%)	
Completed 2	3 (1.4%)	3 (4.1%)	0 (0%)	
Completed 2/incomplete 1	1 (0.5%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.7%)	
Completed 3	2 (0.9%)	2 (2.7%)	0 (0%)	
Incomplete 1	94 (44.3%)	0 (0%)	94 (68.1%)	
Incomplete 1/not evaluated 1	1 (0.5%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.7%)	
Incomplete 1/not evaluated 2	1 (0.5%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.7%)	
Incomplete 2	13 (6.1%)	0 (0%)	13 (9.4%)	
Incomplete 3	2 (0.9%)	0 (0%)	2 (1.5%)	
Patients per acceptance of their PLDs ¹ , $n = 212$				
Accepted 1	44 (20.6%)	44 (59.5%)	0 (0%)	< 0.001
Accepted 1/excluded 1	8 (3.8%)	8 (10.8%)	0 (0%)	
Accepted 1/excluded 2	2 (0.9%)	2 (2.7%)	0 (0%)	
Accepted 1/not evaluated 1	4 (1.9%)	4 (5.4%)	0 (0%)	
Excluded 1	81 (38.2%)	0 (0%)	81 (0%)	
Excluded 2	14 (6.6%)	0 (0%)	14 (10.1%)	
Excluded 3	2 (0.9%)	0 (0%)	2 (1.5%)	
Excluded 1/released 1	5 (2.4%)	1 (1.4%)	4 (2.9%)	
Excluded 1/regressed 1	3 (1.4%)	1 (1.4%)	2 (1.5%)	
Excluded 1/not evaluated 1	2 (0.9%)	0 (0%)	2 (1.5%)	
Excluded 1/not evaluated 2	1 (0.5%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.7%)	
Excluded 2/released 1	2 (0.9%)	1 (1.4%)	1 (0.7%)	
Excluded 2/regressed 1	1 (0.5%)	1 (1.4%)	0 (0%)	
Released 1	28 (13.2%)	7 (9.5%)	21 (15.2%)	
Released 1/not evaluated 1	2 (0.9%)	2 (2.7%)	0 (0%)	
Regressed 1	12 (5.7%)	3 (4.1%)	9 (6.5%)	
Regressed 2	1 (0.5%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.7%)	

¹The numbers here refer to the number of potential living donors who had this characteristic. In addition, it included 10 potential donors who were not evaluated, and they presented here as part of the combined donors to the same patients with evaluated donors. PLD: Potential living donor; SD: Standard deviation.

Saishideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

DISCUSSION

The state of the decline of PLDs is related to the availability of PLDs, the balance between the donor's safety and the recipient's benefit, and the achievement of LDKT as the optimal outcome of all these issues [5,6,8]. The decline of PLDs is the backbone of the failure to maintain the availability of PLDs for the majority of patients[6]. Its burden extends between and reflects on the medical and psychosocial integrities of the PLDs and their intended recipients. However, the current literature is still insufficient to resolve this problem because the rates of acceptance of LDs are still variably low[5]. Hence, the current situation mandates further study of the two main aspects of the process of evaluating PLDs. First, the root causes of the failure of high proportions of those PLDs to achieve the task of donating a kidney represent a major topic, despite the limited current literature. Many studies addressed the identification of these causes to help reduce their effects on the process of LKD[5,6,8]. Second, the fate of the intended recipients who had their PLDs lost is the other aspect that may be more critical in the process because those potential recipients may have their all chances for KT permanently lost also[5,6,9,10].

The availability of a related LD provides a better chance for receiving KT, and it represents the only source of grafts in many countries and programs [2,9]. This fact may raise caution to try to decrease the rate of decline of PLDs in those programs to afford the needs of the increasing pool of potential recipients over time. However, the evaluation protocols for suitable LD selection remain a safeguard against violations of donor safety, implementing a complex evaluation process[2,9,10]. According to this process, KT centers usually evaluate LD acceptance and exclusion processes in the context of the principle of non-violation of the donor's safety [3,11]. Our center implements only the LDKT strategy; hence, we evaluated the rate of candidacy and acceptance of LDs, the causes of declined PLDs, and the fate of potential recipients with declined PLDs.

Although the current rate of successful candidacy of PLDs is similar to other reported values from other centers, it is relatively hard to expect the exact percentage of PLDs who ultimately succeed in committing to LKD. This uncertainty in the acceptance rates can be attributed to the variability in the assessment protocols and stages from one center to another and from one country to another [5,8]. The stages of evaluation in our center may be different from those in other centers, due to socioeconomic factors and different policies of donation[5,9]. We considered HLA-typing at the late stage of evaluation due to sociodemographic reasons. Immunological tests for HLA typing and crossmatching are costly. However, other routine and multidisciplinary laboratory evaluations can be individualized into separate steps to catch any abnormalities in medical and laboratory workups with relatively low costs. In addition, related PLDs have higher chances of being HLA-matched with their intended recipients. On the other hand, this latter characteristic may be the reason why the mean age of the potential recipients was significantly lower than that of the PLDs. First-degree and second-degree relatedness between the PLDs and their potential recipients provided high proportions of parents and older sisters or brothers as PLDs for their relatives.

The efficiency of the evaluation of PLDs should consider the needs of the PLD, the intended recipient, and the qualifications of the healthcare system. The timing of the evaluation of multiple PLDs is an important issue[12]. In the current study, only the early stages of evaluation, including counseling and blood group (ABO) compatibility testing, can be carried out simultaneously due to financial causes. In addition, high proportions of PLD decline occur in the early stages of evaluation[5]. Similarly, the current results showed that more than two-thirds of PLDs were declined during the early evaluation phases.

The causes of the decline of PLDs are various and can be classified into PLD-related and patient-related causes[13]. In the current study, the major PLD-related causes included medical, immunological, and sociodemographic factors or combinations of them. ABO and HLA incompatibilities were responsible for high percentages of excluded PLDs. Trials to expand the pool of LDs may need novel strategies, such as accepting LDs with abnormalities that are not accepted in the standard criteria for LDs. The variability of the causes of decline mandates the variability of these strategies. Hence, this practice should be implemented under strict control in LDKT programs because it may have impacts on preserving full safety issues [3,4,11]. On the same principle, such policies have not been permitted in our center protocols to avoid the violation of donor safety.

About half of the evaluated PLDs in the current study were excluded due to immunological causes, including both ABO and HLA incompatibilities. These immunological barriers can be managed by strategies such as incompatible LDKT and paired or exchange LKD (PKD)[14]. The former strategy is certainly not acceptable due to the relatively inferior outcomes compared to the matched ABO-compatible or HLA-compatible patients and the potential higher costs for desensitization[15]. However, PKD or kidney-sharing programs seem to be more effective for the KT programs that are based on the LDKT strategy due to their low costs and high efficiency. They are currently recommended to reduce the decline rate of PLDs, which may increase the acceptance rate of PLDs to more than 50% and provide better chances of finding high-quality donors for those who already have matched PLDs. They overcome considerable proportions of ABOincompatible and HLA-incompatible PLDs. Unfortunately, these programs have not been established in our country so far, allowing a high rate of PLD loss. However, it has gradually become the focus of some interested researchers in our KT community[16,17].

The PLDs could be disqualified from donation for different medical contraindications. These reasons vary from one program to another program[3,5]. In the current study, medical contraindications were found in more than 60% of the causes of the decline of PLDs, similar to previously reported experiences^[5]. They included several clinical forms, such as systemic diseases, infections, urolithiasis, and primary kidney diseases with hereditary or familial patterns. These reasons may benefit from the relaxation of the standard criteria for donation, such as accepting those PLDs with mild hypertension, obesity, proteinuria, sporadic urolithiasis, or microscopic hematuria[3,18].

283

Table 4 Patients distributed per characteristics of exclusion of their potential living donors presented as total patients (n = 212) and as a comparison between patients with candidate (n = 74) and patients with non-candidate (n = 138) potential living donors.

Characteristics	Total patients, <i>n</i> = 212	Patients with candidate PLDs, <i>n</i> = 74	Patients with non- candidate PLDs, <i>n</i> = 138	<i>P</i> value		
	mean ± SD (range)/num	mean ± SD (range)/number (%)				
Patients per number of excluded PLDs, $n = 121$						
Patients with one excluded PLD	100 (82.6%)	10 (71.4%)	90 (84.1%)	0.764		
Patients with two excluded PLDs	19 (15.7%)	4 (28.6%)	15 (14.0%)			
Patients with three excluded PLDs	2 (1.7%)	0 (0%)	2 (1.9%)			
Patients per causes of exclusion of their PLDs, $n = 121^{1}$						
Combined immunological and medical causes	14 (11.6%)	3 (21.4%)	11 (10.3%)	0.680		
HLA-incompatibility	24 (19.8%)	3 (21.4%)	21 (19.6%)			
ABO-incompatibility	20 (16.5%)	1 (7.1%)	19 (17.8%)			
ABO and HLA-incompatibility	2 (1.7%)	0 (0%)	2 (1.9%)			
Age	8 (6.6%)	0 (0%)	8 (7.5%)			
Diabetes mellitus	4 (3.3%)	0 (0%)	4 (3.7%)			
HCV positive	5 (4.1%)	2 (14.3%)	3 (2.8%)			
Hypertension	11 (9.1%)	4 (28.6%)	7 (6.5%)			
Leprosy	1 (0.8%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.9%)			
Low GFR	4 (3.3%)	1 (7.1%)	3 (2.8%)			
High potential recurrence of primary kidney disease	6 (5.0%)	0 (0%)	6 (5.6%)			
Proteinuria	12 (9.9%)	0 (0%)	12 (11.2%)			
Psoriasis	1 (0.8%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.9%)			
Rheumatoid arthritis	1 (0.8%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.9%)			
Urolithiasis	5 (4.1%)	0 (0%)	5 (4.7%)			
Financial causes	3 (2.5%)	0 (0%)	3 (2.8%)			
Patients per main category of causes of exclusion of their PLDs, $n = 121$						
Combined immunological and medical causes	14 (11.6%)	3 (21.4%)	11 (10.3%)	0.866		
Immunologic mismatches	46 (38%)	4 (28.6%)	42 (39.3%)			
Medical causes	58 (47.9%)	7 (50.0%)	51 (47.7%)			
Financial causes	3 (2.5%)	0 (0%)	3 (2.8%)			
Patients per timing of PLDs regression, $n = 18$						
During evaluation	13 (72.2%)	0 (0%)	13 (100.0%)	NA		
After evaluation	5 (27.8%)	5 (100.0%)	0 (0%)			
Patients per cause of release of PLDs, $n = 37$						
Patient death	4 (10.8%)	3 (27.3%)	1 (3.9%)	0.186		
Patient regression	22 (59.5%)	6 (54.5%)	16 (61.5%)			
Patient non-candidacy	11 (29.7%)	2 (18.2%)	9 (34.6%)			
Patients per timing of release of PLDs,						

<i>n</i> = 37				
During evaluation	26 (70.3%)	0 (0%)	26 (100.0%)	NA
After evaluation	11 (29.7%)	11 (100.0%)	0 (0%)	
Fate of patients with evaluated PLDs, $n = 212$				
Transplantation in our center	58 (27.4%)	58 (78.4%)	0 (0%)	NA
Transplantation in another center	14 (6.6%)	1 (1.4%)	13 (9.4%)	0.024
On hemodialysis	122 (57.6%)	12 (16.2%)	110 (79.7%)	< 0.001
Death	9 (4.2%)	3 (4.1%)	6 (4.4%)	0.920
Unknown	9 (4.2%)	0 (0%)	9 (6.5%)	0.024

¹Regarding the exclusion due to anatomical abnormalities, they included ectopic pelvic kidney, solitary kidney, and hypoplastic kidney in 3 patients. They were included in donors with a low split glomerular filtration rate. However, kidneys with unilateral simple cysts in 2 patients and three renal arteries in 2 patients were not the cause of exclusion. In the former, the cysts were treated by marsupialization after perfusion and before implantation in the recipients. In the latter, the contralateral kidneys were donated. GFR: Glomerular filtration rate; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HLA: Human leukocytic antigen; NA: Not available; PLD: Potential living donor; SD: Standard deviation.

Another right for PLD is autonomy, which provides the full capacity to preserve the ability to withdraw at any stage of preparation up to the date of surgery[19]. This right may contribute to the decline of PLDs due to withdrawal or regression from the decision to donate. In our study, 18 PLDs (7%) regressed from donation after confirmed initial willingness due to fear of health concerns, and 5 PLDs withdrew their decision after completion of the evaluation. Their potential recipients failed to find other suitable donors and remained on hemodialysis. Although it is disappointing to the potential recipients, PLD regression usually occurs in a small percentage of PLDs. However, it warrants the help of the team to support the PLDs in their decision and communicate with the potential recipient to deliver the decision[19]. Connaughton *et al*[5] reported that 15.5% of PLDs withdrew from donation during evaluation. A study by Liu *et al*[20] reported self-ranking health conditions, insufficient support in decision-making, value clarity, and conflicts in the decisions as factors of withdrawal.

For a PLD, withdrawal or being withdrawn indicates more time for finding another PLD. In our study, some patients found suitable donors after many trials among relatives. There is no doubt that this process was time-consuming, and the patients waited on dialysis for years. Also, some of them died while they were waiting for a donor. Moreover, the majority of the potential recipients are now still waiting on regular dialysis or have been transplanted in other places that mostly adopt the unrelated LDKT. The latter policy may predispose to such an unfavorable act of paid LKD. Hence, we preserved this policy for limited indications, such as cases of hereditary or familial primary renal diseases, including polycystic kidney disease. However, the in-depth discussion of the point of paid LKD is beyond the scope of this study.

Patient-related causes of the decline of PLDs included patient withdrawal from KT, non-candidacy, and death during preparation. We defined those PLDs as released because the intended recipients were disqualified. In an interview study by Pronk *et al*[21], patients expressed moral causes for regression from accepting related PLDs, such as reluctance to accept a kidney from close relatives and fear of being considered selfish.

The duration of PLD evaluation is variable and may be lengthy for repeating or confirmatory workups. Understanding the reasons that may prolong the evaluation may help reduce unnecessary delays[12]. The duration of evaluation in this study varied from 2 wk to 6 mo, with an average of 2.2 mo. This variation was due to the consideration of all PLDs with incomplete or complete evaluations.

Most of the potential recipients with declined PLDs remained on hemodialysis for variable periods ranging from 6 mo to 6 years. This means that the chances of achieving LDKT were reduced for those potential recipients when their PLDs were declined. Only 14 patients (6.6%) with declined PLDs succeeded in having LDKT in other centers, representing low chances of having LDKT similar to the results of previous studies[5,8,13]. In addition, patients with multiple PLDs did not significantly have higher chances of achieving KT. This might be attributed to the healthcare system implemented in our country, where most patients sought medical consultations in private clinics, and their PLDs had initial evaluations with their private physicians before the presentation to our center. PLDs with known systemic diseases and ABO typing can easily be excluded. In turn, this may be an explanation for the presentation of a single PLD in 77.8% of patients.

The outcomes of the current study should attract attention to the formulation of efficient plans to reduce the rates of decline of PLDs and promote LKD through the introduction of strategies such as PKD to our national program. Also, national initiatives for the education of the public, patients, and general practitioners about the advantages of LDKT and LKD may help reduce the decline of PLDs caused by the reluctance and low medical literacy of those individuals.

To the best of our knowledge, the current study is the first from Egypt that specifically addressed the topic of the decline of PLDs among related PLDs and recipients. This is a very important step in the development of an integrated national KT program, which has only been dependent on LKD until now. The current study may encourage other centers to conduct similar studies to provide better evidence of the problem and formulate a plan to overcome the causes of the decline of PLDs. In addition, the aim, rationale, and outcomes of this study were parallel to many studies from different countries[3,5,6,8,13], which may strengthen the effect of its outcomes on the improvement of our practice and healthcare

Boishidena® WJT https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 5 Characteristics of potential living donors presented as total (*n* = 257) and as a comparison between the candidate (*n* = 74) and non-candidate (*n* = 183) groups of donors

Characteristics	Total PLDs, <i>n</i> = 257	Candidate PLDs, <i>n</i> = 74	Non-candidate PLDs, <i>n</i> = 183	Byalua	
Cildiacteristics	mean ± SD (range)/number (%)				
Mean age in yr	40.5 ± 10.4 (18-65)	41.0 ± 10.5 (21-60)	40.4 ± 10.5 (18-65)	0.498	
Sex					
Female	169 (65.8%)	49 (66.2%)	120 (65.6%)	> 0.999	
Male	88 (34.2%)	25 (33.8%)	63 (34.4%)		
Form of relatedness ¹					
Aunt	4 (1.6%)	4 (5.4%)	0 (0%)	0.286	
Brother	51 (19.8%)	14 (18.9%)	37 (20.2%)		
Cousin	4 (1.6%)	0 (0%)	4 (2.2%)		
Daughter	4 (1.6%)	1 (1.4%)	3 (1.6%)		
Father	23 (8.9%)	7 (9.5%)	16 (8.7%)		
Husband	6 (2.3%)	2 (2.7%)	4 (2.2%)		
Mother	76 (29.6%)	23 (31.1%)	53 (29%)		
Nephew	1 (0.4%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.6%)		
Sister	53 (20.6%)	13 (17.6%)	40 (21.9%)		
Son	4 (1.6%)	1 (1.4%)	3 (1.6%)		
Uncle	1 (0.4%)	1 (1.4%)	0 (0%)		
Wife	30 (11.7%)	8 (10.8%)	22 (12.0%)		
Degree of relatedness					
First	143 (55.6%)	42 (56.8%)	101 (55.2%)	0.020	
Second	104 (40.5%)	27 (36.5%)	77 (42.1%)		
Third	6 (2.3%)	5 (6.8%)	1 (0.6%)		
Fourth	4 (1.6%)	0 (0%)	4 (2.2%)		
Extent of evaluation					
Complete	109 (42.4%)	74 (100.0%)	35 (19.1%)	NA	
Incomplete	148 (57.6%)	0 (0%)	148 (80.9%)		
Fate of PLDs					
Donated	58 (22.6%)	58 (78.4%)	0 (0%)	NA	
Excluded	144 (56.0%)	0 (0%)	144 (78.7%)	NA	
Regressed ²	18 (7.0%)	5 (6.8%)	13 (31.6%)		
During evaluation	13 (72.2%)	0 (0%)	13 (100.0%)	NA	
After evaluation	5 (27.8%)	5 (100%)	0 (0%)		
Released	37 (14.4%)	11 (14.9%)	26 (68.4%)		
Causes of donor release					
Patient death	4 (10.8%)	3 (27.3%)	1 (3.9%)	0.186	
Patient regression	22 (59.5%)	6 (54.5%)	16 (61.5%)		
Patient non-candidacy	11 (29.7%)	2 (18.2%)	9 (34.6%)		
Timing of PLDs release					
During evaluation	26 (70.3%)	0 (0%)	26 (100.0%)	NA	
After evaluation	11 (29.7%)	11 (100.0%)	0 (0%)		



Time spent in PLDs evaluation in mo	2.2 ± 1.5 (0.5-6.0)	4.0 ± 0.9 (1-6)	1.5 ± 1.2 (0.5-5.0)	< 0.001

¹Among the 6 husband and 30 wife potential living donors (PLDs), only 13 of them were genetically related PLDs to their intended recipients (due to consanguineous marriage);

²The reason of regression was the fear of health drawbacks from donation in all PLDs. NA: Not available; PLD: Potential living donor; SD: Standard deviation

Table 6 Multivariate logistic regression of the potential variables influencing the candidacy of potential living donors with a completed preparation

Variables	Modality	Odds ratio	P value
Dialysis status	Preemptive vs on dialysis	0.66 (0.23-1.94)	0.451
Number of potential donors	Single vs multiple	1.69 (0.87-3.28)	0.123
Donor age	Increasing age	1.0 (0.97-1.03)	0.925
Donor sex	Men vs women	1.02 (0.55-1.92)	0.940
Relatedness degree	First vs more than first	1.07 (0.55-2.1)	0.834

system management.

The limitations of this study included the retrospective nature of the methods. The retrospective nature may be the reason that the regression of PLDs and their recipients was not reported in detail. It is unknown whether these events were due to improper counseling, sociodemographic characteristics, or the low integrity of the healthcare system. In addition, a relatively short follow-up period limited the evaluation of the long-term effect of the decline of PLDs on the fate of some intended recipients. Moreover, it was a single-center experience, which warrants further national or multicenter studies for the generalizability of these results. However, most of the available literature comes from retrospective single-center studies[3,5,8,13].

CONCLUSION

The willing, related PLDs have a mean age higher than their potential recipients due to relatedness; most of them were parents or older relatives. Also, their potential recipients had primary kidney diseases that typically affect young people. The rate of decline of the willing, related PLDs was high, reaching about 82%. The causes could be classified as PLDrelated or potential recipient-related, depending on the side of the cause. In addition, they could be differentiated into exclusion due to contraindications, release after disqualification of the potential recipients, and regression due to withdrawal of the decision by the PLDs, based on the autonomy of decision-making. PLD exclusion was the commonest form during or after the completion of the evaluation due to medical or immunological contraindications. These high percentages of PLD decline resulted in the loss of the chance to obtain LDKT for a high percentage of potential recipients who were left on dialysis for variably long periods, who died, or who were lost to an unknown fate. In our country, this study represents an initial scientific step in the evidence-based evaluation of the situation of LD selection and its deficits. The high rate of decline of PLDs reported here may draw attention to implementing more research on this topic.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The evaluation protocols for living kidney donor (LD) selection are usually strict but remain a safeguard against violations of LD safety. Hence, the decline of willing potential living donors (PLDs) may occur at any stage of evaluation due to different causes, resulting in variable rates of decline of PLDs.

Research motivation

The rate of decline of willing related LDs seems to be a modifiable variable for improving LD kidney transplantation (LDKT).

Research objectives

To identify the causes of the decline of PLDs, the predictors of PLD candidacy, and the effect on achieving LDKT.

Gadelkareem RA et al. Willing related living kidney donors' decline

Research methods

A retrospective study was performed on willing PLDs who attended our outpatient clinic for kidney donation to their related potential recipients between October 2015 and December 2022. Two groups of PLDs were compared: Candidate PLDs after a completed evaluation *vs* non-candidate PLDs with a complete or incomplete evaluation. A multivariate logistic regression was performed to assess the factors contributing to the achievement of PLD candidacy.

Research results

Of 321 willing PLDs, 257 (80.1%) accessed the evaluation to variable extents for 212 potential recipients, with a mean age (range) of 40.5 ± 10.4 (18-65) years. The remaining 64 PLDs (19.9%) did not access the evaluation due to serving as alternatives to essential PLDs, financial causes, and patient-related factors. Only 58 PLDs (18.1%) achieved donation, but 199 PDLs (62.0%) were declined. Exclusion occurred in 144 PLDs (56%) for immunological causes (37.5%), medical causes (54.9%), combined causes (9.7%), and financial causes (2.1%), but regression and release occurred in 55 PLDs (17.1%). The number of potential recipients with candidate PLDs was not significantly different from that with non-candidate PLDs, except in age (P = 0.041), rates of completed evaluation, and exclusion of PLDs (P < 0.001). In the multivariate analysis, there were no independent factors that influenced the rate of PLD candidacy. Most patients who failed to have KT after the decline of their PLDs remained on hemodialysis for 6 mo to 6 years.

Research conclusions

Despite the availability of willing related PLDs for most potential recipients, their rate of decline was high. The causes were various, including medical or immunological contraindications, release, and regression of PLDs. Hence, the chances of LDKT were reduced or lost in a high percentage of potential recipients.

Research perspectives

Trials to reduce the rate of decline of PLDs should not be at the expense of LD safety. However, revision and identification of the causes of PLD decline may help increase the chances of patients for KT, especially with the application of strategies that overcome the immunological barriers of LDKT and low medical literacy.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Gadelkareem RA, Abdelgawad AM, and Mohammed N designed the research, collected the data, and wrote the paper; Reda A, Azoz NM, and Zarzour MA contributed to statistical analysis, literature review, writing, and revision; Hammouda HM and Khalil M contributed to the literature review, writing, revision, and supervision of the work; All authors approved the paper.

Institutional review board statement: This study was conducted as part of a research project on the outcomes of living donor kidney transplantation performed in our center (Approval No. 17200148/2017).

Informed consent statement: This article is a retrospective study. Hence, the patients were not required to give informed consent to the study because the manipulated data were anonymous and were obtained after each patient, with their potential kidney donor(s), agreed to the plan of management.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no financial relationships to disclose.

Data sharing statement: The data supporting this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement – checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement – checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Egypt

ORCID number: Rabea Ahmed Gadelkareem 0000-0003-4403-2859; Amr Mostafa Abdelgawad 0000-0002-4336-1573; Nasreldin Mohammed 0000-0002-0232-9497; Ahmed Reda 0000-0003-3699-5735; Nashwa Mostafa Azoz 0000-0002-8455-1920; Mohammed Ali Zarzour 0000-0003-1449-6118; Hisham Mokhtar Hammouda 0000-0003-2682-3876; Mahmoud Khalil 0000-0002-2564-5476.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Chen YL

Baisbideng® WJT https://www.wjgnet.com

REFERENCES

- 1 Meier-Kriesche HU, Kaplan B. Waiting time on dialysis as the strongest modifiable risk factor for renal transplant outcomes: a paired donor kidney analysis. Transplantation 2002; 74: 1377-1381 [PMID: 12451234 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200211270-00005]
- 2 Simforoosh N, Shemshaki H, Nadjafi-Semnani M, Sotoudeh M. Living related and living unrelated kidney transplantations: A systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Transplant 2017; 7: 152-160 [PMID: 28507918 DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v7.i2.152]
- 3 Kim IK, Tan JC, Lapasia J, Elihu A, Busque S, Melcher ML. Incidental kidney stones: a single center experience with kidney donor selection. *Clin Transplant* 2012; **26**: 558-563 [PMID: 22168332 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2011.01567.x]
- Gambaro G, Zaza G, Citterio F, Naticchia A, Ferraro PM. Living kidney donation from people at risk of nephrolithiasis, with a focus on the 4 genetic forms. Urolithiasis 2019; 47: 115-123 [PMID: 30470867 DOI: 10.1007/s00240-018-1092-4]
- Connaughton DM, Harmon G, Cooney A, Williams Y, O'Regan J, O'Neill D, Cunningham P, Counihan A, O'Kelly P, McHale S, Denton M, 5 O'Seaghdha CM, Magee C, Conlon P, Little D, Keogan M, de Freitas DG. The Irish living kidney donor program - why potential donors do not proceed to live kidney donation? Clin Transplant 2016; 30: 17-25 [PMID: 26426147 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12641]
- Arunachalam C, Garrues M, Biggins F, Woywodt A, Ahmed A. Assessment of living kidney donors and adherence to national live donor 6 guidelines in the UK. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2013; 28: 1952-1960 [PMID: 23658249 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gft096]
- 7 Skrunes R, Svarstad E, Reisæter AV, Vikse BE. Familial clustering of ESRD in the Norwegian population. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2014; 9: 1692-1700 [PMID: 25092600 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.01680214]
- Lapasia JB, Kong SY, Busque S, Scandling JD, Chertow GM, Tan JC. Living donor evaluation and exclusion: the Stanford experience. Clin 8 *Transplant* 2011; **25**: 697-704 [PMID: 21044160 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2010.01336.x]
- Rashad H, Fahmy A, Eissa A, Elsherbiny A. Committee XII: Renal Transplantation. In: Mourad S, Shalaby M, El Halaby, Morsy A, 9 Elgamasy AN, Hamouda H. Egyptian Urological Guidelines Book. [cited 1 April 2023]. Available from: http://eug-eg.net/
- Gadelkareem RA, Abdelgawad AM, Reda A, Azoz NM, Zarzour MA, Mohammed N, Hammouda HM, Khalil M. Preemptive living donor 10 kidney transplantation: Access, fate, and review of the status in Egypt. World J Nephrol 2023; 12: 40-55 [PMID: 37476008 DOI: 10.5527/wjn.v12.i3.40]
- 11 Romagnoli J, Salerno MP, Mamode N, Calia R, Spagnoletti G, Bianchi V, Maresca M, Piccirillo N, Putzulu R, Piselli P, Cola E, Zini G, Citterio F. Expanding the Living Donor Pool "Second Act": Laparoscopic Donor Nephrectomy and ABO-Incompatible Kidney Transplantation Improve Donor Recruitment. Transplant Proc 2015; 47: 2126-2129 [PMID: 26361659 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2014.11.071]
- 12 Habbous S, Arnold J, Begen MA, Boudville N, Cooper M, Dipchand C, Dixon SN, Feldman LS, Goździk D, Karpinski M, Klarenbach S, Knoll GA, Lam NN, Lentine KL, Lok C, McArthur E, McKenzie S, Miller M, Monroy-Cuadros M, Nguan C, Prasad GVR, Przech S, Sarma S, Segev DL, Storsley L, Garg AX; Donor Nephrectomy Outcomes Research (DONOR) Network. Duration of Living Kidney Transplant Donor Evaluations: Findings From 2 Multicenter Cohort Studies. Am J Kidney Dis 2018; 72: 483-498 [PMID: 29580662 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2018.01.036
- 13 AlBugami MM, AlOtaibe FE, Boqari D, AlAbadi AM, Hamawi K, Bel'eed-Akkari K. Why Potential Living Kidney Donors Do Not Proceed for Donation: A Single-Center Experience. Transplant Proc 2019; 51: 504-508 [PMID: 30879577 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2019.01.008]
- Kher V, Jha PK. Paired kidney exchange transplantation pushing the boundaries. Transpl Int 2020; 33: 975-984 [PMID: 32634850 DOI: 14 10.1111/tri.13693]
- 15 de Weerd AE, Betjes MGH. ABO-Incompatible Kidney Transplant Outcomes: A Meta-Analysis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2018; 13: 1234-1243 [PMID: 30012630 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.00540118]
- Elrggal ME, Tawfik M, Gawad MA, Sheasha HA. Kidney paired donation program, a national solution against commercial transplantation? J 16 Egypt Soc Nephrol Transplant 2018; 18: 6-10 [DOI: 10.4103/jesnt.jesnt_1_18]
- 17 Hassaballa MA. Kidney Paired Donation. Exp Clin Transplant 2022; 20: 59-61 [PMID: 36018023 DOI: 10.6002/ect.DonorSymp.2022.O2]
- Young A, Storsley L, Garg AX, Treleaven D, Nguan CY, Cuerden MS, Karpinski M. Health outcomes for living kidney donors with isolated 18 medical abnormalities: a systematic review. Am J Transplant 2008; 8: 1878-1890 [PMID: 18671676 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02339.x]
- 19 Grossi AA, Sever MS, Hellemans R, Mariat C, Crespo M, Watschinger B, Peruzzi L, Demir E, Velioglu A, Gandolfini I, Oniscu GC, Hilbrands L, Mjoen G. The 3-Step Model of informed consent for living kidney donation: a proposal on behalf of the DESCaRTES Working Group of the European Renal Association. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2023; 38: 1613-1622 [PMID: 36702535 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfad022]
- Liu KL, Wang HH, Hsieh CY, Huang XY, Lin CT, Lin KJ, Chiang YJ, Chien CH. Kidney Donation Withdrawal and Related Factors Among 20 the Potential Donors of Living Kidney Transplant. Transplant Proc 2020; 52: 73-77 [PMID: 31901327 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2019.11.018]
- Pronk MC, Slaats D, Zuidema WC, Hilhorst MT, Dor FJMF, Betjes M, Weimar W, van de Wetering J, Massey EK. "What if this is my chance 21 to save my life?" A semistructured interview study on the motives and experiences of end-stage renal disease patients who engaged in public solicitation of a living kidney donor. Transpl Int 2018; 31: 318-331 [PMID: 29130538 DOI: 10.1111/tri.13095]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

